A STUDY OF MUSIELAK-ORLICZ HARDY SPACES, WEIGHTED MORREY SPACES AND BOUNDEDNESS OF OPERATORS

By

Tri Dung Tran

A thesis submitted to Macquarie University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Mathematics July 2015



This thesis entitled:

A STUDY OF MUSIELAK-ORLICZ HARDY SPACES, WEIGHTED MORREY SPACES AND BOUNDEDNESS OF OPERATORS

written by Tri Dung Tran has been approved for the Department of Mathematics

Xuan Thinh Duong

Paul Smith

Date:_____

The final copy of this thesis has been examined by the signatories, and we find that both the content and the form meet acceptable presentation standards of scholarly work in the above mentioned discipline.

© Tri Dung Tran, 2015.

Typeset in $\operatorname{{} \operatorname{E} T_E X} 2_{\mathcal{E}}$.

I certify that the work in this thesis has not previously been submitted for a degree nor has it been submitted as part of requirements for a degree to any other university or institution other than Macquarie University.

I also certify that the thesis is an original piece of research and it has been written by me. Any help and assistance that I have received in my research work and the preparation of the thesis itself has been appropriately acknowledged.

In addition, I certify that all information sources and literature used are indicated in the thesis.

Tri Dung Tran

Abstract

The main aim of this thesis is to study Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces associated with certain operators and to investigate generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operators and their commutators on weighted Morrey spaces. The main results of the thesis are presented in the last three chapters.

In Chapter 3, let L be a divergence form elliptic operator with complex bounded measurable coefficients, let ω be a positive Musielak-Orlicz function on $(0, \infty)$ of uniformly strictly critical lower type $p_{\omega} \in (0, 1]$, and let $\rho(x, t) = t^{-1}/\omega^{-1}(x, t^{-1})$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n, t \in (0, \infty)$. We first study the Musielak-Orlicz Hardy space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and then its dual space $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where L^* denotes the adjoint operator of L in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The ρ -Carleson measure characterization and the John-Nirenberg inequality for the space $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are also established. Then, as applications, we show that the Riesz transform $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ and the Littlewood-Paley g-function g_L map $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ continuously into $L^1(\omega)$.

In Chapter 4, assume that L is an operator which satisfies Davies-Gaffney heat kernel estimates and has a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus on $L^2(X)$, where X is a metric space with doubling measure, then we develop a theory of Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to L, including a molecular decomposition, square function characterization and duality of Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces $H_{L,\omega}(X)$. As applications, we show that L has a bounded holomorphic functional calculus on $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ and the Riesz transform is bounded from $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ to $L^1(\omega)$.

In the last chapter, let $\psi : [0,1] \to [0,\infty)$ and $s : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be measurable functions, and let Γ be a parameter curve in \mathbb{R}^n given by $(t,x) \in [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to s(t,x) = s(t)x$. Then we study a new weighted Hardy-Cesàro operator defined by $U_{\psi,s}f(x) = \int_0^1 f(s(t)x) \psi(t) dt$, for measurable complex-valued functions f on \mathbb{R}^n . Under certain conditions on s(t) and on an absolutely homogeneous weight function ω , we characterize the weight function ψ such that $U_{\psi,s}$ is bounded on weighted Morrey spaces $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ and then compute the corresponding operator norm of $U_{\psi,s}$. We also give a necessary and sufficient condition on the function ψ , which ensures the boundedness of the commutator of the operator $U_{\psi,s}$ from weighted central Morrey spaces $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ to weighted central Morrey spaces $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ (1 for all symbols <math>b in the space BMO(ω).

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Xuan Duong, for giving me a precious chance to study harmonic analysis as well as for his endless support and excellent guidance in the past three years. Without his guidance, this thesis, nor many other personal achievements of mine, would have ever been possible.

Special thanks of mine go to the staff in Department of Mathematics, especially to Professor Paul Smith, Dr. Frank Valckenborgh, Ms. Christine Hale and Mr. Garry Lawson, for giving me a great environment of research and teaching as well.

Old and new friends have been very supportive during my time at Macquarie University. I would like to thank them all. Sincere thanks to The Anh Bui, Anthony Wong, Joshua Peate, Audrey Markowskei, Sherwin Bagheri, Ramon Abud Alcala, Remy Tuyeras, Poon Leung, Christ Nguyen for their helpful discussions on research, teaching and for all fun we have had together.

Finally, a few words cannot adequately express my thanks to my wife for her constant love, support and encouragement throughout my years at Macquarie University.

Contents

A	Abstract					
Acknowledgements						
1	Intr	roduction	1			
2	Pre	liminaries	9			
	2.1	Spaces of homogeneous type and Muckenhoupt weights	9			
		2.1.1 Spaces of homogeneous type	9			
		2.1.2 Calderón-Zygmund operators	10			
		2.1.3 Muckenhoupt weights	12			
	2.2	Hardy spaces	14			
		2.2.1 Characterizations of classical Hardy spaces	14			
		2.2.2 Atoms and atomic decompositions	16			
		2.2.3 Molecules and molecular decompositions	17			
		2.2.4 Interpolation of operators	18			
		2.2.5 Coifman and Weiss's Hardy spaces	19			
	2.3	BMO spaces	19			
		2.3.1 Classical BMO spaces on \mathbb{R}^n	19			
		2.3.2 The John-Nirenberg inequality	21			
		2.3.3 Carleson measures	22			
		2.3.4 Dual space of BMO space	23			
	2.4	Holomorphic functional calculus	23			
	2.5	Musielak–Orlicz-type functions	26			
3	3 Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated with divergence form ellip-					
	tic operators					
	3.1	Basic notation and known facts on the divergence form elliptic operator ${\cal L}$	31			
	3.2	Tent spaces associated to Musielak–Orlicz functions	33			
	3.3	Musielak–Orlicz spaces and their dual spaces	39			
		3.3.1 Molecular decompositions of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	40			
		3.3.2 An equivalent characterization of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	46			
		3.3.3 Dual spaces of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	49			
		3.3.4 The Carleson measure and the John–Nirenberg inequality	54			
	3.4	Some applications	55			

4	Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to operators satisfying Davies–					
	Gaf	fney estimates and bounded holomorphic functional calculus	59			
	4.1	Assumptions on the operator L	59			
	4.2	Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to operators	60			
		4.2.1 Tent spaces on spaces of homogeneous type	60			
		4.2.2 Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to L	62			
		4.2.3 Dual spaces of Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces	67			
	4.3	Riesz transform and holomorphic functional calculus	72			
		4.3.1 Holomorphic functional calculus	72			
		4.3.2 Riesz transforms	75			
5	Generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operators and their commutators					
	on	weighted Morrey spaces	79			
	5.1	Basic notation	79			
	5.2	Bounds of generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operators on weighted				
		Morrey spaces $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$	80			
	5.3	Commutators of generalized Hardy-Cesàro operators	83			
	5.4	Higher order commutators on weighted central Morrey spaces	92			
Re	References					

Introduction

The introduction and study of classical real-variable Hardy and BMO spaces on the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n began in the 1960s with the initial paper of Stein and Weiss [74]. Later, this theory was developed systematically by Fefferman and Stein [39] and studied extensively in [24] and [73] as well by many others. Since then these classes of functions have played an important role in a number of analyses, such as modern harmonic analysis and partial differential equations. It is now well known that there are various equivalent characterizations of functions in the classical Hardy space. For instance, the Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ can be viewed as the set of functions $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that the Riesz transform $\nabla \Delta^{-1/2} f$ belongs to $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We also have alternative characterizations of $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via the atomic decomposition or by the square function and the nontangential maximal function associated to the Poisson semigroup generated by the Laplacian. Basically, this standard theory of Hardy spaces is intimately connected with properties of harmonic functions and of the Laplacian.

Nevertheless, it is a fact that there are some situations in which the classical Hardy spaces are not applicable. For example, one considers a general elliptic operator in divergence form with complex bounded coefficients. Let A be an $n \times n$ matrix with entries $\{a_{j,k}\}_{j,k=1}^n \subset L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ satisfying the ellipticity conditions; namely, there exist constants $0 < \lambda_A \leq \Lambda_A < \infty$ such that for all $\xi, \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n$,

$$\lambda_A |\xi|^2 \le \mathcal{R}e\langle A\xi, \xi \rangle$$
 and $|\langle A\xi, \zeta \rangle| \le \Lambda_A |\xi| |\zeta|.$ (1.0.1)

Then the second-order divergence form operator is given by

$$Lf \equiv -\operatorname{div}(A\nabla f), \tag{1.0.2}$$

interpreted in the weak sense via a sesquilinear form.

It is shown that the Riesz transform $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ is bounded on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ but not bounded from $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (for more details, see [46]). The need for research of new Hardy spaces other than the Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ thus naturally arises.

In recent years, function spaces, especially Hardy spaces and BMO spaces associated with different operators have inspired great interest (see, e.g., [5, 8, 9, 33, 35, 36, 45, 46, 84] and references therein). In particular, Auscher, Duong, and McIntosh [5] first introduced the Hardy space $H^1_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$ associated with an operator L whose heat kernel satisfies a pointwise Poisson type upper bound by means of a corresponding variant of the Lusin area function, and established its molecular characterization. Later, Duong and Yan [35, 36] introduced its dual space BMO $_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and established the dual relation between $H^1_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and BMO $_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Yan [84] further generalized these results to the Hardy spaces $H_L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with certain $p \leq 1$ and their dual spaces. Also, Auscher and Russ [9] studied the Hardy space H_L^1 on strongly Lipschitz domains associated with a divergence form elliptic operator L whose heat kernels have the Gaussian upper bounds and regularity. Very recently, Auscher, McIntosh, and Russ [8] treated the Hardy space H^p with $p \in [1, \infty]$ associated to the Hodge Laplacian on a Riemannian manifold with doubling measure. Meanwhile, Hofmann and Mayboroda [46] further studied the Hardy space $H^1_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and its dual space adapted to a second-order divergence form elliptic operator L on \mathbb{R}^n with bounded complex coefficients, and these operators may not have the pointwise heat kernel bounds. Then Hofmann, Lu, D. Mitrea, M. Mitrea, and Yan [45] introduced the new Hardy spaces H_L^p , $1 \le p < \infty$, on a metric space X associated to a nonnegative self-adjoint operator L satisfying Davies-Gaffney estimates. The motivation for investigating Hardy spaces, for example, is that boundedness in Hardy spaces can be interpolated with an L^2 -boundedness to obtain other L^p -boundednesses. For this particular application, the atomic decomposition of Hardy spaces is very convenient and, as pointed out in some recent works, the set of atoms is even sufficient, so we do not have to study boundedness on the whole Hardy space (which may be difficult to prove; see, e.g., [12] and [15]).

On the other hand, as generalizations of Hardy spaces $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the Orlicz-Hardy spaces on \mathbb{R}^n and their dual spaces have received considerable attention as well. In particular, Strömberg [76] and Janson [48] introduced generalized Hardy spaces $H_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, via replacing the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ by the Orlicz-norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^1(\omega)}$ in the definition of $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where ω is an Orlicz function on $[0, \infty)$ satisfying some control conditions. Viviani [82] further characterized these spaces H_{ω} on spaces of homogeneous type via atoms. The dual spaces of these spaces were also studied in [76], [48],[82], and [43]. Very recently, Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated with certain operators have been investigated by a number of mathematicians (see, e.g., [51], [49], [50], and [58] and references therein). In particular, Jiang and Yang [49, 50] introduced the new Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated to divergence form elliptic operators and to nonnegative self-adjoint operators holding Davies-Gaffney estimates. Meanwhile, Liang, D. Yang, and S. Yang [58] presented some applications of Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated with operators satisfying Poisson estimates.

Motivated by all of the above-mentioned facts, we will study generalized Orlicz– Hardy spaces related to generalized Orlicz functions. In this setting, the Orlicz function $\varphi(t)$ is replaced by a function $\omega(x,t)$, called the Musielak–Orlicz function (see [28, 66], and Chapter 2, Section 2.5 below), that may vary in the spatial variables and possesses some control conditions. We then introduce a new class of Hardy spaces $H_{\omega,L}$, called Hardy spaces of Musielak–Orlicz type associated to certain operators L, and their dual spaces.

In Chapter 2, we will provide some preliminaries and background from harmonic analysis and operator theory. The main parts of the thesis are the next three chapters, which we now give a summary.

Chapter 3 is devoted to the study of Hardy spaces of Musielak–Orlicz type associated to the second-order divergence form elliptic operator L on \mathbb{R}^n defined by (1.0.1) and (1.0.2), and this chapter is organized as follows.

In Section 3.1, we recall some basic notation and known results on second-order divergence form elliptic operators L. Under some basic assumptions on the Musielak– Orlicz function ω considered in Chapter 2, we show that the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ behaves, in some sense, more closely like the classical Hardy space.

In Section 3.2, we introduce the tent spaces $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ associated to ω and establish its atomic characterization (see Theorem 3.2.3 below). By the proof of Theorem 3.2.3, we observe that if a function $f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \cap T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, then there exists an atomic decomposition of F which converges in both $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ (see Proposition 3.2.5 below). As a consequence, we show that if $f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \cap T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, then there exists an atomic decomposition of f which converges in both $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ for all $p \in [1,2]$ (see Corollary 3.2.6 below). These convergences play a significant role in the whole chapter.

In Section 3.3, we first introduce the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and then prove that the operator $\pi_{L,M}$, which is introduced in [36] and initially defined on $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ with compact support by

$$\pi_{L,M} f \equiv C_M \int_0^\infty (t^2 L)^{M+1} e^{-t^2 L} f(\cdot, t) \frac{dt}{t}, \qquad (1.0.3)$$

where $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and

$$C_M \int_0^\infty t^{2(M+2)} e^{-2t^2} \frac{dt}{t} = 1,$$

maps the tent space $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ continuously into $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (p_L, \tilde{p}_L)$ and $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ continuously into $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see Proposition 3.3.6 below). As a result, we obtain a molecular decomposition for elements in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ which converges in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (p_L, 2]$ (see Proposition 3.3.7 below), and then characterize the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via the Lusin-area operator \mathcal{S}_P associated to the Poisson semi-group (see Theorem 3.3.14 below). It should be pointed out here that the divergence form structure of the operator L plays an important role in obtaining this equivalent characterization. Next, due to the molecular decomposition of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we further obtain the duality between $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see Theorem 3.3.20 below). The rest of Section 3.3 is devoted to establishing the ρ –Carleson measure characterization (see Theorem 3.3.24 below) and the John–Nirenberg inequality (see Theorem 3.3.25 below) for the space $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

In Section 3.4, as an application, we give some sufficient conditions which guarantee the boundedness of linear or nonnegative sublinear operators from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L^1(\omega)$. In particular, we show that the Riesz transform $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ and the Littlewood–Paley *g*-function g_L map $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ continuously into $L^1(\omega)$ (see Theorem 3.4.1 below). Chapter 3 is essentially based on a revision of the material as it is going to appear in *Nagoya Mathematical Journal* under the title "T. D. Tran, *Musielak–Orlicz Hardy* spaces associated with divergence form elliptic operators without weight assumptions". It should be pointed here that our approach in Chapter 3 and the article above is strongly motivated by Hofmann and Mayboroda [46] and Jiang and Yang [49], and that the majority of our results are closely following those of [49].

However, it should be emphasized that the theory of Orlicz-Hardy spaces developed in [49] is not true in the setting of Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces in general. So our contribution in Chapter 3 is introducing an appropriate way of generalising the concepts from the Orlicz setting in [49] to the Musielak–Orlicz setting, as well as introducing Assumption (C) (see page 27 and 28) on the Musielak-Orlicz function $\omega(x,t)$ under which one can obtain the results similar to but more general than those proved in [49]. Certainly, this extension to the Musielak–Orlicz setting is non-trivial, even though it naturally and strongly follows from the previous works of [49], [46] and others. Indeed, there are some new technical results that we need to add to the work in Chapter 3. For instance, we illustrate here two of such results.

- Lemma 2.5.3, page 28. In order to obtain this key lemma in the Musielak–Orlicz setting, the functions $\omega^{-1}(x, \cdot)$ and $\rho(x, \cdot)$ on \mathbb{R}_+ (in Definition 2.5.2, page 27) need to be defined in a different way, compared to the Orlicz case, see [49, page 1175, line 2-4 from below], which enables us to give a proof to Lemma 2.5.3. In addition, this proof is new even if the Musielak–Orlicz function $\omega(x, t)$ is independent of the space variable x and reduces to the Orlicz function $\omega(t)$.

- Lemma 2.5.1, page 27, which claims the following important properties: under Assumption (C), the function ω is uniformly σ -quasi-subadditive on $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$; namely, there exists a positive constant C such that for all $(x, t_j) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$ with $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $\omega(x, \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} t_j) \leq C \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \omega(x, t_j)$. Moreover, if we let $\widetilde{\omega}(x, t) := \int_0^t \frac{\omega(x, s)}{s} ds$ for all $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$, then $\widetilde{\omega}$ is equivalent to ω .

Note that both Lemma 2.5.1 and Lemma 2.5.3 play a significant role in generalising the well-known theory in the Orlicz setting from [49] to the more general theory in the Musielak–Orlicz setting in Chapter 3.

While our article [81] was submitted, we learned that the theory of Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated with operators has also been studied independently by the authors in [85]. Later, provided that \mathcal{X} is a metric space with doubling measure then the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space, associated with a one-to-one operator of type ω having a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus in $L^2(\mathcal{X})$ and satisfying the reinforced off-diagonal estimates, was investigated in [17]. As a special case of this setting, the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space associated with divergence form elliptic operators with complex bounded measurable coefficients on \mathbb{R}^n was also treated. Basically, the Musielak–Orlicz functions ω considered in [85] and [17] are growth functions, that is, the functions $\omega(\cdot, t)$ belong to the uniformly weight class \mathbb{A}_{∞} and satisfy the uniformly reverse Hölder condition. However, whether the assumptions on a Musielak–Orlicz function in [85] and [17] and Assumption (C) in Chapter 3 can be comparable is still unclear to us.

As a continuation to the previous work, in Chapter 4 we study a more generalized form of Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ associated to operators, and their dual spaces, under the assumptions that the operators have bounded H_{∞} functional calculi and satisfy Davies–Gaffney estimates. We remark that our assumption that the operator having a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus is much weaker than the usual assumption that L being nonnegative self-adjoint which played an important role in a number of the previous works, see for example [45, 49, 50]. For example, a nonnegative self-adjoint operator L with Davies–Gaffney estimates would satisfy the finite speed propagation property for solutions of the corresponding wave equation, see [71] (see also [45]), and allows us to construct the Hardy space via (ω, M) -atoms, see [45, 49, 50].

There are two key generalizations in this work.

First, we replace the assumption that L is a nonnegative self-adjoint operator by the weaker assumption that L has a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus on $L^2(X)$. This would allow a much larger class of applicable operators L. For example, it is well known that in general the second-order divergence form operator L defined by (1.0.1) and (1.0.2) is not a self-adjoint operator, but L has a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus on $L^2(X)$; see for example [10]. For another example, one considers the operator $L = b(x)\Delta$, a special case of a second-order elliptic operator in non-divergence form with bounded measurable complex coefficients, where Δ denotes the Laplacian in \mathbb{R}^n and b denotes an ω -accretive function on \mathbb{R}^n , $\omega \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2})$, with bounded reciprocal, meaning that b and $\frac{1}{b}$ belong to $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ and $|\operatorname{argb}(x)| \leq \omega$ for almost all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The operator $L = b(x)\Delta$ is clearly not self-adjoint in general and it has a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus on $L^2(X)$, see [62, Proposition 1.1]. Furthermore, if $\Re b(x) \geq \delta > 0$ for almost all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then the semigroup $\{e^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ satisfies the Davies–Gaffney estimate (4.1.1), see [31].

Second, the Orlicz functions $\varphi(t)$ appearing in many of previous works are replaced by more general Musielak–Orlicz functions $\omega(x,t)$. In the particular case when $\omega = t^p, p \in (0,1]$, our results are in line with those in [30]. In another special case, if ω is an Orlicz function on \mathbb{R}_+ with $p_{\omega} \in (0,1]$, which is continuous, strictly increasing and concave then by Jensen's inequality it can be verified that Assumption (C) on the function ω holds (see Section 2.5 below). In this sense, our work is an extension to [42].

Chapter 4 is organized as follows. In Section 4.1, we present some assumptions on the operator L. In Sections 4.2, we shall introduce Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces $H_{L,\omega}(X)$. Then we show that each function in $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ can be represented as a decomposition of (ω, ϵ, M) -molecules and more importantly, the space of all finite linear combinations of (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule is dense in $H_{L,\omega}(X)$. Then the dual spaces of $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ are investigated. In the last section, we consider applications of the holomorphic functional calculus of the operator L and certain Riesz transforms associated to L. By using the molecular decomposition associated to the operator L and the Musielak–Orlicz function, we shall show that L has a bounded holomorphic functional calculus on the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ and the Riesz transforms are bounded from $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ to $L^1(\omega)$.

Chapter 4, in full, is a revision of the material as it is going to appear in Journal of the Mathematical Society of Japan under the title "Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to operators satisfying Davies–Gaffney estimates and bounded holomorphic functional calculus", a joint work of X. T. Duong and T. D. Tran.

In Chapter 5, we investigate generalized weighted Hardy–Cesàro operators and their commutators on weighted central Morrey spaces.

Let us consider the classical Hardy operator U defined by

$$Uf(x) = \frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f(t) dt, x \neq 0$$

for $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R})$. A celebrated Hardy integral inequality, see [44], can be formulated as

$$||Uf||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R})} \leq \frac{p}{p-1} ||f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R})},$$

where $1 , in which the constant <math>\frac{p}{p-1}$ is known as the best constant.

The Hardy integral inequality and its variants have played an important role in various branches of analysis such as approximation theory, differential equations, theory of function spaces, etc. Therefore, the Hardy integral inequalities for operator U and their generalizations have been studied extensively.

Up to now, there are two types of Hardy operator in n-dimension case. The first type was introduced by Faris [38] and studied further by M. Christ and L. Grafakos [21] in the equivalent representation

$$\mathcal{H}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Omega_n |x|^n} \int_{|y| < |x|} f(y) dy, \qquad (1.0.4)$$

where $\Omega_n = \frac{\pi^{n/2}}{\Gamma(1+n/2)}$. Various approaches are described and some extensions are given for the Hardy operators U, \mathcal{H} and their modifications. Particularly, there appeared a lot of papers which have discussed the problems of characterizing the weights (u, v), for which U and its generalizations are of weak and strong type (p, q), or are bounded between Lorentz spaces, BMO spaces, ...(see [1, 16, 37, 60, 64, 68, 70, 72, 73, 75]).

The second type of Hardy operator was introduced by Carton-Lebrun and Fosset [19], in which the authors defined the weighted Hardy operator U_{ψ} as follows. Let $\psi : [0,1] \to [0,\infty)$ be a measurable function, and let f be a measurable complexvalued function on \mathbb{R}^n . Then the weighted Hardy operator U_{ψ} is defined by

$$U_{\psi}f(x) = \int_{0}^{1} f(tx)\psi(t)dt, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$
 (1.0.5)

Under certain conditions on ψ , [19] showed that U_{ψ} is bounded from $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ into itself. Moreover, U_{ψ} commutes with the Hilbert transform in the case n = 1 and with certain Calderón–Zygmund singular integral operators (and thus with the Riesz transforms) in the case $n \geq 2$.

In [83], J. Xiao obtained that U_{ψ} is bounded on $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ if and only if

$$\mathcal{A} := \int_0^1 t^{-n/p} \psi(t) dt < \infty$$

and showed the interesting estimate that the corresponding operator norm is exactly \mathcal{A} . J. Xiao [83] also obtained the $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -bounds of U_{ψ} , which sharpened the main result in [19].

There is a connection between the above two types of Hardy operator. If $\psi(t) = 1$, and n = 1, then U_{ψ} is just reduced to the classical Hardy operator U. If $n \ge 2$, then the restriction of \mathcal{H} on the class of radial functions is U_{ψ} with $\psi(t) = nt^{n-1}$ (see [21, 88]). Thus, a number of results on the Hardy operators of the second type would be helpful in obtaining certain estimates for the Hardy operators of the first type.

Observe that the value of $U_{\psi}f$ at a point x just depends on the weight average value of f along a parameter s(t, x) = tx. We consider the generalized weighted Hardy–Cesàro operator as follows.

Definition 1.0.1 Let $\psi : [0,1] \to [0,\infty)$, $s : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be measurable functions. Then the generalized weighted Hardy–Cesàro operator $U_{\psi,s}$, associated to the parameter curve s(x,t) := s(t)x, is defined by

$$U_{\psi,s}f(x) = \int_0^1 f(s(t)x)\,\psi(t)dt,$$
(1.0.6)

for measurable complex-valued functions f on \mathbb{R}^n . See [22].

Note that the class of operators $U_{\psi,s}$ contains both types of classical Hardy operator and Cesàro operator. If s(t) = t, $U_{\psi,s}$ is reduced to U_{ψ} and if s(t) = 1/t, we replace $\psi(t)$ by $t^{-n}\psi(t)$, then $U_{\psi,s}$ is reduced to weighted Cesàro operator

$$V_{\psi}f(x) = \int_0^1 f(x/t) t^{-n} \psi(t) dt.$$

The operator V_{ψ} can be generalized to

$$V_{\psi,s}f(x) = \int_0^1 f(s(t)x) \, |s(t)|^n \psi(t) dt.$$
(1.0.7)

Definition 1.0.2 Let b be a locally integrable function on \mathbb{R}^n . The commutators of b and operators $U_{\psi,s}, V_{\psi,s}$ are respectively defined by

$$U_{\psi,s}^b f = bU_{\psi,s}(f) - U_{\psi,s}(bf), \qquad (1.0.8)$$

and

$$V_{\psi,s}^b f(x) = b V_{\psi,s}(f) - V_{\psi,s}(bf).$$
(1.0.9)

Recently, Z. W. Fu, Z. G. Liu, and S. Z. Lu [41] gave a necessary and sufficient condition on the weight function ψ , which ensures the boundedness of the commutators of weighted Hardy operators U_{ψ} on $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, $1 , with symbols in <math>BMO(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. In addition, several authors have considered the boundedness and bounds of U_{ψ} on Morrey spaces, Campanato spaces, $Q_{p,q}^{\alpha}$ -type spaces, Triebel–Lizorkin–type spaces (see [55, 78, 79, 88]).

Our aim in Chapter 5 is to study weighted norm inequalities for the generalized weighted Hardy–Cesàro operator $U_{\psi,s}$ and its commutator $U_{\psi,s}^b$ on weighted Morrey

spaces (see Section 5.1 below). More precisely, for weights ω in the class \mathcal{W}_{α} (see Section 5.2 below), we obtain a necessary and sufficient condition on the function ψ such that $U_{\psi,s}$ is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ (Theorem 5.2.4). We also find a characterization on $\psi(t)$ (the condition (ii)) so that for $1 , the commutator <math>U_{\psi,s}^{b}$ of the generalized weighted Hardy–Cesàro operator $U_{\psi,s}$ is bounded from weighted central Morrey spaces $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ to weighted central Morrey spaces $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all symbols bin BMO(ω) (see Theorem 5.3.2). For the case 1 , whether the above $condition (ii) on <math>\psi(t)$ in Theorem 5.3.2 is sufficient for the boundedness of $U_{\psi,s}^{b}$ on $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $b \in BMO(\omega)$ is still an interesting open question to us. Instead, we only proved that the condition (ii) is sufficient for the operator $M_{\omega,c}(U_{\psi,s}^{b}(\cdot))$ to be bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ and on $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $b \in BMO(\omega)$, where $M_{\omega,c}$ is the Hardy-Littlewood central maximal operator with respect to the measure $\omega(x)dx$, that is

$$M_{\omega,c}f(x) = \sup_{B} \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(y)|\omega(y)dy,$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B centered at the origin and containing x (see Theorem 5.3.7). These results are in line with those obtained in [83], [41], [22] and extend the results in [42].

The majority of the material in Chapter 5 is a revision of the material as it appeared in "T. D. Tran, *Generalized weighted Hardy–Cesàro operators and their commutators on weighted Morrey spaces*, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 412 (2014), no. 2, 1025-1035". It should be pointed out here that recently we were informed that there was a mistake in the proof of Theorem 3.1 in the article mentioned above, and so one direction of this theorem might not be true. In the current thesis, we, taking this notification into account, have revised all the work in [80] and fixed that mistake while writing Chapter 5. We will also submit a corrigendum of the article [80] to Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications as soon as we can.



2.1 Spaces of homogeneous type and Muckenhoupt weights

2.1.1 Spaces of homogeneous type

In order to extend the Calderón-Zygmund theory from the Euclidean spaces to more general settings, in [25], the authors introduced certain metric spaces with the doubling measures. These spaces are called spaces of homogeneous type. In this section, we recall definition of spaces of homogeneous type and the Hardy spaces on spaces of homogeneous type, see for example [25].

Let (X, d, μ) be a metric space, with quasi-distance d and μ is a nonnegative, Borel, doubling measure on X.

Denote by B(x, r) the open ball of radius r > 0 and center $x \in X$, and by V(x, r) its measure $\mu(B(x, r))$. The doubling property of μ provides that there exists a constant C > 0 so that

$$V(x,2r) \le CV(x,r) < \infty \tag{2.1.1}$$

for all $x \in X$ and r > 0.

Notice that the doubling property (2.1.1) implies that following property that

$$V(x,\lambda r) \le C\lambda^n V(x,r), \tag{2.1.2}$$

for some positive constant n uniformly for all $\lambda \ge 1, x \in X$ and r > 0. There also exists a constant $0 \le N \le n$ such that

$$V(x,r) \le C \left(1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{r}\right)^N V(y,r),$$
 (2.1.3)

uniformly for all $x, y \in X$ and r > 0.

To simplify notation, we will often just use B for $B(x_B, r_B)$. Also given $\lambda > 0$, we will write λB for the λ -dilated ball, which is the ball with the same center as B and with radius $r_{\lambda B} = \lambda r_B$. For each ball $B \subset X$, we set

$$S_0(B) = B$$
 and $S_j(B) = 2^j B \setminus 2^{j-1} B$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

We now consider some examples on the spaces of homogeneous type in [25]:

- (i) $X = \mathbb{R}^n$, d(x, y) = |x y| and μ is the Lebesgue measure;
- (ii) $X = \mathbb{R}^n$, $d(x, y) = \sum_{j=1}^n |x_j y_j|^{\alpha_j}$ where $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$, $y = (y_1, \dots, y_n)$ and $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n$ are positive numbers, not all equal, and μ is the Lebesgue measure;

(iii)
$$X = \mathbb{R}_+ = \{r \in \mathbb{R} : r \ge 0\}, d\mu(r) = r^{n-1}dr, d$$
 is the usual distance;

(iv) X is a Lipschitz domain in \mathbb{R}^n , d(x, y) = |x - y| and μ is the Lebesgue measure.

2.1.2 Calderón-Zygmund operators

Calderón-Zygmund theory plays an important role in studying the boundedness of singular integrals on the setting of spaces of homogenous type introduced by Coifman and Weiss in [25]. Let us recall here the concept of Calderón-Zygmund operators on a space of homogenous type (X, d, μ) .

By a kernel on X we shall mean a function $K : \{(x, y) \in X \times X \setminus : x \neq y\} \to \mathbb{C}$ which is locally integrable away from the diagonal.

Definition 2.1.1 A kernel $K(\cdot, \cdot) \in L^1_{loc}(X \times X \setminus \{(x, y) : x = y\})$ is called a Calderón-Zygmund kernel, or a C-Z kernel, if there exist two constants $\delta > 0$ and C > 0 such that

(i)

$$|K(x,y)| \le C \frac{1}{d(x,y)^n} \text{ for all } x \neq y; \qquad (2.1.4)$$

(ii)

$$|K(x,y) - K(z,y)| + |K(y,x) - K(y,z)| \le C\delta \frac{d(x,z)^{o}}{d(x,y)^{n+\delta}}$$
(2.1.5)

whenever d(x, z) < d(x, y)/2.

Basic examples of the kernels which satisfy (2.1.4) and (2.1.5) are $K(x, y) = (x - y)^{-1}$ and $K(x, y) = |x - y|^{-1}$ on the real line. In many circumstances, condition (2.1.5) can be replaced by the stronger condition

$$|\nabla K(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{d(x,y)^{n+1}}.$$

A linear operator T is called a Calderón-Zygmund operator with kernel $K(\cdot, \cdot)$ satisfying (2.1.4) and (2.1.5) if for all $f \in L^{\infty}(\mu)$ with bounded support and $x \notin supp f$,

$$Tf(x) = \int_X K(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y)$$

The maximal operator T_* associated with a Calderón-Zygmund operator T is defined by

$$T_*f(x) = \sup_{\epsilon > 0} |T_\epsilon f(x)|,$$

where $T_{\epsilon}f(x) = \int_{d(x,y) \ge \epsilon} K(x,y)f(y)d\mu(y).$

A Calderón-Zygmund singular integral is a Calderón-Zygmund operator that satisfies

$$Tf(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} T_{\varepsilon}f(x).$$

The following result implies that if a Calderón-Zygmund operator is bounded on L^2 then this operator and its maximal operator both are bounded on L^p for 1 ,and are of weak type (1, 1). Hence, given an operator with a Calderón-Zygmund kernel, $the problem reduces to showing that it is bounded on <math>L^2$.

Proposition 2.1.2 If a Calderón-Zygmund operator T is bounded on $L^2(X, \mu)$, then T and T_* are bounded on $L^p(X, \mu)$ for 1 , and are of weak type <math>(1, 1).

When one says T is bounded on L^p , we mean T can be extended to an L^p -bounded operator. More precisely, we have

$$||Tf||_{L^p} \le C ||f||_{L^p} \text{ for all } f \in L^p(X).$$

It is important to note that the weak type (1,1) property of an L^2 boundedness singular integral operator still holds if we replace the condition (2.1.5) in Definition 2.1.1 by the Hömander integral condition. Recall that the kernel K(x, y) satisfies the Hömander integral condition if there exist constants C > 0 and $\delta > 1$ such that

$$\int_{d(x,y) \ge \delta d(y_1,y)} |K(x,y) - K(x,y_1)| dx \le C,$$
(2.1.6)

for all $y, y_1 \in X$.

Very recently, in connection with the study of the Cauchy integral, the question has arisen of extending the theory of singular integrals to nonhomogeneous spaces like topological spaces X with a pseudo-metric ρ and a measure μ which is not doubling. For example, F. Nazarov, S. Treil and A. Volberg [67], and T. A. Bui and X. T. Duong [18] have shown that the above result remains true when ρ is a metric and there exists a constant n > 0 such that for all $x \in X$ and r > 0, $\mu(B(x, r)) \leq r^n$.

2.1.3 Muckenhoupt weights

The theory of weighted inequalities for the maximal function and singular integrals is a natural development of Calderón-Zygmund theory. We can describe one of principal problems as follows.

Let M be the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function on X,

$$Mf(x) = \sup_{B \ni x} \frac{1}{V(B)} \int_{B} |f(y)| d\mu(y)$$

and we expect to characterize the nonnegative measure $d\nu$ so that

$$\int_{X} |Mf(x)|^{p} d\nu(x) \le C \int_{X} |f(x)|^{p} d\nu(x)$$
(2.1.7)

for some p, 1 .

In Euclidean setting $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ and μ is the Lebesgue measure, Muckenhoupt [65] proved that inequality (2.1.7) holds if and only if $d\nu$ is in the class A_p . It is now called a Muckenhoupt class. The extension of Muckenhoupt class of weights to the spaces of homogeneous type was investigated in [77]. In this section, we give a brief definition of the Muckenhoupt class of weights and some their basic properties as well, see for example [77].

For the weight w, we shall mean that w is a non-negative local integrable function on X. We shall denote $w(E) := \int_E w(x)d\mu(x)$ and $V(E) = \mu(E)$ for any measurable set $E \subset X$. For $1 \le p \le \infty$ let p' be the conjugate exponent of p, i.e. 1/p + 1/p' = 1.

We first introduce some notation. We use the notation

$$\int_B h(x)d\mu(x) = \frac{1}{V(B)} \int_B h(x)d\mu(x).$$

A weight w is a non-negative measurable and locally integrable function on X. We say that $w \in A_p$, $1 , if there exists a constant C such that for every ball <math>B \subset X$,

$$\left(\int_B w(x)d\mu(x)\right)\left(\int_B w^{-1/(p-1)}(x)d\mu(x)\right)^{p-1} \le C.$$

For p = 1, we say that $w \in A_1$ if there is a constant C such that for every ball $B \subset X$,

$$\int_{B} w(y)d\mu(y) \le Cw(x) \text{ for a.e. } x \in B.$$

We set $A_{\infty} = \bigcup_{p \ge 1} A_p$.

The reverse Hölder classes are defined in the following way: $w \in RH_q, 1 < q < \infty$, if there is a constant C such that for any ball $B \subset X$,

$$\left(\int_B w^q(y)d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q} \le C \int_B w(x)d\mu(x).$$

The endpoint $q = \infty$ is given by the condition: $w \in RH_{\infty}$ whenever, there is a constant C such that for any ball $B \subset X$,

$$w(x) \le C \oint_B w(y) d\mu(y)$$
 for a.e. $x \in B$.

Let $w \in A_{\infty}$, for $1 \leq p < \infty$, the weighted spaces $L^{p}(X, w)$ can be defined by

$$\left\{f: \int_X |f(x)|^p w(x) d\mu(x) < \infty\right\}$$

with the norm

$$||f||_{L^p(X,w)} = \left(\int_X |f(x)|^p w(x) d\mu(x)\right)^{1/p}.$$

We sum up some of the standard properties of classes of weights in the following lemma. For the proofs, see for example [7, 29, 77].

Lemma 2.1.3 The following properties hold:

- (i) $A_1 \subset A_p \subset A_q$ for 1 .
- (ii) $RH_{\infty} \subset RH_q \subset RH_p$ for 1 .
- (iii) If $w \in A_p$, $1 , then there exists <math>1 < r < p < \infty$ such that $w \in A_r$.
- (iv) If $w \in RH_q$, $1 < q < \infty$, then there exists $q such that <math>w \in RH_p$.

$$(v) A_{\infty} = \bigcup_{1 \le p < \infty} A_p \subset \bigcup_{1 < q \le \infty} RH_q$$

(vi) Let $1 < p_0 < p < q_0 < \infty$. Then we have

$$w \in A_{\frac{p}{p_0}} \cap RH_{(\frac{q_0}{p})'} \Longleftrightarrow w^{1-p'} \in A_{\frac{p'}{q'_0}} \cap RH_{(\frac{p'_0}{p'})'}.$$

It is important to note that in Euclidean setting, we have $A_{\infty} = \bigcup_{1 < q \leq \infty} RH_q$. However, in general, A_{∞} is a proper subset of $\bigcup_{1 < q \leq \infty} RH_q$, see for example [77, p. 9].

Lemma 2.1.4 Let B be a ball and E be any measurable subset B. Let $w \in A_p, p \ge 1$. Then, there exists a constant $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$C_1\left(\frac{V(E)}{V(B)}\right)^p \le \frac{w(E)}{w(B)}.$$

If $w \in RH_r, r > 1$. Then, there exists a constant $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$\frac{w(E)}{w(B)} \le C_2 \left(\frac{V(E)}{V(B)}\right)^{\frac{r-1}{r}}.$$

From the first inequality of Lemma 2.1.4, if $w \in A_p, 1 \leq p < \infty$ then for any ball $B \subset X$ and $\lambda > 1$, we have

$$w(\lambda B) \le C\lambda^{pn} w(B).$$

2.2 Hardy spaces

2.2.1 Characterizations of classical Hardy spaces

There exists an abundance of equivalent characterizations for Hardy spaces, of which only a few representative ones are discussed in this section. For historical reasons, however, we choose to define Hardy spaces using a more classical approach.

Definition 2.2.1 Let f be a tempered distribution on \mathbb{R}^n , let 0 , and let <math>P be the Poisson kernel, that is

$$P(x) = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{n+1}{2}} \left(1 + |x|^2\right)^{\frac{n+1}{2}}}.$$

If the Poisson nontangential maximal function $P^*_{\nabla}(f)(x) := \sup_{\substack{|y-x| < t \ }} |(f * P_t)(y)| \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then we say f belongs to the Hardy space $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\{(y,t) : |y-x| < t\}$ is a cone in $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ := \{(y,t) : y \in \mathbb{R}^n, t > 0\}$, and $P_t(x) = t^{-n}P(t^{-1}x)$.

In view of Definition (2.2.1), one can easily see that this definition does not completely get rid of the dependence on harmonic functions because of the Poisson kernel appearing in the definition. Then a natural question arises: can the Poisson kernel in Definition (2.2.1) be replaced by any other kernel of approximation to the identity? Fefferman and Stein gave out an affirmative answer to this question in [39]. They introduced the maximal functions associated with smooth kernel as follows.

Definition 2.2.2 Suppose $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\int \varphi(x) dx = 1$. If we write

$$\varphi_{\nabla}^*(f)(x) = \sup_{|y-x| < t} \left| (f * \varphi_t)(y) \right|,$$

then $\varphi^*_{\nabla}(f)$ is called the φ -nontangential maximal function of f.

Definition 2.2.3 *Let* $m \in \mathbb{N}$ *, and let*

$$K_m = \left\{ \Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \sup_{u \in \mathbb{R}^n, |\alpha| \le m} \left(1 + |u|\right)^{m+n} |D^{\alpha} \Phi(u)| \le 1 \right\}.$$

If we write

$$f_m^*(x) := \sup_{\Phi \in K_m} \Phi_{\nabla}^*(f)(x),$$

then f_m^* is called the Grand maximal function of f.

The following basic result is proved by Fefferman and Stein.

Theorem 2.2.4 Suppose $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $0 , and <math>m > 1 + \frac{n}{p}$. Then the following statements are equivalent.

(i) $f \in H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

(ii) There exists a function $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\int \varphi(x) dx = 1$, such that $\varphi^*_{\nabla}(f) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. (iii) $f^*_m \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$

Let us now recall the notion on the type of operators.

Definition 2.2.5 Suppose X is a quasi-normed linear space and T is a sublinear operator. If T maps X into L^p and satisfies

$$\|Tf\|_p \le C \|f\|_X,$$

where C is independent of f, then T is called to be of type (X, L^p) . If the above inequality is replaced by

$$|\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |Tf(x)| > \lambda\}| \le C\left(\frac{\|f\|_X}{\lambda}\right)^p,$$

where C is independent of f and λ , then T is called to be of weak type (X, L^p) .

It follows from Theorem (2.2.4) that the maximal operator $T : f \mapsto f_m^*$ is of type (H^p, L^p) . In the case $p \ge 1$, we shall obtain further results on the type of this maximal operator in the following, see for example [59] for the proof of the proposition below.

Proposition 2.2.6 Let $m \ge 1$ and p > 1. Then we have

- (i) $T: f \mapsto f_m^*$ is of weak type (L^1, L^1) .
- (ii) $T: f \mapsto f_m^*$ is of type (L^p, L^p) .

As an immediate consequence of Theorem (2.2.4) and the above proposition, we have

Proposition 2.2.7 If $1 then <math>H^p(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Therefore, we are interested in the real H^p spaces only for 0 .

In addition, $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ spaces can be characterized in terms of the Lusin area integral in [39]. This can be precisely formulated as follows.

Proposition 2.2.8 Suppose $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and 0 . Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) $f \in H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.
- (ii) $\mathcal{S}(f) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\lim_{t \to \infty} (f * P_t)(x) = 0$, where

$$\mathcal{S}(f)(x) = \left(\iint_{\Gamma(x)} |\nabla (f * P_t)(y)|^2 t^{1-n} dy dt \right)^{1/2}$$

and

$$\Gamma(x) = \{(y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : |y-x| < t\}.$$

2.2.2 Atoms and atomic decompositions

The atomic decomposition theory of $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ spaces marks an important step of further developments on its real variable theory. Using the grand maximal function, Coifman [23] first showed that an element in $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ can be decomposed into a sum of a series of basic elements. Then the study on some analytic problems on $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is reduced to investigating some properties of these basic elements, and so the problems become quite simple. These basic elements are called atoms. Let us now recall the definition of an atom.

Definition 2.2.9 Let $0 , and the nonnegative integer <math>s \ge [n(1/p-1)]$ ([x] indicates the integer part of x). A function $a(x) \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is called a (p,q,s) atom with the center at x_0 if it satisfies the following conditions:

- (i) Supp $a \subset B(x_0, r)$;
- (*ii*) $||a||_q \le |B(x_0, r)|^{1/q 1/p}$;
- (iii) $\int a(x)x^{\alpha}dx = 0, \ 0 \le |\alpha| \le s.$

Here, (i) means that an atom must be a function with compact support, (ii) is the size condition of atoms, and (iii) is called the cancellation moment condition. Clearly, a (p, ∞, s) atom must be a (p, q, s) atom, if $p < q < \infty$. Let us now define a class of function space generated by atoms.

Definition 2.2.10 The atomic Hardy space $H^{p,q,s}_{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ is defined by

$$H_a^{p,q,s}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{S}' : f(x) = \sum_k \lambda_k a_k(x), \sum_k \left| \lambda_k \right|^p < \infty \right\},\$$

where each a_k is a (p,q,s) atom.

Setting $H^{p,q,s}_a$ norm of f by

$$\|f\|_{H^{p,q,s}_a} = \inf\left(\sum_k |\lambda_k|^p\right)^{1/p},$$

where the infimum is taken over all decompositions of $f = \sum_{k} \lambda_k a_k$. It is easy to verify that $H_a^{p,q,s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a complete metric space with the distance

$$\rho(f,g) = \|f - g\|_{H^{p,q,s}_a}.$$

Particularly, $H_a^{1,q,s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a Banach space. Coifman [23] proved that $H_a^{p,q,s}(\mathbb{R}) = H^p(\mathbb{R})$. This indicates that each element in $H^p(\mathbb{R})$ can be decomposed into a sum of atoms in certain way.

Theorem 2.2.11 Let $0 , and the nonnegative integer <math>s \geq [(1/p-1)]$. Then $H_a^{p,q,s}(\mathbb{R}) = H^p(\mathbb{R})$, and

$$||f||_{H^{p,q,s}_a} \sim ||f||_{H^p}.$$

Later, R. H. Latter [57] generalized Theorem 2.2.11 to high dimension and obtained the following result.

Theorem 2.2.12 Let $0 , and the nonnegative integer <math>s \geq [n(1/p-1)]$. Then $H_a^{p,q,s}(\mathbb{R}^n) = H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and

$$||f||_{H^{p,q,s}_a} \sim ||f||_{H^p}.$$

Using atoms is helpful in studying the H^p boundedness of operators.

Proposition 2.2.13 If for any (p,q,s) atom $a, Ta \in L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and

 $||Ta|| \le C,$

where C is independent of a, (p,q,s) as in Definition 2.2.9, and $1 \ge r \ge p$, then T is of type (H^p, L^r) .

2.2.3 Molecules and molecular decompositions

The basic idea of the atomic decomposition theory of H^p spaces is just to decompose the elements of H^p into a sum of series of atoms in some form. However, we need the compact support condition when working with atoms. Thus, a natural problem that arises is that: Can we choose functions without compact supports as basic elements in the decompositional structure of H^p ? We call these functions *molecules*.

Definition 2.2.14 Let $0 , and the nonnegative integer <math>s \ge [n(1/p-1)]$, $\epsilon > max\left\{\frac{s}{n}, \frac{1}{p} - 1\right\}$, $a_0 = 1 - \frac{1}{p} + \epsilon$, and $b_0 = 1 - \frac{1}{q} + \epsilon$. A function $M \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is said to be a (p, q, s, ϵ) molecule centered at x_0 , if it satisfies the following conditions.

(i)
$$|x|^{nb_0}M(x) \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n);$$

(*ii*)
$$N_q(M) := \|M\|_q^{a_0/b_0} \|M(\cdot)| \cdot - x_0|^{nb_0} \|_q^{1-(a_0/b_0)} < \infty;$$

(iii) $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} M(x) x^{\alpha} dx = 0, \ |\alpha| \le s.$

It is well know that an element in H^p can be represented as a sum of a series of molecules in some form.

Proposition 2.2.15 Let p, q, s and ϵ as in Definition 2.2.14. Then $f \in H_a^{p,q,s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if

$$f(x) = \sum_{k} \lambda_k M_k(x),$$

where each M_k is a (p, q, s, ϵ) molecule, $\sum_k |\lambda_k|^p < \infty$, and there exists a constant C independent of k such that $N_q(M_k) \leq C$. Moreover,

$$\inf\left\{\left(\sum_{k}\left|\lambda_{k}\right|^{p}\right)^{1/p}:f=\sum_{k}\lambda_{k}M_{k}\right\}\sim\|f\|_{H^{p}}.$$

For the boundedness of operators on H^p spaces, one of the most interesting questions is that what kind of operators is of type (H^p, H^p) . By means of atoms and molecules, this problem is reduced to whether the images of atoms under the action of operators are molecules. More precisely, one has the following result, see [59] for the proof.

Proposition 2.2.16 Suppose $p_1 \leq p_2 \leq 1$. If for any (p_1, q_1, s_1) atom a, Ta is a $(p_2, q_2, s_2, \epsilon)$ molecule, and satisfies

$$N_{q_2}(Ta) \le C,$$

where C is independent of a, then T is of type (H^{p_1}, H^{p_2}) , where (p_1, q_1, s_1) is as in Definition 2.2.9 and $(p_2, q_2, s_2, \epsilon)$ is as in Definition 2.2.14.

2.2.4 Interpolation of operators

The classic Marcinkiewicz interpolation theorem of operators shows that if $1 \leq p_1 , and the sublinear operator <math>T$ is of weak type (L^{p_1}, L^{p_1}) and weak type (L^{p_2}, L^{p_2}) , then T is of type (L^p, L^p) . A natural question that arises is that if p < 1, what would happen to the interpolation of operators. The following theorem gives an answer to the above question, see [59]. It is also regarded as a generalization of the Marcinkiewicz interpolation theorem mentioned above.

Theorem 2.2.17 Assume that $0 < p_1 \le 1 < p_2 \le \infty$, and a sublinear operator T is of weak type (H^{p_1}, L^{p_1}) and weak type (L^{p_2}, L^{p_2}) .

(i) If 1 then T is of type.

(ii) If $p_1 then T is of type <math>(H^p, L^p)$.

It should be pointed out that when $p_1 = 1$ and $p_2 = \infty$, there also is an interpolation result that differs from either the Marcinkiewicz theorem or Theorem 2.2.17. This result is formulated as follows, see [59].

Proposition 2.2.18 Suppose a sublinear T is of type (H^1, L^1) and of type (L_c^{∞}, BMO) , where L_c^{∞} is the space of bounded measurable functions with compact support and BMO is the space of bounded mean oscillation functions (see Section 2.3 below). Then T is of type (L^p, L^p) for 1 .

2.2.5 Coifman and Weiss's Hardy spaces

Let us now recall the definition of the Coifman and Weiss's Hardy spaces $H^p_{CW}(X)$ as in [25]. Let 0 . We say that a function <math>a is a (2, p) atom if there exists a ball B such that

- (i) supp $a \subset B$;
- (ii) $||a||_{L^2} \leq V(B)^{1/2-1/p};$
- (iii) $\int a(x)\mu(x) = 0.$

The atomic Hardy space $H^1_{CW}(X)$ is defined as follows. We say that a function $f \in H^1_{CW}(X)$, if $f \in L^1$ and there exist a sequence $(\lambda_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \in l^1$ and a sequence of (2, 1)-atoms $(a_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j$ in $L^1(X)$. We set

$$||f||_{H^1_{CW}(X)} = \inf \bigg\{ \sum_j |\lambda_j| : f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j \bigg\}.$$

To define the Hardy space $H^p_{CW}(X)$ for $0 , we need to introduce the Lipschitz space <math>\mathfrak{L}_{\alpha}$. We say that the function $f \in \mathfrak{L}_{\alpha}$ if there exists a constant c > 0, such that

$$|f(x) - f(y)| \le c|B|^{\alpha}$$

for every ball B and $x, y \in B$, and the best constant c can be taken to be the norm of f and is denoted by $||f||_{\mathfrak{L}_{\alpha}}$.

Let $0 and <math>\alpha = 1/p - 1$. We say that a function $f \in H^p_{CW}(X)$, if $f \in (\mathfrak{L}_{\alpha})^*$, the conjugate space of \mathfrak{L}_{α} , and there are a sequence $(\lambda_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \in l^p$ and a sequence of (2, p)-atoms $(a_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j$ in $(\mathfrak{L}_{\alpha})^*$. We set

$$||f||_{H^p_{CW}(X)} = \inf \left\{ (\sum_j |\lambda_j|^p)^{1/p} : f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j \right\}.$$

Note that when $0 , <math>\|\cdot\|_{H^p_{CW}}$ is not a norm but $d(f,g) = \|f-g\|_{H^p_{CW}}$ is a metric.

2.3 BMO spaces

This section is written mainly based on Chapter 6 of [29].

2.3.1 Classical BMO spaces on \mathbb{R}^n

Given a function $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and a ball B in \mathbb{R}^n , let f_B denote the average of f on B:

$$f_B = \frac{1}{|B|} \int\limits_B f.$$

Define the sharp maximal function by

$$M^{\sharp}f(x) = \sup_{B} \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f - f_{B}|$$
(2.3.1)

where the supremum is taken over all balls B containing x. Each of these integrals measures the mean oscillation of f on the ball B. We say that f has bounded mean oscillation if the function M^f is bounded. The space of functions with this property is denoted by BMO, that is:

$$BMO = \left\{ f \in L^1_{\text{loc}} : M^{\sharp} f \in L^{\infty} \right\}.$$

We define a norm on BMO spaces by

$$\left\|f\right\|_{BMO} = \left\|M^{\sharp}f\right\|_{\infty}.$$

This is not properly a norm since any function which is constant almost everywhere has zero oscillation. However, these are the only functions with this property, and it is customary to think of BMO as the quotient of the above space by the space of constant functions. In other words, two functions which differ by a constant coincide as functions in BMO. On this space $||f||_{BMO}$ is a norm and the space is a Banach space.

Proposition 2.3.1

$$\frac{1}{2} \|f\|_{BMO} \le \sup_{B} \inf_{a \in \mathbb{C}} \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f(x) - a| \, dx \le \|f\|_{BMO}$$
(2.3.2)

and

$$M^{\sharp}(|f|)(x) \le 2M^{\sharp}f(x).$$
 (2.3.3)

Inequality (2.3.2) defines a norm equivalent to the BMO norm, and provides a way to show that $f \in BMO$ without using its average on B: it suffices to find a constant a (that can depend on B) such that

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f(x) - a| \, dx \le C$$

with C independent of B.

It follows from (2.3.3) that if $f \in BMO$ then |f| is also in BMO. However, the converse is not true. Clearly, $L^{\infty} \subset BMO$, but there are also unbounded BMO functions. The typical example on \mathbb{R} is

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} \log\left(\frac{1}{|x|}\right) & , |x| < 1\\ 0 & , |x| \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

It is well-known that the function f above is a BMO function but the function sgn(x)f(x) is not in BMO.

The following result shows the connection between BMO and singular integrals.

Proposition 2.3.2 Let T be a Calderón-Zygmund operator. Then if f is a bounded function of compact support then $Tf \in BMO$, and

$$||Tf||_{BMO} \le C ||f||_{\infty}.$$

In applying interpolation theorems (such as the Marcinkiewicz interpolation theorem) we often use the fact that an operator is bounded from L^{∞} to L^{∞} . It is well-known that we can replace this with the weaker condition of boundedness from L^{∞} to BMO.

Proposition 2.3.3 Let T be a linear operator which is bounded on L^q for some q, $1 < q < \infty$, and is bounded from L^{∞} to BMO. Then T is bounded on L^p for all p, q .

2.3.2 The John-Nirenberg inequality

In this section we examine the rate of growth of BMO functions. Let us first consider $\log(1/|x|)$. On the interval (-a, a), its average is $1 - \log(a)$, and given $\lambda > 1$ the set where

$$|\log(1/|x|) - (1 - \log a)| > \lambda$$

has measure $2ae^{-\lambda-1}$. The following result, which is well-known as John-Nirenberg Inequality, shows that in some sense the logarithmic growth is the maximum possible for BMO functions.

Proposition 2.3.4 Let $f \in BMO$. Then there exist two constants c and C, depending only on the dimension, such that for any ball B in \mathbb{R}^n and any $\lambda > 0$,

$$|\{x \in B : |f(x) - f_B| > \lambda\}| \le C e^{-c\lambda/\|f\|_{BMO}} |B|.$$
(2.3.4)

As a consequence of Proposition (2.3.4), one gets the following interesting statements

Proposition 2.3.5 For all p, 1 ,

$$||f||_{BMO,p} = \sup_{B} \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f(x) - f_{B}|^{p} dx \right)^{1/p}$$

is a norm on BMO equivalent to the BMO norm.

Proposition 2.3.6 Given a function f and suppose that there exist constants C_1 , C_2 , and K such that for any ball B and any $\lambda > 0$,

$$|\{x \in B : |f(x) - f_B| > \lambda\}| \le C_1 e^{-C_2 \lambda/K} |B|.$$

Then $f \in BMO$.

2.3.3 Carleson measures

Definition 2.3.7 A positive measure ν on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ is called a Carleson measure if for every cube Q in \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$\nu(Q \times (0, l(Q))) \le C |Q|,$$

where l(Q) is the side length of Q. The infimum of the possible values of the constant C is called the Carleson constant of ν and is denoted by $\|\nu\|$.

An example of a Carleson measure in the upper half-plane \mathbb{R}^2_+ is $drd\theta$ (polar coordinates).

The property underlying the definition of Carleson measures is not limited to cubes but also extends to more general sets. Given an open set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, let

$$\hat{E} = \left\{ (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : B(x,t) \subset E \right\}.$$

then the following is true.

Proposition 2.3.8 If ν is a Carleson measure on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is open, then

$$\nu(\hat{E}) \le C \|\nu\| \, |E|$$

The converse of the above proposition is also true, that is, if for any ball B in \mathbb{R}^n , $\nu(\hat{B}) \leq C |B|$ then ν is a Carleson measure on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and $||\nu||$ is comparable with the constant C appearing in the above inequality.

A Carleson measure can be characterized as a measure ν for which the Poisson integral defines a bounded operator from $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n, dx)$ to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, \nu)$. This is a consequence of a more general result.

Proposition 2.3.9 Let ϕ be a bounded, integrable function which is positive, radial and decreasing. For t > 0, let $\phi_t(x) = t^{-n}\phi(t^{-1}x)$. Then a measure ν is a Carleson measure if and only if for every p, 1 ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |\phi_t * f(x)|^p d\nu(x,t) \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p dx.$$
(2.3.5)

The constant C is comparable with $\|\nu\|$.

Carleson measures can also be characterized in terms of BMO functions.

Proposition 2.3.10 Let $b \in BMO$ and let ψ be a Schwartz function such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \psi = 0$. Then the measure ν defined by

$$d\nu = |b * \psi_t(x)|^2 \frac{dxdt}{t}$$

is a Carleson measure such that $\|\nu\|$ is dominated by $\|b\|_{BMO}^2$.

2.3.4 Dual space of BMO space

In [39], Fefferman and Stein proved that the dual space of the bounded mean oscillation function space is just the Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Their result can be stated as follows.

Theorem 2.3.11 If $g \in BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ then

$$Lf = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)g(x)dx$$

is a bounded linear functional on $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Conversely, for any bounded linear functional L on $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exists a function $g \in BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$Lf = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)g(x)dx, \forall f \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

2.4 Holomorphic functional calculus

Given an operator T, one can define $T^k = T(T \dots (T))$ by taking the composition of T with itself k times. Thus for a polynomial $p(z) = a_k z^k + \cdots + a_1 z + a_0$, the operator p(T) can be defined naturally as $a_k T^k + \cdots + a_1 T + a_0 I$. Hence for a rational function $r(z) = \frac{p(z)}{q(z)}$ where $q(z) = b_m z^m + \cdots + b_1 z + b_0$, the operator r(T) can be defined as

$$r(T) = \frac{a_k T^k + \dots + a_1 T a_0 I}{b_m T^m + \dots + b_1 T + b_0 I} = (a_k T^k + \dots + a_1 T a_0 I)(b_m T^m + \dots + b_1 T + b_0 I)^{-1}$$

assuming that the inverse operator $(b_m T^m + \cdots b_1 T + b_0 I)^{-1}$ exists. The aim of defining holomorphic functional calculus of an operator T is to extend the rational function of operator r(T) to f(T) where f is a suitable holomorphic function. In this section, we now present some preliminary definitions of holomorphic functional calculi which was introduced by A. McIntosh [61].

Let $0 \leq \theta < \nu < \pi$. We define the closed sector in the complex plane \mathbb{C}

$$S_{\theta} := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |\arg z| \le \theta \}$$

and denote the interior of S_{θ} by S_{θ}^{0} .

We present the following subspaces of the space $H(S^0_{\nu})$ of all holomorphic functions on S^0_{ν} :

$$H_{\infty}(S^{0}_{\nu}) := \{ b \in H(S^{0}_{\nu}) : ||b||_{\infty} < \infty \},\$$

where $||b||_{\infty} := \sup\{|b(z)| : z \in S^0_{\nu}\}$, and

$$\Psi(S^0_{\nu}) := \{ \psi \in H(S^0_{\nu}) : \exists s > 0, |\psi(z)| \le c|z|^s (1+|z|^{2s})^{-1} \}.$$

Recall that a closed operator L in $L^2(X)$ is said to be of type θ if $\sigma(L) \subset S_{\theta}$, and for each $\nu > \theta$ there exists a constant c_{ν} such that

$$||(L - \lambda I)^{-1}|| \le c_{\nu} |\lambda|^{-1}, \lambda \notin S_{\nu}.$$

If L is of type θ and $\psi \in \Psi(S^0_{\nu})$, for $f \in L^2(X)$, we define $\psi(L) \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(X), L^2(X))$ by putting

$$\psi(L)f = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} (L - \lambda I)^{-1} f \psi(\lambda) d\lambda,$$

where Γ is the contour $\{z = re^{\pm i\xi} : r > 0\}$ parametrized clockwise around S_{θ} , and $\theta < \xi < \nu$. Since

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{\Gamma} \left(L - \lambda I \right)^{-1} f \psi(\lambda) d\lambda \right\|_{L^{2}(X)} &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \left(L - \lambda I \right)^{-1} f \right\|_{L^{2}(X)} \left| \psi(\lambda) \right| d \left| \lambda \right| \\ &\leq \| f \|_{L^{2}(X)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{c_{1} c_{2} |\lambda|^{s}}{\left| \lambda \right| \left(1 + \left| \lambda \right|^{2s} \right)} d \left| \lambda \right| < \infty, \end{split}$$

the integral above is absolutely convergent and defines $\psi(L)$ as a bounded operator from $L^2(X)$ into $L^2(X)$. It is straightforward to show, using Cauchy's theorem, that the definition is independent of the choice of $\xi \in (\theta, \nu)$. If, in addition, L is one-one and has dense range and if $b \in H_{\infty}(S^0_{\nu})$, then b(L) can be defined by

$$b(L) = [\psi(L)]^{-1}(b\psi)(L),$$

where $\psi(z) = z(1+z)^{-2}$. It can be shown that b(L) is a well-defined linear operator in $L^2(X)$, see [61]. We say that L has a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus in $L^2(X)$ if there exists $c_{\nu,2} > 0$ such that $b(L) \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(X), L^2(X))$, and for $b \in H_{\infty}(S^0_{\nu})$,

$$||b(L)|| \le c_{\nu,2} ||b||_{\infty}.$$

In [61] it was proved that L has a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus in $L^{2}(X)$ if and only if for any non-zero function $\psi \in \Psi(S^{0}_{\nu})$, L satisfies the square function estimate and its reverse

$$c_1||g||_2 \le \left(\int_0^\infty ||\psi_t(L)g||_2^2 \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/2} \le c_2||g||_2 \tag{2.4.1}$$

for some $0 < c_1 \le c_2 < \infty$, where $\psi_t(x) = \psi(tx)$. More precisely, the authors in [61] proved the following result.

Proposition 2.4.1 Let L be a one-to-one operator of type ω in a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Then the following statements are equivalent:

(i) for every μ in (ω, π) , L has a bounded $H_{\infty}(S^0_{\mu})$ functional calculus, that is, for all $f \in H_{\infty}(S^0_{\mu})$, $f(L) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and

$$||f(L)|| \le C ||f||_{\infty} \qquad \forall f \in H_{\infty}(S^0_{\mu});$$

- (ii) there exists μ in (ω, π) such that L has a bounded $H_{\infty}(S^0_{\mu})$ functional calculus;
- (iii) $\{L^{is}: s \in \mathbb{R}\}\$ is a C^0 group, and for every μ in (ω, π) ,

$$\left\|L^{is}\right\| \le Ce^{\mu|s|} \qquad \forall s \in \mathbb{R};$$

(iv) if A and B are non-negative self-adjoint operators, and U and V are isometries such that L = UA and $L^* = VB$, then for all α in (0,1), $\mathcal{D}(L^{\alpha}) = \mathcal{D}(A^{\alpha})$, $\mathcal{D}(L^{*\alpha}) = \mathcal{D}(B^{\alpha})$, and

$$C^{-1} \|A^{\alpha}u\| \le \|L^{\alpha}u\| \le C \|A^{\alpha}u\| \qquad \forall u \in \mathcal{D}(L^{\alpha})$$

and

$$C^{-1} \|B^{\alpha}v\| \le \|L^{*\alpha}v\| \le C \|B^{\alpha}v\| \qquad \forall v \in \mathcal{D}(L^{*\alpha});$$

(v) for every μ in (ω, π) , and every $\psi \in \Psi(S^0_{\mu})$,

$$C^{-1} \|u\| \le \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\psi(tL)u\|^{2} \frac{dt}{t}\right]^{1/2} \le C \|u\| \qquad \forall u \in \mathcal{H}$$

and

$$C^{-1} \|u\| \leq \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\psi(tL^*)u\|^2 \frac{dt}{t}\right]^{1/2} \leq C \|u\| \qquad \forall u \in \mathcal{H}.$$

As noted in [61], positive self-adjoint operators satisfy the quadratic estimate (2.4.1). So do normal operators with spectra in a sector, and maximal accretive operators. We refer the reader to [87] for precise definitions of these classes of operators. For detailed study on operators which have holomorphic functional calculi, see the work of [61].

It is interesting to compare H_{∞} functional calculus with more classical theories. Hörmander's multiplier theorem, applied to radial functions, tells us that if $m : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfies the conditions

$$\left|\frac{d^k}{dx^k}m(x)\right| \le C|x|^{-k} \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^+,$$

whenever $0 \le k \le [n/2]+1$ ([x] denoting the integer part of x), then $m(\Delta)$ is a bounded map on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for 1 . With a view towards proving Hörmander type theorems $using <math>H_{\infty}$ functional calculus, the authors in [27] established a connection between the two types of calculus as below.

Given a function m on \mathbb{R}^+ , one writes m_e for the function on \mathbb{R} obtained by composing with the exponential, that is, $m_e = m \circ \exp$.

For any positive number α , let $\Lambda_{\infty,1}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ be the set of all bounded continuous functions m on \mathbb{R}^+ such that $\|m\|_{\Lambda_{\infty,1}^{\alpha}} < \infty$, where

$$\|m\|_{\Lambda_{\infty,1}^{\alpha}} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{|n|\alpha} \|m_e * \check{\phi}_n\|_{\infty}.$$

Here, for all ξ in \mathbb{R} ,

$$\phi_0(\xi) = (2 - 2|\xi|)_+ - (1 - 2|\xi|)_+$$

$$\phi_1(\xi) = (1 - 2|\xi - 1|)_+ + (1/2 - |\xi - 3/2|)_+$$

and

$$\phi_{n\varepsilon}(\xi) = \phi_1(2^{1-n}\varepsilon\xi) \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}^+, \forall \varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}.$$

This space is sometimes called a Lipschitz space, and sometimes a Besov space.

Proposition 2.4.2 Suppose that L is a one-to-one operator of type 0. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

(i) L admits a bounded $H_{\infty}(S^0_{\mu})$ functional calculus for all positive μ , and there exist α and A in \mathbb{R}^+ such that

$$\|m(L)\| \le A\mu^{-\alpha} \|m\|_{\infty} \qquad \forall m \in H_{\infty}(S^0_{\mu}), \forall \mu \in \mathbb{R}+;$$

(ii) L admits a bounded $\Lambda^{\alpha}_{\infty,1}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ functional calculus.

2.5 Musielak–Orlicz-type functions

Let us first present some notions on Musielak–Orlicz-type functions.

A function $\omega : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is called an Orlicz function if it is nondecreasing, $\omega(0) = 0, \, \omega(t) > 0$ for t > 0 and $\lim_{t \to \infty} \omega(t) = \infty$.

A function $\omega : X \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is called a *Musielak-Orlicz function* if the function $\omega(x, \cdot) : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is an Orlicz function for each $x \in X$ and the function $\omega(\cdot, t)$ is a measurable function for each $t \in [0, \infty)$.

Let ω be a Musielak–Orlicz function. The function ω is said to be of uniformly upper type p (resp., uniformly lower type p) for certain $p \in [0, \infty)$ if there exists a positive constant C such that for all $x \in X$, $t \ge 1$ (resp., $t \in (0, 1]$) and $s \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\omega(x,st) \le Ct^p \omega(x,s). \tag{2.5.1}$$

If ω is of both uniformly upper type p_1 and lower type p_0 , then ω is said to be of type (p_0, p_1) . A typical example of such ω is

$$\omega(x,t) := f(x)g(t)$$

for $x \in X$ and $t \in [0, \infty)$, where f is a positive measurable function on X, and g is an Orlicz function on $[0, \infty)$ of upper type p_1 and lower type p_0 . Another example of Musielak–Orlicz function ω of uniformly upper type $p \in (0, 1]$ is, for instance,

$$\omega(x,t) = \frac{t^p}{f(x) + [\log(e+t)]^{\alpha}},$$

where $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ and f is a positive measurable function on X. It is also interesting to observe that if

$$\omega(x,t) = \frac{t^p}{f(x) + g(t)},$$

where f is a positive measurable function on X, and g is a decreasing positive function on $[0, \infty)$, then ω is a Musielak–Orlicz function of uniformly lower type p. Let

 $p_{\omega}^{+} \equiv \inf \left\{ p > 0 : \exists C > 0 \text{ such that } (2.5.1) \text{ holds for all } x \in X, \ t \in [1, \infty), \ s \in (0, \infty) \right\},$

and let

$$p_{\omega}^{-} \equiv \sup\{p > 0 : \exists C > 0 \text{ such that } (2.5.1) \text{ holds for all } x \in X, t \in (0,1], s \in (0,\infty)\}.$$

The function ω is said to be of strictly uniformly lower type p if for all $x \in X$, $t \in (0, 1)$, and $s \in (0, \infty)$, $\omega(x, st) \leq t^p \omega(x, s)$. One then defines

$$p_{\omega} \equiv \sup\{p > 0 : \omega(x, st) \le t^p \omega(x, s) \text{ holds for all } x \in X, s \in (0, \infty) \text{ and } t \in (0, 1)\}.$$

It is easy to see that $p_{\omega} \leq p_{\omega}^- \leq p_{\omega}^+$ for all ω . In what follows, p_{ω} , p_{ω}^- , and p_{ω}^+ are called the *strictly critical lower type index*, the *critical lower type index*, and the *critical upper* type index of ω , respectively.

In the sequel, we assume that ω satisfies the following assumptions.

Assumption (A) Suppose that ω is a Musielak–Orlicz function which is of uniformly upper type 1 and with $p_{\omega} \in (0, 1]$. In addition, for every $x \in X$, $\omega(x, \cdot)$ is continuous, strictly increasing on \mathbb{R}_+ .

Note that if ω satisfies Assumption (A), then it has the following properties (see [56, Lemma 4.1]).

Lemma 2.5.1 (i) The function ω is uniformly σ -quasi-subadditive on $X \times [0, \infty)$; namely, there exists a positive constant C such that for all $(x, t_j) \in X \times [0, \infty)$ with $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+, \ \omega(x, \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} t_j) \leq C \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \omega(x, t_j).$

 $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+, \ \omega(x, \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} t_j) \leq C \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \omega(x, t_j).$ (ii) Let $\widetilde{\omega}(x, t) := \int_0^t \frac{\omega(x, s)}{s} ds$ for all $(x, t) \in X \times [0, \infty)$. Then $\widetilde{\omega}$ is equivalent to ω ; moreover, $\widetilde{\omega}$ also satisfies Assumption (A).

Convention (B) From Assumption (A), it follows that $0 < p_{\omega} \leq p_{\omega}^{-} \leq p_{\omega}^{+} \leq 1$. In what follows, if (2.5.1) holds for p_{ω}^{+} with $t \in [1, \infty)$, then we choose $\tilde{p}_{\omega} \equiv p_{\omega}^{+}$; otherwise $p_{\omega}^{+} < 1$ and we choose $\tilde{p}_{\omega} \in (p_{\omega}^{+}, 1)$ to be close enough to p_{ω}^{+} .

Let ω satisfy Assumption (A). A measurable function f on X is said to be in the Lebesgue-type space $L(\omega)$ if

$$\int_{X} \omega(x, |f(x)|) \, d\mu(x) < \infty.$$

Moreover, for any $f \in L(\omega)$, define

$$||f||_{L(\omega)} = \inf \Big\{ \lambda > 0 : \int_{X} \omega \Big(x, \frac{|f(x)|}{\lambda} \Big) d\mu(x) \le 1 \Big\}.$$

The function ρ defined below plays an important role in the sequel.

Definition 2.5.2 For each $x \in X$, we define the function $\omega^{-1}(x, \cdot)$ and $\rho(x, \cdot)$ on \mathbb{R}_+ as follows:

$$\omega^{-1}(x,t) \equiv \sup\left\{s \ge 0 : \omega(x,s) \le t\right\}$$
(2.5.2)

and

$$\rho(x,t) \equiv \frac{t^{-1}}{\omega^{-1}(x,t^{-1})}.$$
(2.5.3)

Then it is easy to see that $\omega^{-1}(x, \cdot)$ is continuous, strictly increasing and that for every $x \in X$,

$$\omega^{-1}(x,\omega(x,t)) = t$$

and

$$\omega(x,\omega^{-1}(x,t)) = t.$$

Moreover, the types of ω and ω^{-1} have the following relation.

Lemma 2.5.3 Let $0 . If <math>\omega$ is of type (p, q), then ω^{-1} is of type (q^{-1}, p^{-1}) .

Proof. By symmetry, it suffices to show that if ω is of uniformly lower type p, then ω^{-1} is of uniformly upper type p^{-1} . Suppose that there exists a constant $C \ge 1$ such that for all $x \in X$, $s \ge 0$, $t \le 1$,

$$\omega(x,st) \le Ct^p \omega(x,s). \tag{2.5.4}$$

Then for any $x \in X$, $s \ge 0$, $t \ge 1$, and $u \ge 0$ such that $\omega(x, u) \le st$, it follows from (2.5.4) that

$$\omega\left(x,\frac{u}{t^{\frac{1}{p}}}\right) \le \frac{C\omega(x,u)}{t} \le Cs.$$

This implies that

$$u \le t^{\frac{1}{p}} \omega^{-1}(x, Cs),$$

and hence

$$\omega^{-1}(x,st) \le t^{\frac{1}{p}} \omega^{-1}(x,Cs).$$
(2.5.5)

On the other hand, observe that

$$\omega^{-1}(x, Cs) = \sup\left\{\lambda \ge 0 : \frac{\omega(x, \lambda)}{C} \le s\right\}$$

and, by (2.5.4), for any $\lambda \geq 0$,

$$\omega\left(x,\frac{\lambda}{C^{\frac{2}{p}}}\right) \leq \frac{\omega(x,\lambda)}{C},$$

then we deduce that

$$\omega^{-1}(x, Cs) \le C^{\frac{2}{p}} \omega^{-1}(x, s), \qquad (2.5.6)$$

which together with (2.5.5) completes the proof of Lemma 2.5.3.

Hereafter, we shall assume the following condition on the function ω .

Assumption (C) Let ω satisfy Assumption (A) and the following conditions:

(i) there exist positive constants C_1, C_2 such that for any $x \in X, C_1 \leq \omega(x, 1) \leq C_2$;

(ii) there exists a positive constant C such that for any locally integrable positive function f on X, for any ball B in X,

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} \omega\left(x, f(x)\right) d\mu(x) \le C \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} f(y) d\mu(y)\right).$$

Remark 2.5.4 A typical example of Musielak–Orlicz function ω that satisfies Assumption (C) is $\omega(x,t) = h(x)\varphi(t)$ for all $x \in X$ and $t \in [0,\infty)$, where h is a measurable function on X so that there exist positive constants C_1 , C_2 such that, for any $x \in X$, $C_1 \leq h(x) \leq C_2$ and φ is an increasing, continuous, and concave Orlicz function on $[0,\infty)$ with $p_{\varphi} \in (0,1]$.

3

Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated with divergence form elliptic operators

3.1 Basic notation and known facts on the divergence form elliptic operator L

We first make some conventions. Throughout the whole chapter, L always denotes the second-order divergence form operator as defined in (1.0.1) and (1.0.2). We denote by C a positive constant which is independent of the main parameters, but which may vary from line to line. The symbol $X \leq Y$ means that there exists a positive constant C such that $X \leq CY$.

Following [46], let us recall the following indices.

$$p_L \equiv \inf\left\{p \ge 1 : \sup_{t>0} \|e^{-tL}\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty\right\}$$

and

$$\widetilde{p}_L \equiv \sup\left\{p \le \infty : \sup_{t>0} \|e^{-tL}\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty\right\}$$

It was proved by Auscher [3] that if n = 1, 2, then $p_L = 1$ and $\tilde{p}_L = \infty$, and that if $n \ge 3$, then $p_L < 2n/(n+2)$ and $\tilde{p}_L > 2n/(n-2)$. One could detail other situations: for example, if the matrix A is real-valued, then the heat kernel has Gaussian bounds and so $p_L = 1$ and $\tilde{p}_L = \infty$, due to Theorem 4 in [10] or the case of a higher-order operator (see Section 7.2 of [5]).

Recall that for all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the Lusin area function is defined by

$$\mathcal{S}_L f(x) \equiv \left(\iint_{\Gamma(x)} |t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f(y)|^2 \frac{dy \, dt}{t^{n+1}} \right)^{1/2}.$$
 (3.1.1)

where, $\Gamma(x) \equiv \{(y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (0,\infty) : |x-y| < t\}.$

A family $\{S_t\}_{t>0}$ of operators is said to satisfy the L^2 off-diagonal estimates, which are also called the *Gaffney estimates* (see [46]), if there exist positive constants c, C, and β such that for arbitrary closed sets $E, F \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$||S_t f||_{L^2(F)} \le C e^{-(\frac{\operatorname{dist}(E,F)^2}{ct})^{\beta}} ||f||_{L^2(E)}$$

for every t > 0 and every $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported in E. In the sequel, we will need the following important results which were obtained in [3], [6], [46], and [47].

Lemma 3.1.1 ([47]) If two families of operators, $\{S_t\}_{t>0}$ and $\{T_t\}_{t>0}$, satisfy Gaffney estimates, then so does $\{S_tT_t\}_{t>0}$. Moreover, there exist positive constants c, C, and β such that for arbitrary closed sets $E, F \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$||S_s T_t f||_{L^2(F)} \le C e^{-\left(\frac{\operatorname{dist}(E,F)^2}{c \max\{s,t\}}\right)^{\beta}} ||f||_{L^2(E)}$$

for every s, t > 0 and every $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported in E.

Lemma 3.1.2 ([6, 47]) The families

$$\{e^{-tL}\}_{t>0}, \quad \{tLe^{-tL}\}_{t>0}, \quad \{t^{1/2}\nabla e^{-tL}\}_{t>0}, \quad (3.1.2)$$

as well as

$$\{(I+tL)^{-1}\}_{t>0}, \{t^{1/2}\nabla(I+tL)^{-1}\}_{t>0},$$
 (3.1.3)

are bounded on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ uniformly in t and satisfy the Gaffney estimates with positive constants c, C depending on n, λ_A , Λ_A as in (1.0.1) only. For the operators in (3.1.2), $\beta = 1$, while in (3.1.3), $\beta = 1/2$.

Lemma 3.1.3 ([3, 46]) There exist $c, C \in (0, \infty)$ such that

(i) for every p and q with $p_L , the families <math>\{e^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ and $\{tLe^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ satisfy $L^p - L^q$ off-diagonal estimates; that is, for arbitrary closed sets $E, F \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|e^{-tL}f\|_{L^{q}(F)} + \|tLe^{-tL}f\|_{L^{q}(F)} \le Ct^{\frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p})}e^{-\frac{\operatorname{dist}(E,F)^{2}}{ct}}\|f\|_{L^{p}(E)}$$

for every t > 0 and every $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported in E, and thus the operators $\{e^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ and $\{tLe^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ are bounded from $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with the norm $Ct^{\frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p})}$;

(ii) for every $p \in (p_L, \tilde{p}_L)$, the family $\{(I + tL)^{-1}\}_{t>0}$ satisfies $L^p - L^p$ off-diagonal estimates; that is, for arbitrary closed sets $E, F \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\|(I+tL)^{-1}f\|_{L^{q}(F)} \leq Ct^{\frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p})}e^{-\frac{\operatorname{dist}(E,F)}{ct^{1/2}}}\|f\|_{L^{p}(E)}$$

for every t > 0 and every $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported in E.

Lemma 3.1.4 ([46]) Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p \in (p_L, \tilde{p}_L)$. Then the operator given by for any $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\mathcal{S}_{L}^{k}f(x) \equiv \left(\iint_{\Gamma(x)} |(t^{2}L)^{k}e^{-t^{2}L}f(y)|^{2}\frac{dy\,dt}{t^{n+1}}\right)^{1/2},$$

is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

3.2 Tent spaces associated to Musielak–Orlicz functions

In this section, we will deal with the tent spaces associated to Musielak–Orlicz functions. Let us first recall some notions.

For any $\nu > 0$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, denote by

$$\Gamma_{\nu}(x) \equiv \{(y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+} : |x-y| < \nu t\}$$

the cone of aperture ν with vertex $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, where $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \equiv \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$. For any closed set F of \mathbb{R}^n , denote by $\mathcal{R}_{\nu}F$ the union of all cones with vertices in F, that is, $\mathcal{R}_{\nu}F \equiv \bigcup_{x \in F} \Gamma_{\nu}(x)$; and for any open set O in \mathbb{R}^n , denote the tent over O by $T_{\nu}(O) \equiv [\mathcal{R}_{\nu}(O^{\complement})]^{\complement}$. Apparently,

$$T_{\nu}(O) = \{ (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (0,\infty) : \text{ dist} (x,O^{\complement}) \ge \nu t \}.$$

In addition, we denote $\Gamma_1(x)$, $\mathcal{R}_1(F)$, and $T_1(O)$ simply by $\Gamma(x)$, $\mathcal{R}(F)$, and \widehat{O} , respectively.

Let F be a closed subset of \mathbb{R}^n , and let $O \equiv F^{\complement}$. Assume that $|O| < \infty$. For a fixed $\gamma \in (0, 1)$, we say that $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ has the global γ -density with respect to F if

$$\frac{|B(x,r)\cap F|}{|B(x,r)|} \geq \gamma$$

for all r > 0. Denote by F^* the set of all such x and $O^* \equiv (F^*)^{\complement}$. Clearly, F^* is a closed subset of F, and $O \subset O^*$. In fact, we have

$$O^* = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{M}(\chi_O)(x) > 1 - \gamma \},\$$

where \mathcal{M} denotes the Hardy–Littlewood maximal function on \mathbb{R}^n . As a result, it follows from the weak type (1, 1) of \mathcal{M} that $|O^*| \leq C(\gamma)|O|$, where $C(\gamma)$ is a constant depending on γ .

We recall here the following lemma whose proof is similar to that of [24, Lemma 2] and so we omit the details.

Lemma 3.2.1 Let ν , $\eta \in (0, \infty)$. Then there exist positive constants $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ and $C(\gamma, \nu, \eta)$ such that for any closed subset F of \mathbb{R}^n whose complement has finite measure and any nonnegative measurable function H on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ ,

$$\iint_{\mathcal{R}_{\nu}(F^*)} H(y,t)t^n \, dy \, dt \le C(\gamma,\nu,\eta) \int_F \left\{ \iint_{\Gamma_{\eta}(x)} H(y,t) \, dy \, dt \right\} \, dx,$$

where F^* denotes the set of points in \mathbb{R}^n with global γ -density with respect to F.

For $\nu \in (0, \infty)$, for all measurable functions g on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let us denote

$$\mathcal{A}_{\nu}(g)(x) \equiv \left(\iint_{\Gamma_{\nu}(x)} |g(y,t)|^2 \frac{dy \, dt}{t^{n+1}} \right)^{1/2},$$

and denote $\mathcal{A}_1(g)$ simply by $\mathcal{A}(g)$.

Following [24], the tent space $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ for $p \in (0,\infty)$ is defined as the space of all measurable functions g such that $\|g\|_{T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \equiv \|\mathcal{A}(g)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$.

Now let ω satisfy Assumption (A) (see page 27). Then we define the tent space $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ associated to the function ω as the space of measurable functions g on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ such that $\mathcal{A}(g) \in L(\omega)$ with the norm defined by

$$\|g\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})} \equiv \|\mathcal{A}(g)\|_{L(\omega)} = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega\left(x, \frac{\mathcal{A}(g)(x)}{\lambda}\right) \, dx \le 1\right\}.$$

Note that the definition of the tent space $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ above is similar to that of [43].

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, let ω satisfy Assumption (C) (see page 27 and 28), and let ρ be the function defined by (2.5.3). A function a on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ is called an (ω, p) -atom if

- (i) there exists a ball $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\operatorname{supp} a \subset \widehat{B}$;
- (ii) $||a||_{T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \le |B|^{1/p-1} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, |B|)]^{-1}.$

Furthermore, if a is an (ω, p) -atom for all $p \in (1, \infty)$, we then call a an (ω, ∞) -atom.

Remark 3.2.2 (i) It is not difficult to verify that for a function ω satisfying Assumption (C), there exist positive constants K_1 , K_2 such that for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $K_1 \leq \omega^{-1}(x,1) \leq K_2$ and hence $\inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x,|B|)]^{-1}$ is strictly positive.

(ii) In addition, for all (ω, p) -atoms a, we have $||a||_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})} \lesssim 1$.

We are now ready to obtain the atomic characterization of the tent space $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

Theorem 3.2.3 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C). Then for any $f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$, there exist (ω, ∞) -atoms $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and numbers $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that for almost every $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$,

$$f(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j(x,t).$$
(3.2.1)

Moreover, there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$,

$$\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \equiv \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{\lambda |B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho\left(x, |B_j|\right)}\right) \le 1\right\} \le C \|f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)},$$
(3.2.2)

where B_j appears as the support of a_j .

Proof. We will exploit ideas found in [24, proof of Theorem 1] and [49, Theorem 3.1], and prove this theorem by using a similar proof of [49, Theorem 3.1] with certain modifications as our setting of Musielak-Orlicz function is more general.

Let us first show the decomposition (3.2.1) holds. Assume that $f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. If for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, we set $O_k \equiv \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) > 2^k\}$ then O_k is an open set and $|O_k| < \infty$. The complement of O_k is denoted by F_k . For any non-positive integer k, it follows from Lemma 3.2.1 that

$$\iint_{\mathcal{R}(F_k^*)} |f(y,t)|^2 \frac{dy \, dt}{t} \qquad \lesssim \int_{F_k} \iint_{\Gamma(x)} |f(y,t)|^2 \frac{dy \, dt}{t^{n+1}} \, dx \lesssim \int_{F_k} \mathcal{A}(f)(x)^2 \, dx.$$

Note that ω is of uniformly upper type 1 and $1 \leq \omega(x, 1)$. So we obtain the following estimate

$$\int_{F_k} \mathcal{A}(f)(x)^2 \, dx \lesssim \int_{F_k} \omega(x, \mathcal{A}(f)(x)) \, dx$$

which together with the previous inequalities implies

$$\iint_{\mathcal{R}(F_k^*)} |f(y,t)|^2 \frac{dy \, dt}{t} \lesssim \int_{F_k} \omega(x, \mathcal{A}(f)(x)) dx. \tag{3.2.3}$$

Observe that if let $k \to -\infty$ then by the definition of F_k , $\int_{F_k} \omega(x, \mathcal{A}(f)(x)) dx \to 0$. Therefore, the estimate (3.2.3) implies that f = 0 almost everywhere in $\bigcap_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{R}(F_k^*)$, and supp $f \subset \{\bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{O}_k^* \cup E\}$, where $E \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ and $\iint_E \frac{dx dt}{t} = 0$. At this stage, we will borrow the same idea in the proof of [49, Theorem 3.1] about

employing the Whitney decomposition to the sets O_k^* , so that we can obtain a set I_k of indices and a family $\{Q_{k,j}\}_{j\in I_k}$ of cubes satisfying the following properties:

(i) $\bigcup_{j \in I_k} Q_{k,j} = O_k^*$, and $Q_{k,j} \cap Q_{k,i} = \emptyset$ if $i \neq j$. (ii) $\sqrt{n\ell(Q_{k,j})} \leq \text{dist}(Q_{k,j}, (O_k^*)^{\complement}) \leq 4\sqrt{n\ell(Q_{k,j})}$, where $\ell(Q_{k,j})$ denotes the side length of $Q_{k,j}$.

Then, for each $j \in I_k$, we choose a ball $B_{k,j}$ with the same center as $Q_{k,j}$ and with radius $\frac{11}{2}\sqrt{n}$ -times $\ell(Q_{k,j})$. Then we set $\lambda_{k,j} \equiv 2^k |B_{k,j}| \sup_{x \in B_{k,j}} [\rho(x, |B_{k,j}|)]$ and

$$a_{k,j} \equiv 2^{-k} |B_{k,j}|^{-1} \inf_{x \in B_{k,j}} \left[\rho\left(x, |B_{k,j}|\right) \right]^{-1} f \chi_{A_{k,j}},$$

where $A_{k,j} \equiv \widehat{B_{k,j}} \cap (Q_{k,j} \times (0,\infty)) \cap (\widehat{O_k^*} \setminus \widehat{O_{k+1}^*})$. Then it follows from the inclusion $\{(Q_{k,j} \times (0,\infty)) \cap (\widehat{O_k^*} \setminus \widehat{O_{k+1}^*})\} \subset \widehat{B_{k,j}} \text{ that } f = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j \in I_k} \lambda_{k,j} a_{k,j} \text{ almost everywhere.}$ Our next step is to show that for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $j \in I_k$, $a_{k,j}$ is an (ω, ∞) -

atom supported in $\widehat{B}_{k,j}$. In fact, taking any $p \in (1,\infty)$ and any $h \in T_2^q(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ with $\|h\|_{T_2^q(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \leq 1$, where q is the conjugate index of p. Then it follows from Lemma 3.2.1, from the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and from the fact $A_{k,j} \subset (\widehat{O_{k+1}^*})^{\complement} = \mathcal{R}(F_{k+1}^*)$ that

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle a_{k,j},h\rangle| &\leq \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} |(a_{k,j}\chi_{A_{k,j}})(y,t)h(y,t)| \frac{dy\,dt}{t} \\ &\lesssim \int_{F_{k+1}} \iint_{\Gamma(x)} |a_{k,j}(y,t)h(y,t)| \frac{dy\,dt}{t^{n+1}}\,dx \lesssim \int_{(O_{k+1})^{\complement}} \mathcal{A}(a_{k,j})(x)\mathcal{A}(h)(x)d\mu(x). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, applying the Hölder inequality with the pair (p,q) to the rightmost side of the above estimates gives

$$|\langle a_{k,j},h\rangle| \lesssim 2^{-k} |B_{k,j}|^{-1} \inf_{x \in B_{k,j}} \left[\rho\left(x,|B_{k,j}|\right)\right]^{-1} \left(\int_{B_{k,j} \cap O_{k+1}^{\complement}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx\right)^{1/p} \|h\|_{T_2^q(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}.$$

Note that

$$\left(\int_{B_{k,j}\cap O_{k+1}^{\complement}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx\right)^{1/p} \le 2^{k+1} |B_{k,j}|^{1/p}.$$

Now it is clear to see that

$$|\langle a_{k,j},h\rangle| \lesssim |B_{k,j}|^{1/p-1} \inf_{x \in B_{k,j}} [\rho(x,|B_{k,j}|)]^{-1},$$

which implies that $a_{k,j}$ is an (ω, p) -atom supported in $\widehat{B}_{k,j}$ for all $p \in (1, \infty)$. In other words, $a_{k,j}$ is an (ω, ∞) -atom.

Finally, for any $\lambda > 0$, put

$$Z_{\lambda} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j \in I_{k}} |B_{k,j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda_{k,j}|}{\lambda |B_{k,j}| \sup_{x \in B_{k,j}} \rho(x, |B_{k,j}|)} \right)$$

Then by the choice of $B_{k,j}$, we have

$$Z_{\lambda} \lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j \in I_{k}} |Q_{k,j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega\left(x, \frac{2^{k}}{\lambda}\right).$$

But from the property (i) of the Whitney decomposition to the set O_k^* , it follows that

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{j\in I_k}|Q_{k,j}|\inf_{x\in\mathbb{R}^n}\omega\left(x,\frac{2^k}{\lambda}\right)\lesssim \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}|O_k^*|\inf_{x\in\mathbb{R}^n}\omega\left(x,\frac{2^k}{\lambda}\right)\lesssim \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}|O_k|\inf_{x\in\mathbb{R}^n}\omega\left(x,\frac{2^k}{\lambda}\right),$$

which implies that

$$Z_{\lambda} \lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |O_k| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{2^k}{\lambda}\right) := W_{\lambda}.$$
(3.2.4)

Let us now estimate W_{λ} as follows:

$$W_{\lambda} \lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{O_k} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{2^k}{\lambda}\right) \, dx \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{k < \log_2[\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{2^k}{\lambda}\right) \, dx.$$

Since ω is of upper type 1, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{k < \log_2[\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{2^k}{\lambda}\right) \, dx \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{k < \log_2[\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]} \int_{2^k}^{2^{k+1}} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{t}{\lambda}\right) \frac{dt}{t} \, dx.$$

Therefore, we deduce

$$W_{\lambda} \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{k < \log_{2}[\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]} \int_{2^{k}}^{2^{k+1}} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega\left(x, \frac{t}{\lambda}\right) \frac{dt}{t} \, dx \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{0}^{\frac{2\mathcal{A}(f)(x)}{\lambda}} \omega(x, t) \frac{dt}{t} \, dx.$$

Then in view of Lemma 2.5.1, we further obtain

$$W_{\lambda} \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{\mathcal{A}(f)(x)}{\lambda}\right) dx.$$
 (3.2.5)

Lastly, combining (3.2.4) and (3.2.5) yields

$$Z_{\lambda} \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{\mathcal{A}(f)(x)}{\lambda}\right) dx,$$
 (3.2.6)

which implies that (3.2.2) holds, and hence, completes the proof of Theorem 3.2.3.

Remark 3.2.4 (i) The main ideas from [49] employed in the proof of Theorem 3.2.3 are that the set $A_{k,j}$ are independent of ω , and that atoms can be rescaled.

(ii) Let $\{\lambda_j^i\}_{i,j} \subset \mathbb{C}$ and $\{a_j^i\}_{i,j}$ be (ω, p) -atoms for certain $p \in (1, \infty)$, where i = 1, 2. If $\sum_j \lambda_j^1 a_j^1$, $\sum_j \lambda_j^2 a_j^2 \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, then since ω is subadditive and of strictly uniformly lower type p_{ω} , one has

$$\left[\Lambda(\{\lambda_j^i a_j^i\}_{i,j})\right]^{p_{\omega}} \le \sum_{i=1}^2 \left[\Lambda(\{\lambda_j^i a_j^i\}_j)\right]^{p_{\omega}}$$

Proposition 3.2.5 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), and let $p \in (0, \infty)$. If $f \in (T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}) \cap T_{2}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}))$, then there exists a decomposition into (ω, ∞) -atoms for f as in (3.2.1) that converges in both spaces $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$ and $T_{2}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$.

Proof. The proof that there exists a decomposition into (ω, ∞) -atoms for f as in (3.2.1) that converges in $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ is analogous to that of [49, Proposition 3.1] and we omit the details. We only need to show that the decomposition (3.2.1) converges in $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. To this end, let us first show that

$$E_N := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \mathcal{A} \left(f - \sum_{|k|+|j| \le N} \lambda_{k,j} a_{k,j} \right) (x) \right) \, dx \to 0$$

as $N \to 0$. In fact, it follows from the Assumption (C) of ω and the subadditive property of \mathcal{A} that

$$E_N \leq \sum_{|k|+|j|>N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \mathcal{A}(\lambda_{k,j}a_{k,j})(x)\right) dx$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{|k|+|j|>N} |B_{k,j}| \inf_{x\in\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{1}{|B_{k,j}|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathcal{A}(\lambda_{k,j}a_{k,j})(x) dx\right).$$

Note that for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $j \in I_k$, applying the Hölder inequality gives

$$\frac{1}{|B_{k,j}|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathcal{A}(\lambda_{k,j} a_{k,j})(x) \, dx \le \frac{|\lambda_{k,j}|}{|B_{k,j}|^{1/2}} \|a_{k,j}\|_{T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \le \frac{|\lambda_{k,j}|}{|B_{k,j}| \sup_{x \in B_{k,j}} \rho(x, |B_{k,j}|)},$$

which implies that

$$E_N \lesssim \sum_{|k|+|j|>N} |B_{k,j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda_{k,j}|}{|B_{k,j}| \sup_{x \in B_{k,j}} \rho(x, |B_{k,j}|)} \right).$$
(3.2.7)

With this inequality at hand, in the light of the estimate (3.2.6), it is clear to see that $E_N \to 0$ as $N \to 0$.

As a result, for any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that as $N > N_0$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathcal{A} \left[f - \sum_{|k|+|j| \le N} \lambda_{k,j} a_{k,j} \right] (x) \right) \, dx \le 1,$$

that is, as $N > N_0$,

$$\|f - \sum_{|k|+|j| \le N} \lambda_{k,j} a_{k,j}\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \le \epsilon.$$

Therefore, (3.2.1) holds in $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and we complete the proof of Proposition 3.2.5.

One consequence of Proposition 3.2.5 is the following result which plays a significant role in this chapter.

Corollary 3.2.6 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C). If $f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \cap T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, then $f \in T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ for all $p \in [1, 2]$, and hence, there exists a decomposition into (ω, ∞) -atoms for f as in (3.2.1) that converges in both spaces $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

Proof. Assume that $f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \cap T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. In view of Proposition 3.2.5, it suffices to show that $f \in T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ for all $p \in [1,2]$. To this end, we write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx = \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) < 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx + \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) \ge 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx.$$

But then

$$\int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) < 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx \le \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) < 1\}} \mathcal{A}(f)(x) \, dx.$$

Since ω is of uniformly upper type 1, we have

$$\int_{\{x\in\mathbb{R}^n:\,\mathcal{A}(f)(x)<1\}}\mathcal{A}(f)(x)\,dx\lesssim\int_{\{x\in\mathbb{R}^n:\,\mathcal{A}(f)(x)<1\}}\omega(x,\mathcal{A}(f)(x))\,dx\lesssim\|f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}.$$

So we deduce

$$\int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) < 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx \lesssim \|f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}.$$
(3.2.8)

On the other hand, observe that

$$\int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) \ge 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^p \, dx \le \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) \ge 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^2 \, dx \le \|f\|_{T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}^2. \quad (3.2.9)$$

Now it follows from (3.2.8) and (3.2.9) that $f \in T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

For $p \in (0, \infty)$, let us denote by $T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $T^{p,c}_2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ the set of all functions in $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $T^p_2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ with compact supports, respectively. Then we have the following result.

Lemma 3.2.7 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C). Then $T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ coincides with $T^{2,c}_2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

Proof. Let us first prove $T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \subset T^{2,c}_2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. It suffices to show that $T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \subset T^{p,c}_2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ for certain $p \in (0, \infty)$, in view of [49, Lemma 3.3, (i)]. In fact, given any $f \in T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and a compact set K in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ such that $\operatorname{supp} f \subset K$. If we choose a ball B in \mathbb{R}^n such that $K \subset \widehat{B}$, then $\operatorname{supp} \mathcal{A}(f) \subset B$. Now we write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^{p_\omega} \, dx = \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) < 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^{p_\omega} \, dx + \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) \ge 1\}} [\mathcal{A}(f)(x)]^{p_\omega} \, dx,$$

where p_{ω} is the uniformly lower type index of ω . Observe that the first term of the right hand side above is dominated by C|B| while the second is bounded by $C\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, \mathcal{A}(f)(x)) dx$. Thus, $f \in T_2^{p_{\omega}, c}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$.

Conversely, taking any $f \in T_2^{1,c}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \equiv T_2^{2,c}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and a compact set K in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ such that $\operatorname{supp} f \subset K$. Then there exists a ball B such that $K \subset \widehat{B}$ and $\operatorname{supp} \mathcal{A}(f) \subset B$. Now, using the uniformly upper type 1 property and the condition (i) in Assumption (C) of ω , we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, \mathcal{A}(f)(x)) \, dx \lesssim \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) < 1\}} \omega(x, \mathcal{A}(f)(x)) \, dx + \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathcal{A}(f)(x) \ge 1\}} \mathcal{A}(f)(x) \, dx.$$

Note that the entire right hand side of the above estimate is dominated by $C(|B| + ||f||_{T_2^1(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)})$. So we have $f \in T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, which completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.7.

3.3 Musielak–Orlicz spaces and their dual spaces

Employing some ideas from [36, 46, 49], our aim in this section is to introduce the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to L via the Lusin area function S_L defined as in (3.1.1). Then we will study their dual spaces. In the entire section, Assumption (C) is always posed on the Musielak–Orlicz function ω . In addition, for a ball $B \equiv B(x_B, r_B)$, we set $U_0(B) \equiv B$, and for $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $U_j(B) \equiv B(x_B, 2^j r_B) \setminus B(x_B, 2^{j-1}r_B)$.

Definition 3.3.1 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C). A function $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is said to be in $\widetilde{H}_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if $\mathcal{S}_L f \in L(\omega)$; moreover, define

$$\|f\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \|\mathcal{S}_L f\|_{L(\omega)} = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0 : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{\mathcal{S}_L f(x)}{\lambda}\right) \, dx \le 1\right\}.$$

The Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the completion of $\widetilde{H}_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Remark 3.3.2 (i) It is well-known that $\widetilde{H}_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is dense in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, see for example [87, page 56]. Moreover, if $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $\widetilde{H}_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then there exists a unique $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\lim_{k\to\infty} ||f_k - f||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 0$.

(ii) For any $f_1, f_2 \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have the following:

$$\|f_1 + f_2\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p_{\omega}} \le \|f_1\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p_{\omega}} + \|f_2\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p_{\omega}}.$$

In fact, let $\lambda_1 \equiv \|f_1\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p_\omega}$ and $\lambda_2 \equiv \|f_2\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p_\omega}$, from the subadditivity, the continuity, and the uniformly lower type p_ω of ω , it follows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{\mathcal{S}_L(f_1 + f_2)(x)}{(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)^{1/p_\omega}} \right) dx \qquad \leq \sum_{i=1}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{\mathcal{S}_L(f_i)(x)}{(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)^{1/p_\omega}} \right) dx$$
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^2 \frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{\mathcal{S}_L(f_i)(x)}{\lambda_i^{1/p_\omega}} \right) dx \leq 1,$$

which implies that $||f_1 + f_2||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le (||f_1||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p_\omega} + ||f_2||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{p_\omega})^{1/p_\omega}$.

Definition 3.3.3 Let $q \in (p_L, \tilde{p}_L)$, let $M \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$. A function $\alpha \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is called an (ω, q, M, ϵ) -molecule adapted to B if there exists a ball B such that

(i) $\|\alpha\|_{L^q(U_j(B))} \lesssim 2^{-j\epsilon} |2^j B|^{1/q-1} \inf_{x \in B} \left[\rho\left(x, |2^j B|\right)\right]^{-1}, \ j \in \mathbb{Z}_+;$

(ii) for every k = 1, ..., M and $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, there holds

$$\|(r_B^{-2}L^{-1})^k \alpha\|_{L^q(U_j(B))} \lesssim 2^{-j\epsilon} |2^j B|^{1/q-1} \inf_{x \in B} \left[\rho\left(x, |2^j B|\right)\right]^{-1}.$$

Finally, if α is an (ω, q, M, ϵ) -molecule for all $q \in (p_L, \tilde{p}_L)$, then α is called an $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule.

3.3.1 Molecular decompositions of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

Let us begin this section with the following lemmas.

Lemma 3.3.4 Let $\pi_{L,M}$ be as in (1.0.3). Then the operator $\pi_{L,M}$, initially defined on $T_2^{p,c}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, extends to a bounded linear operator from $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $p \in (p_L, \tilde{p}_L)$.

Proof. We refer the reader to [49, Proposition 4.1, (i)] for the proof of Lemma 3.3.4.

Lemma 3.3.5 Let $\pi_{L,M}$ be as in (1.0.3). Assume that a is an (ω, ∞) -atom supported in a ball B. Then for any fixed $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$, $\alpha = \pi_{L,M}(a)$ is a multiple of an $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ molecule adapted to the ball B.

Proof. The proof of this lemma is closely similar to the work from line 3, page 1187 to line 2, page 1188 of [49]. Hence we omit the details here.

Our first result in this section is now formulated as follows.

Proposition 3.3.6 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), let $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$, and let $\pi_{L,M}$ be as in (1.0.3). Then the operator $\pi_{L,M}$, initially defined on $T^{c}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$, extends to a bounded linear operator from $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$ to $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$.

Proof. First assume that $f \in T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Then it follows from Theorem 3.2.3 that there exist (ω, ∞) -atoms $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and numbers $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j$ pointwise and $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \lesssim \|f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}$.

In addition, in view of Lemma 3.2.7, we deduce $f \in T_2^{2,c}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, which if combined with Corollary 3.2.6 and Lemma 3.3.4 implies that

$$\pi_{L,M}(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \pi_{L,M}(a_j) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \alpha_j$$

in $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, for all $p \in (p_{L}, 2]$. As a result, using the subadditivity and the continuity of ω , and the fact that the operator \mathcal{S}_{L} is bounded on $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, \mathcal{S}_L(\pi_{L,M}(f))(x)) \, dx \le \sum_{j=1}^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, |\lambda_j| \mathcal{S}_L(\alpha_j)(x)) \, dx. \tag{3.3.1}$$

Observe further that by Lemma 3.3.5 for any fixed $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$, $\alpha_j = \pi_{L,M}(a_j)$ is a multiple of an $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule adapted to B_j for each j.

Now let $q \in (p_L, \tilde{p}_L)$, and let $\epsilon > n(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{\omega}})$, where \tilde{p}_{ω} is as in Convention (B). Our next step is to prove that for any (ω, q, M, ϵ) -molecule α adapted to the ball $B \equiv B(x_B, r_B)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, |\lambda| \mathcal{S}_L(\alpha)(x)) \, dx \lesssim |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}\right). \tag{3.3.2}$$

Once (3.3.2) is proved, it follows that $\|\alpha\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$, and (together with (3.3.1)) that for all $f \in T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, \mathcal{S}_L(\pi_{L,M}(f))(x)) \, dx \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^\infty |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)}\right).$$

In other words, for all $f \in T^c_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, we deduce

$$\|\pi_{L,M}(f)\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \lesssim \|f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)},$$

which implies (ii) via a density argument.

So, it remains to prove (3.3.2). Observe that if q > 2, then an (ω, q, M, ϵ) -molecule is also an $(\omega, 2, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule. As a result, it now suffices to show (3.3.2) for $q \in (p_L, 2]$. In fact, we will follow the similar idea as in the proof of [49, Proposition 4.2] to estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, |\lambda| \mathcal{S}_L(\alpha)(x)) \, dx \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^\infty \mathcal{H}_j + \sum_{j=0}^\infty \mathcal{I}_j, \qquad (3.3.3)$$

where

$$\mathbf{H}_{j} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega(x, |\lambda| \mathcal{S}_{L}([I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha \chi_{U_{j}(B)}))(x)) dx$$
(3.3.4)

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{j} = \sup_{1 \le k \le M} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, |\lambda| \mathcal{S}_{L} \left\{ \left[\frac{k}{M} r_{B}^{2} L e^{-\frac{k}{M} r_{B}^{2} L} \right]^{M} \left(\chi_{U_{j}(B)} (r_{B}^{-2} L^{-1})^{M} \alpha \right) \right\} (x) \right) dx.$$

$$(3.3.5)$$

Let us first estimate the terms H_j as in (3.3.4). For each $j \ge 0$, set $B_j \equiv 2^j B$, then it follows from Assumption (C) that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{H}_{j} & \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{U_{k}(B_{j})} \omega(x, |\lambda| \mathcal{S}_{L}([I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha \chi_{U_{j}(B)}))(x)) \, dx \\ & \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |2^{k}B_{j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|2^{k}B_{j}|} \int_{U_{k}(B_{j})} \mathcal{S}_{L}([I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha \chi_{U_{j}(B)}))(x) \, dx\right). \end{split}$$

Next, applying the Hölder inequality implies that

$$H_{j} \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |2^{k}B_{j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|2^{k}B_{j}|^{1/q}} \| \mathcal{S}_{L}([I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha \chi_{U_{j}(B)})) \|_{L^{q}(U_{k}(B_{j}))} \right).$$
(3.3.6)

Let us recall here, in view of the proof of [46, Lemma 4.2, (4.22) and (4.27)], that for k = 0, 1, 2,

$$\|\mathcal{S}_{L}([I-e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha\chi_{U_{j}(B)}))\|_{L^{q}(U_{k}(B_{j}))} \lesssim \|\alpha\|_{L^{q}(U_{j}(B))},$$

and for $k \geq 3$,

$$\|\mathcal{S}_{L}([I-e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha\chi_{U_{j}(B)}))\|_{L^{q}(U_{k}(B_{j}))}^{2} \lesssim k\left(\frac{1}{2^{k+j}}\right)^{4M+2(n/2-n/q)} \|\alpha\|_{L^{q}(U_{j}(B))}^{2}$$

Bringing these estimates to (3.3.6), together with Definition 3.3.3, yields

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H}_{j} & \lesssim |B_{j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda| 2^{-j\epsilon}}{|B_{j}| \sup_{x \in B_{j}} \rho(x, |B_{j}|)} \right) \\ & + \sum_{k=3}^{\infty} |2^{k} B_{j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda| \sqrt{k} 2^{-(2M+n/2-n/q)(j+k)-j\epsilon}}{|2^{k} B_{j}|^{1/q} |B_{j}|^{1-1/q} \sup_{x \in B_{j}} \rho(x, |B_{j}|)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

After some simple calculations, using the uniformly lower type p_{ω} of ω , we obtain

$$\mathbf{H}_{j} \qquad \lesssim 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} \left\{ 1 + \sum_{k=3}^{\infty} \sqrt{k} 2^{kn(1-p_{\omega}/q)} 2^{-p_{\omega}(2M+n/2-n/q)(j+k)} \right\} \times \\ |B_{j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B_{j}| \sup_{x \in B_{j}} \rho(x, |B_{j}|)} \right).$$

Note that $2Mp_{\omega} > n(1 - p_{\omega}/2)$, so the above estimate implies that

$$\mathbf{H}_{j} \lesssim 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} |B_{j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B_{j}| \sup_{x \in B_{j}} \rho(x, |B_{j}|)} \right).$$
(3.3.7)

With the estimates (3.3.7) on H_j , exploiting again the fact that ω is of uniformly lower type p_{ω} gives

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_j \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} |B_j| \left\{ \frac{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right\}^{p_{\omega}} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}\right).$$

Since ω^{-1} is of uniformly lower type $1/\tilde{p}_{\omega}$ by Lemma 2.5.3, the previous inequality further implies that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_{j} & \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} |B_{j}| \left\{ \frac{|B|}{|B_{j}|} \right\}^{p_{\omega}/\widetilde{p}_{\omega}} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right) \\ & \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} 2^{jn(1-p_{\omega}/\widetilde{p}_{\omega})} |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right). \end{split}$$

Eventually, note that $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/\tilde{p}_{\omega})$, we then obtain the desired estimate

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{H}_j \lesssim |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right).$$
(3.3.8)

Similarly, we also obtain

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{I}_j \lesssim |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right),$$

which if combined with (3.3.8) completes the proof of (3.3.2), and hence, the proof of Proposition 3.3.6.

Proposition 3.3.7 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), let $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^+)$, and let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$. If $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $p \in (p_L, 2]$ and there exist $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ -molecules $\{\alpha_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and numbers $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \alpha_j \tag{3.3.9}$$

in both $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $p \in (p_L, 2]$. Moreover, there exists a positive constant C independent of f such that for all $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\Lambda(\{\lambda_j \alpha_j\}_j) \equiv \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{\lambda |B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right) \le 1 \right\} \le C \|f\|_{H_{\omega, L}(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$
(3.3.10)

where for each j, α_i is adapted to the ball B_i .

Proof. Assume that $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then it was pointed out in the proof of [49, Proposition 4.2], using the $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ functional calculi for L, that

$$f = C_M \int_0^\infty (t^2 L)^{M+2} e^{-2t^2 L} f \frac{dt}{t} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \pi_{L,M}(\chi_{O_N}(t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f))$$

in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\pi_{L,M}$, C_M are as in (1.0.3), and for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $O_N := \{(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : |x| < N, 1/N < t < N\}.$

Since $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it is easy to verify that $t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f \in T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \cap T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, using Definition 3.3.1 and Lemma 3.1.4. It then follows from Corollary 3.2.6 that $t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f \in T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, which if combined with Lemma 3.3.4 implies that $\{\pi_{L,M}(\chi_{O_N}(t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f))\}_N$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. At this stage, by taking subsequence together with the fact that $f = \lim_{N \to \infty} \pi_{L,M}(\chi_{O_N}(t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f))$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we obtain

$$f = \lim_{N \to \infty} \pi_{L,M}(\chi_{O_N}(t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f))$$

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

On the other hand, it follows from Proposition 3.2.5 that there exist (ω, ∞) -atoms $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and numbers $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j$ in $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \lesssim \|t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}$. From here, we again apply Lemma 3.3.4 to get

$$f = \pi_{L,M}(t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \pi_{L,M}(a_j) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \alpha_j$$
(3.3.11)

in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (p_L, 2]$.

Note that for each j, α_j is a multiple of an $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule for any $\epsilon > 0$, $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$ (by Lemma 3.3.5). As a result, the decomposition (3.3.9) holds in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (p_L, 2]$. In addition, observe that $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j \alpha_j\}_j) = \Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \lesssim ||t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f||_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}$, which implies (3.3.10).

To finish the proof of Proposition 3.3.7, it remains to show that (3.3.9) holds in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In fact, it follows from Lemma 3.1.4, the decomposition (3.3.11), and together with the continuity and the subadditivity of ω that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \mathcal{S}_L \left(f - \sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_j \alpha_j \right)(x) \right) \, dx \le \sum_{j=N+1}^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \mathcal{S}_L(\lambda_j \alpha_j)(x) \right) \, dx$$

Let us now choose \widetilde{p}_{ω} as in Convention (C) such that $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/\widetilde{p}_{\omega})$, which is guaranteed by the assumption $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^+)$. Then by (3.3.2), we have

$$\sum_{j=N+1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \mathcal{S}_L(\lambda_j \alpha_j)(x)\right) \, dx \lesssim \sum_{j=N+1}^{\infty} |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} |\rho(x, |B_j|)}\right)$$

Finally, we will follow a similar argument as in the proof of Proposition 3.2.5 to obtain $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \alpha_j$ in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

As a consequence of Proposition 3.3.7, we have the following result.

Corollary 3.3.8 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), let $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^+)$, and let $q \in$ (p_L, \tilde{p}_L) and $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_\omega} - \frac{1}{2})$. Then for every $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exist (ω, q, M, ϵ) molecules $\{\alpha_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and numbers $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \alpha_j$ in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.
Moreover, if letting $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j \alpha_j\}_j)$ be as in (3.3.10), then there exists a positive constant C independent of f such that $\Lambda(\{\lambda_i \alpha_i\}_i) \leq C \|f\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Proof. We prove this result by using a density argument. For any $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exist $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \subset (H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ such that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$||f - f_k||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le 2^{-k} ||f||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

If we set $f_0 \equiv 0$, then $f = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (f_k - f_{k-1})$ in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. On the other hand, it follows from Proposition 3.3.7 that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist (ω, q, M, ϵ) -molecules $\{\alpha_j^k\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and numbers $\{\lambda_j^k\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $f_k - f_{k-1} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j^k \alpha_j^k$ in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j^k a_j^k\}_j) \lesssim \|f_k - f_{k-1}\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$ Therefore, we have $f = \sum_{k,j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j^k \alpha_j^k$ in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In addition, by Remark 3.2.4, we

deduce

$$[\Lambda(\{\lambda_{j}^{k}\alpha_{j}^{k}\}_{k,j})]^{p_{\omega}} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} [\Lambda(\{\lambda_{j}^{k}a_{j}^{k}\}_{j})]^{p_{\omega}} \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|f_{k} - f_{k-1}\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p_{\omega}} \lesssim \|f\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p_{\omega}},$$

which completes the proof of Corollary 3.3.8.

Let us denote by $H^{q,M,\epsilon}_{\omega,\text{fin}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the set of all finite combinations of (ω, q, M, ϵ) -molecules then we immediately obtain the following density result.

Corollary 3.3.9 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), let $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^+)$, and let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$. Then the space $H^{q,M,\epsilon}_{\omega,\text{fin}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is dense in the space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

3.3.2 An equivalent characterization of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

In this subsection, we will characterize the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via the Lusin-area operator \mathcal{S}_P associated to the Poisson semigroup. The divergence form structure of the operator L plays an important role in obtaining this characterization.

Let us first recall here that for any $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the Lusin-area operator \mathcal{S}_P associated to the Poisson semigroup is defined by

$$\mathcal{S}_P f(x) \equiv \left(\iint_{\Gamma(x)} |t\nabla e^{-t\sqrt{L}} f(y)|^2 \frac{dy \, dt}{t} \right)^{1/2}. \tag{3.3.12}$$

Then we define the space $H_{\omega, \mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as follows.

Definition 3.3.10 Let ω satisfy Assumption (A). A function $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is said to be in $\widetilde{H}_{\omega, S_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if $S_P(f) \in L(\omega)$. In addition, let us define

$$\|f\|_{H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \|\mathcal{S}_P(f)\|_{L(\omega)} = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0 : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{\mathcal{S}_P(f)(x)}{\lambda}\right) \, dx \le 1\right\}.$$

The space $H_{\omega,S_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the completion of $\widetilde{H}_{\omega,S_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{H_{\omega,S_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Below are the well-known results on the Lusin-area operator S_P associated to the Poisson semigroup.

Lemma 3.3.11 The Lusin-area operator S_P associated to the Poisson semigroup is bounded on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof. We refer the reader to the proof of (5.15) in [46].

Lemma 3.3.12 There exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\mathcal{S}_P f(x) \le C \mathcal{S}_P f(x),$$
 (3.3.13)

where

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_P f(x) \equiv \left(\iint_{\Gamma(x)} |t^2 L e^{-t\sqrt{L}} f(y)|^2 \frac{dy \, dt}{t^{n+1}} \right)^{1/2}.$$

Proof. See the proof of [46, Lemma 5.4].

In what follows, we also need the following useful result, which is a general variant of [49, Lemma 5.1] on the boundedness of linear or nonnegative sublinear operators from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L(\omega)$.

Lemma 3.3.13 Let $q \in (p_L, 2]$, let ω satisfy Assumption (C), let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$, and let $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^+)$. Suppose that T is a nonnegative sublinear (resp., linear) operator which maps $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ continuously into weak- $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If there exists a positive constant C such that for all $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ -molecules α adapted to balls B and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, T(\lambda\alpha)(x)\right) \, dx \le C|B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}\right),\tag{3.3.14}$$

then T extends to a bounded sublinear (resp., linear) operator from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L(\omega)$. Moreover, there exists a positive constant \widetilde{C} such that for all $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $||Tf||_{L(\omega)} \leq \widetilde{C}||f||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Proof. Because of the density of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it suffices to prove Lemma 3.3.13 for $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

In fact, for any $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $q \in (p_L, 2]$, in the light of Proposition 3.3.7, there exist $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ and $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ -molecules $\{\alpha_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ such that $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j \alpha_j$ in both $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j \alpha_j\}_j) \lesssim \|f\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Now, assume that T is linear, then since T is of weak type (q,q) so $T(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j \alpha_j)$ almost everywhere.

Next, let T be a nonnegative sublinear operator, then it follows from the assumption that T maps $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ continuously into weak- $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ that

$$\sup_{t>0} t^{1/q} \left| \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \left| T(f)(x) - T\left(\sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_j \alpha_j\right)(x) \right| > t \right\} \right| \lesssim \left\| f - \sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_j \alpha_j \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Since $\left\| f - \sum_{j=1}^{N} \lambda_j \alpha_j \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)} \to 0$ as $N \to 0$, the above estimate implies that there exists a subsequence $\{N_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j \alpha_j\right) \to T(f)$$

almost everywhere, as $k \to \infty$. At this stage, using the nonnegativity and the sublinearity of T further gives that

$$T(f) - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j \alpha_j) = T(f) - T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j \alpha_j\right) + T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j \alpha_j\right) - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j \alpha_j)$$
$$\leq T(f) - T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j \alpha_j\right).$$

Then letting $k \to \infty$, it is easy to see that

$$T(f) \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j \alpha_j)$$
(3.3.15)

almost everywhere. Finally, it follows from (3.3.15), the subadditivity and the continuity of ω and from the condition (3.3.14) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, T(f)(x) \right) \, dx \qquad \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, T(\lambda_j \alpha_j)(x) \right) \, dx$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{j=1}^\infty |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right),$$

which implies that

$$||T(f)||_{L(\omega)} \lesssim \Lambda(\{\lambda_j \alpha_j\}_j) \lesssim ||f||_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$

and hence completes the proof of Lemma 3.3.13.

Our main result is now formulated as follows.

Theorem 3.3.14 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C). Then the spaces $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $H_{\omega,S_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ coincide with equivalent norms.

Proof. Let us first prove that $H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In fact, let $\epsilon > n(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{p_{\omega}^+})$, let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$, and let $f \in H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Clearly, it follows from Lemma 3.3.11 and Lemma 3.3.12 that

$$\|\mathcal{S}_P f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|\mathcal{S}_P f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

and

$$\|\mathcal{S}_P f\|_{L(\omega)} \lesssim \|f\|_{H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

As a result of that, it implies that $t^2 Le^{-t\sqrt{L}} f \in (T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \cap T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+))$. Then, by the $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -functional calculi for f, we deduce

$$f = \frac{\hat{C}}{C_M} \pi_{L,M} (t^2 L e^{-t\sqrt{L}} f)$$

in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\pi_{L,M}$ and C_M are as in (1.0.3) and \widetilde{C} is the positive constant such that

$$\widetilde{C} \int_0^\infty t^{2(M+1)} e^{-t^2} t^2 e^{-t} \frac{dt}{t} = 1.$$

At this stage, it follows from the fact that $t^2 L e^{-t\sqrt{L}} f \in T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and from Proposition 3.3.6 that $f \in H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and that

$$\|f\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|t^2 L e^{-t\sqrt{L}} f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \sim \|\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_P f\|_{L(\omega)} \lesssim \|f\|_{H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$

which implies that $H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via a density argument.

Conversely, by using the estimates from (5.16) to (5.22) in the proof of [46, Theorem 5.3] and by following the same arguments to the proof of (3.3.2) in Proposition 3.3.6, we obtain the following similar estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, |\lambda| \mathcal{S}_P(\alpha)(x)) \, dx \lesssim |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}\right) \tag{3.3.16}$$

for any $(\omega, 2, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule α adapted to the ball B and any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Finally, it follows from (3.3.16), from Lemma 3.3.11 and Lemma 3.3.13 that

$$\|f\|_{H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \|\mathcal{S}_P f\|_{L(\omega)} \lesssim \|f\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

which implies that $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset H_{\omega,\mathcal{S}_P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

3.3.3 Dual spaces of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

Our purpose in this section is to study the dual space of the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. First we need to introduce some notation and notions.

Following [46], for $\epsilon > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$, we define the space

$$\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L) \equiv \{ \mu \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|\mu\|_{\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)} < \infty \},\$$

where

$$\|\mu\|_{\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)} \equiv \sup_{j\geq 0} \left\{ 2^{j\epsilon} |B(0,2^j)|^{1/2} \sup_{x\in B(0,2^j)} \rho(x,|B(0,2^j)|) \sum_{k=0}^M \|L^{-k}\mu\|_{L^2(U_j(B(0,1)))} \right\}.$$

It follows directly from the definition above and the definition of an $(\omega, 2, M, \epsilon)$ molecule that if $\phi \in \mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)$ with norm 1, then ϕ is an $(\omega, 2, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule adapted to B(0, 1). Conversely, if α is an $(\omega, 2, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule adapted to certain ball, then $\alpha \in \mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)$.

In addition, it is easy to see that $(I-A_t^*)^M f \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the sense of distributions, where A_t being either $(I + t^2L)^{-1}$ or e^{-t^2L} , and $f \in (\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L))^*$, the dual space of $\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)$. Indeed, for any ball B, any $\psi \in L^2(B)$, the Gaffney estimates from Lemmas 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 imply that $(I-A_t)^M \psi \in \mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)$ for all $\epsilon > 0$ and any fixed $t \in (0, \infty)$. Therefore, we obtain

$$|\langle (I - A_t^*)^M f, \psi \rangle| \equiv |\langle f, (I - A_t)^M \psi \rangle| \le C(t, r_B, \operatorname{dist}(B, 0)) ||f||_{(\mathcal{M}^{M, \epsilon}_{\omega}(L))^*} ||\psi||_{L^2(B)},$$

which results in the fact that $(I - A_t^*)^M f \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the sense of distributions.

Next, for any $M \in \mathbb{N}$, let us define

$$\mathcal{M}^{M}_{\omega,L^{*}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \equiv \bigcap_{\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^{+})} (\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L))^{*}.$$

Definition 3.3.15 Let $q \in (p_L, \widetilde{p}_L)$, let ω satisfy Assumption (C), and let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$. A functional $f \in \mathcal{M}^M_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is said to be in $BMO^{q,M}_{\rho,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{BMO}^{q,M}_{\rho,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \sup_{B \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x,|B|)} \left[\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B |(I - e^{-r_B^2 L})^M f(x)|^q \, dx \right]^{1/q} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B in \mathbb{R}^n .

In particular, we denote $BMO_{\rho,L}^{2,M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ simply by $BMO_{\rho,L}^M(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The proofs of Lemmas 3.3.16, 3.3.17, and 3.3.18 below are similar to those of Lemmas 8.1, 8.3 of [46] and Lemma 4.3 of [49], respectively, and hence we skip them here.

Lemma 3.3.16 Let ω , q, and M be as in Definition 3.3.15. Then a functional $f \in BMO_{\rho,L}^{q,M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $f \in \mathcal{M}_{\omega,L}^M(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and

$$\sup_{B \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \left[\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B |(I - (I + r_B^2 L)^{-1})^M f(x)|^q \, dx \right]^{1/q} < \infty$$

Moreover, the term appearing on the left-hand side of the above formula is equivalent to $\|f\|_{BMO^{q,M}_{o,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Lemma 3.3.17 Let ω and M be as in Definition 3.3.15. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in BMO^M_{\rho,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\sup_{B \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \left[\frac{1}{|B|} \iint_{\widehat{B}} |(t^2 L)^M e^{-t^2 L} f(x)|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \right]^{1/2} \le C \|f\|_{\mathrm{BMO}_{\rho, L}^M(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Lemma 3.3.18 Let ω , ρ and M be as in Definition 3.3.15, let $q \in (p_{L^*}, 2]$, let $\epsilon, \epsilon_1 > 0$, and let $\widetilde{M} > M + \epsilon_1 + \frac{n}{4}$. Suppose that $f \in \mathcal{M}^M_{\omega,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|(I - (I + L^*)^{-1})^M f(x)|^q}{1 + |x|^{n+\epsilon_1}} \, dx < \infty.$$
(3.3.17)

Then for every $(\omega, q', \widetilde{M}, \epsilon)$ -molecule α ,

$$\langle f, \alpha \rangle = \widetilde{C}_M \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} (t^2 L^*)^M e^{-t^2 L^*} f(x) \overline{t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} \alpha(x)} \frac{dx \, dt}{t},$$

where q' is the conjugate index of q and \widetilde{C}_M is the positive constant satisfying

$$\widetilde{C}_M \int_0^\infty t^{2(M+1)} e^{-2t^2} \frac{dt}{t} = 1.$$

Remark 3.3.19 It follows from Lemma 3.3.16 that if $f \in BMO_{\rho,L}^{q,M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ then f satisfies (3.3.17) for all $\epsilon_1 > 0$. Thus, Lemma 3.3.18 holds for all $f \in BMO_{\rho,L}^{q,M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We are now ready to state the following main results.

Theorem 3.3.20 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), let $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^+)$, and let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$ and $\widetilde{M} > M + \frac{n}{4}$. In addition, assume that there exists a positive constant K such that for all balls B in \mathbb{R}^n , for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|B|\omega\left[x, K_{x\in B}\inf \omega^{-1}\left(x, |B|^{-1}\right)\right] \ge 1.$$
(3.3.18)

Then $(H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*$, the dual space of $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, coincides with $BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the following sense.

(i) Let $g \in BMO^{M}_{\rho,L^{*}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Then the linear functional ℓ , which is initially defined on $H^{2,\widetilde{M},\epsilon}_{\omega,\operatorname{fin}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ by

$$\ell(f) \equiv \langle g, f \rangle, \tag{3.3.19}$$

has a unique extension to $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\|\ell\|_{(H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*} \leq C \|g\|_{BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, where C is a positive constant independent of g.

(ii) Conversely, for any $\ell \in (H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*$, then $\ell \in BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, (3.3.19) holds for all $f \in H^{2,M,\epsilon}_{\omega,\operatorname{fin}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\|\ell\|_{BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C \|\ell\|_{(H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*}$, where C is a positive constant independent of ℓ .

Proof. Before coming to the proof of Theorem 3.3.20, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 3.3.21 Let ω satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 3.3.20, and let $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ and $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j)$ be as in Theorem 3.2.3. Then we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_j| \le C\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \le C ||f||_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)}.$$

Proof of Lemma 3.3.21. Take any $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{\lambda |B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right) \le 1.$$
(3.3.20)

If there is some λ_j such that $K\lambda < |\lambda_j|$, then by (3.3.18), we see that, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|B_j| \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{\lambda |B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right) > |B_j| \omega \left[x, K \inf_{x \in B_j} \omega^{-1} \left(x, |B_j|^{-1} \right) \right] \ge 1,$$

which contradicts with (3.3.20). Hence $K\lambda \geq |\lambda_j|$ for all λ_j . Since ω is of uniformly upper type 1, we deduce that

$$|B_j| \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{\lambda |B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right) \ge \frac{|\lambda_i|}{K\lambda} |B_j| \omega \left[x, K \inf_{x \in B_j} \omega^{-1} \left(x, |B_j|^{-1} \right) \right] \ge \frac{|\lambda_i|}{K\lambda},$$

which, together with (3.3.20) and the definition of $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j)$ in Theorem 3.2.3, completes the proof of Lemma 3.3.21.

Proof of Theorem 3.3.20. Assume $g \in BMO_{\rho,L^*}^M(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

For any $f \in H^{2,\widetilde{M},\epsilon}_{\omega,\min}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Setting $h = t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f$, then it follows from Lemma 3.1.4 that $h \in (T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+) \cap T^2_2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+))$. Therefore, in the light of Theorem 3.2.3, there exist $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ and (ω, ∞) -atoms $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ supported in $\{\widehat{B}_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ such that $h = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j$ and (3.2.2) holds.

On the other hand, since $g \in BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ so Lemma 3.3.18 holds for g (see Remark 3.3.19). As a result, we can write

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle g, f \rangle| &= \left| C_{\widetilde{M}} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} (t^{2}L^{*})^{M} e^{-t^{2}L^{*}} g(x) \overline{t^{2}Le^{-t^{2}L}f(x)} \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \right| \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_{j}| \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}} |(t^{2}L^{*})^{M} e^{-t^{2}L^{*}} g(x) \overline{a_{j}(x,t)}| \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_{j}| ||a_{j}||_{T^{2}_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})} \left(\iint_{\widehat{B}_{j}} |(t^{2}L^{*})^{M} e^{-t^{2}L^{*}} g(x)|^{2} \frac{dx \, dt}{t} \right)^{1/2}, \end{aligned}$$

where the last estimate follows from applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. At this stage, we observe that for each j,

$$\|a_j\|_{T_2^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \le \frac{|B_j|^{-1/2}}{\sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, B_j)},$$

which, together with Lemma 3.3.17, implies

$$|\langle g, f \rangle| \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_j| ||g||_{\mathrm{BMO}^{M}_{\rho, L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Thus, we reach, in view of Lemma 3.3.21, the following estimates

$$|\langle g, f \rangle| \lesssim \|t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f\|_{T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)} \|g\|_{\mathrm{BMO}^{M}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|f\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|g\|_{\mathrm{BMO}^{M}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
 (3.3.21)

Finally, due to Corollary 3.3.9, we obtain (i) by a standard density argument.

Conversely, for any $\ell \in (H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*$, we need to show that $\ell \in \text{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}^M(\mathbb{R}^n)$. First, for any $(\omega, 2, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule α , since $\|\alpha\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim 1$, so $|\ell(\alpha)| \lesssim \|\ell\|_{(H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*}$, which implies that $\ell \in \mathcal{M}^{M}_{\omega,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. It remains to show, by Lemma 3.3.16, that

$$\sup_{B \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B |(I - [(I + r_B^2 L)^{-1}]^*)^M \ell(x)|^2 \, dx \right)^{1/2} \lesssim \|\ell\|_{(H_{\omega, L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*}$$

To this end, for any ball B, let $\phi \in L^2(B)$ such that

$$\|\phi\|_{L^2(B)} \le \frac{1}{|B|^{1/2} \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}$$

and set $\widetilde{\alpha} \equiv (I - [I + r_B^2 L]^{-1})^M \phi$, where $2M > n(1/p_\omega - 1/2)$. Let us next show that $\widetilde{\alpha}$ is a multiple of an $(\omega, 2, M, \epsilon)$ -molecule. In fact, for each $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $k = 0, 1, \ldots, M$, it follows from Lemma 3.1.3 that

$$\begin{split} \| (r_B^2 L)^{-k} \widetilde{\alpha} \|_{L^2(U_j(B))} &= \| (I - [I + r_B^2 L]^{-1})^{M-k} (I + r_B^2 L)^{-k} \phi \|_{L^2(U_j(B))} \\ &\lesssim \exp\left\{ -\frac{\operatorname{dist} \left(B, U_j(B)\right)}{cr_B} \right\} \| \phi \|_{L^2(B)} \\ &\lesssim 2^{-2j(M+\epsilon)} 2^{jn(1/p_\omega - 1/2)} \frac{1}{|2^j B|^{1/2} \sup \rho(x, |2^j B|)} \\ &\lesssim 2^{-2j\epsilon} \frac{1}{|2^j B|^{1/2} \sup \rho(x, |2^j B|)}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, observe that for any fixed t > 0, $(I - ([I + t^2 L]^{-1})^*)^M \ell$ is well defined and belongs to $L^2_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. So we obtain

$$|\langle (I - [(I + r_B^2 L)^{-1}]^*)^M \ell, \phi \rangle| = |\langle \ell, (I - [I + r_B^2 L]^{-1})^M \phi \rangle| = |\langle \ell, \widetilde{\alpha} \rangle| \lesssim \|\ell\|_{(H_{\omega, L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*}.$$
(3.3.22)

Eventually, we now write

$$\frac{1}{\sup_{x\in B}\rho(x,|B|)} \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |(I - [(I + r_{B}^{2}L)^{-1}]^{*})^{M}\ell(x)|^{2} dx\right)^{1/2}$$
$$= \sup_{\|\phi\|_{L^{2}(B)} \leq 1} \left| \left\langle \ell, (I - [I + r_{B}^{2}L]^{-1})^{M} \frac{\phi}{|B|^{1/2} \sup_{x\in B}\rho(x,|B|)} \right\rangle \right| \lesssim \|\ell\|_{(H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))^{*}},$$

where the last estimate comes from (3.3.22). We complete the proof of Theorem 3.3.20.

Remark 3.3.22 It follows from the proof of Theorem 3.3.20 that the spaces $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L}^M(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$ coincide with equivalent norms. Thus, we will denote $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L}^M(\mathbb{R}^n)$ simply by $BMO_{\rho,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

3.3.4 The Carleson measure and the John–Nirenberg inequality

In this section, we aim to characterize the space $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via the ρ -Carleson measure and then establish the John–Nirenberg inequality for elements in $\text{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where L^* stands for the conjugate operator of L in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Definition 3.3.23 A measure $d\mu$ on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ is called a ρ -Carleson measure if

$$||d\mu||_{\rho} \equiv \sup_{B \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ \frac{1}{|B|[\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)]^2} \iint_{\widehat{B}} |d\mu| \right\} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B of \mathbb{R}^n .

Theorem 3.3.24 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), and let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$.

(i) If $f \in BMO_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then $d\mu_f$ is a ρ -Carleson measure and there exists a positive constant C independent of f such that $\|d\mu_f\|_{\rho} \leq C \|f\|^2_{BMO_{\sigma,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, where

$$d\mu_f \equiv \left| (t^2 L^*)^M e^{-t^2 L^*} f(x) \right|^2 \frac{dx \, dt}{t}.$$
(3.3.23)

(ii) Conversely, if $f \in \mathcal{M}^{M}_{\omega,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies (3.3.17) with certain $q \in (p_{L^*}, 2]$ and $\epsilon_1 > 0$, (3.3.18) holds and $d\mu_f$ is a ρ -Carleson measure, then $f \in \text{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Moreover, there exists a positive constant C independent of f such that $||f||^2_{\text{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C||d\mu_f||_{\rho}$, where $d\mu_f$ is as in (3.3.23).

Proof. Applying Lemma 3.3.17 yields (i).

Conversely, assume that $f \in \mathcal{M}^{M}_{\omega,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies (3.3.17) with certain $q \in (p_{L^*}, 2]$ and $\epsilon_1 > 0$. Then for any $\widetilde{M} > M + \epsilon_1 + \frac{n}{4}$ and any $\epsilon > n(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{p_{\omega}^+})$, it follows from Lemma 3.3.18 that

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \widetilde{C}_M \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+} (t^2 L^*)^M e^{-t^2 L^*} f(x) \overline{t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} g(x)} \frac{dx \, dt}{t},$$

if g is a finite combination of $(\omega, q', \widetilde{M}, \epsilon)$ -molecules and q' is the conjugate of q. In addition, according to (3.3.21), one can observe that

$$|\langle f,g\rangle| \lesssim \|d\mu_f\|_{\rho}^{1/2} \|g\|_{H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Finally, note that $H^{q',\widetilde{M},\epsilon}_{\omega,\mathrm{fin}}$ is dense in $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, so we can use a standard density argument to obtain that $f \in (H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*$. This if combined with Theorem 3.3.20 implies that $f \in \mathrm{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\|f\|^2_{\mathrm{BMO}_{\rho,L^*}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|du_f\|_{\rho}$.

Using the same arguments as in the proof of [49, Theorem 6.2], we obtain the following result.

Theorem 3.3.25 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), let (3.3.18) hold, and let $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$. Then the spaces $BMO_{\rho,L^*}^{q,M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $q \in (p_{L^*}, \tilde{p}_{L^*})$ coincide with equivalent norms.

It could be of interest to put forward the following comment: these kind of results are a well-known consequence of John–Nirenberg inequalities, as explained in this current section. Recently, such self-improving properties have been studied in a very abstract setting (see [11, 13, 14, 52]). Moreover, in [13], applications for functional spaces (Hardy spaces and Sobolev spaces) associated to the same (than here) secondorder divergence operator are obtained. In [13],[52],[11], the main assumption to get this self-improving property (the John–Nirenberg inequality) is related to the behavior of the "weight" ρ , if it is doubling or increasing (with respect to the ball). They only consider weights, which are "x"-independent. So the results obtained in this current paper are interesting since they deal with an "x"-dependent weight ρ . However, whether it is possible to compare Assumption (C) and (3.3.18) (required in Theorem 3.3.25) with the doubling property required for an "x"-independent weight is still an interesting question. We believe that they are in general incomparable.

3.4 Some applications

In this section, as an application of the theory developed in the previous sections, we will show the boundedness on Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces of the Riesz transform and of the Littlewood–Paley g-function associated with the operator L.

Let us recall here that for all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the Littlewood–Paley gfunction g_L is defined by

$$g_L f(x) \equiv \left(\int_0^\infty |t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f(x)|^2 \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/2}$$

It is well-known that g_L is bounded on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, see [46, Proof of Theorem 3.4]. We are now ready to claim the following result which is similar but more general than [46, Theorems 3.2 and 3.4] and [49, Theorem 7.1].

Theorem 3.4.1 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C), and let $p \in (p_L, 2]$. Suppose that the nonnegative sublinear operator or linear operator T is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and there exist C > 0, $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$ such that for all closed sets E, F in \mathbb{R}^n with dist (E, F) > 0 and all $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported in E,

$$\|T(I - e^{-tL})^M f\|_{L^p(F)} \le C \left(\frac{t}{\operatorname{dist}(E, F)^2}\right)^M \|f\|_{L^p(E)}$$
(3.4.1)

and

$$\|T(tLe^{-tL})^M f\|_{L^p(F)} \le C \left(\frac{t}{\operatorname{dist}(E,F)^2}\right)^M \|f\|_{L^p(E)}$$
(3.4.2)

for all t > 0. Then T extends to a bounded sublinear or linear operator from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L(\omega)$. In particular, the Riesz transform $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ and the Littlewood–Paley g-function g_L are bounded from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L(\omega)$. **Proof.** Take any $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/\tilde{p}_{\omega})$, where \tilde{p}_{ω} is as in Convention (B). In view of Lemma 3.3.13, if we wish to show that T extends to a bounded sublinear or linear operator from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L(\omega)$, then it suffices to show that for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $(\omega, \infty, M, \epsilon)$ -molecules α adapted to balls B,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, T(\lambda\alpha)(x)\right) \, dx \lesssim |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}\right). \tag{3.4.3}$$

To this end, we will follow the idea in [49, Theorem 7.1] to estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \omega(x, T(\lambda \alpha)(x)) \, dx \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{P}_j + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{Q}_j, \qquad (3.4.4)$$

where

$$P_{j} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega(x, |\lambda| T([I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha \chi_{U_{j}(B)}))(x)) dx$$
(3.4.5)

and

$$Q_{j} = \sup_{1 \le k \le M} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, |\lambda| T \left\{ \left[\frac{k}{M} r_{B}^{2} L e^{-\frac{k}{M} r_{B}^{2} L} \right]^{M} \left(\chi_{U_{j}(B)} (r_{B}^{-2} L^{-1})^{M} \alpha \right) \right\} (x) \right) \, dx.$$
(3.4.6)

Let us now estimate the terms P_j in (3.4.5). Denote $B_j = 2^j B$, for each $j \ge 0$, then it follows from Assumption (C) that

$$P_{j} \qquad \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{U_{k}(B_{j})} \omega(x, |\lambda| T([I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha \chi_{U_{j}(B)}))(x)) \, dx \\ \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |2^{k}B_{j}| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|2^{k}B_{j}|} \int_{U_{k}(B_{j})} T([I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L}]^{M}(\alpha \chi_{U_{j}(B)}))(x) \, dx\right).$$

Then applying the Hölder inequality implies that

$$P_j \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} |2^k B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|2^k B_j|^{1/p}} \|T([I - e^{-r_B^2 L}]^M(\alpha \chi_{U_j(B)}))\|_{L^p(U_k(B_j))} \right).$$
(3.4.7)

At this stage, it follows from Lemma 3.1.3, the condition (3.4.1) and the $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ boundedness of T that for k = 0, 1, 2,

$$\|T([I - e^{-r_B^2 L}]^M(\alpha \chi_{U_j(B)}))\|_{L^p(U_k(B_j))} \lesssim \|\alpha\|_{L^p(U_j(B))},$$

and that for $k \geq 3$,

$$\|T([I - e^{-r_B^2 L}]^M(\alpha \chi_{U_j(B)}))\|_{L^p(U_k(B_j))} \lesssim \left(\frac{1}{2^{k+j}}\right)^{2M} \|\alpha\|_{L^p(U_j(B))}^2.$$

Plugging these properties into the right hand quantity of (3.4.7), together with Definition 3.3.3, implies that

$$P_j \qquad \lesssim |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda| 2^{-j\epsilon}}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right) \\ + \sum_{k=3}^{\infty} |2^k B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda| 2^{-(2M)(j+k)-j\epsilon}}{|2^k B_j|^{1/p} |B_j|^{1-1/p} \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right).$$

After some simple calculations, using the uniformly lower type index p_{ω} of ω , we deduce

$$\mathbf{P}_j \lesssim 2^{-jp_\omega\epsilon} \left\{ 1 + \sum_{k=3}^\infty 2^{kn(1-p_\omega/p)} 2^{-2Mp_\omega(j+k)} \right\} |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right).$$

Observe that $2Mp_{\omega} > n(1 - p_{\omega}/2)$, so it follows from the above estimate that

$$P_j \lesssim 2^{-jp_\omega\epsilon} |B_j| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right).$$
(3.4.8)

With the estimates (3.4.8) on P_j in hand, again note that ω is of uniformly lower type p_{ω} , we obtain

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{P}_j \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} |B_j| \left\{ \frac{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}{|B_j| \sup_{x \in B_j} \rho(x, |B_j|)} \right\}^{p_{\omega}} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)}\right).$$

Since ω^{-1} is of uniformly lower type $1/\tilde{p}_{\omega}$ (see Lemma 2.5.3), the above inequality implies that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{P}_{j} \qquad \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} |B_{j}| \left\{ \frac{|B|}{|B_{j}|} \right\}^{p_{\omega}/\tilde{p}_{\omega}} \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right)$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jp_{\omega}\epsilon} 2^{jn(1-p_{\omega}/\tilde{p}_{\omega})} |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right).$$

Finally, note that $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/\tilde{p}_{\omega})$, we then obtain the following desired estimate.

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{P}_j \lesssim |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right).$$
(3.4.9)

Using the similar arguments above, we also obtain

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{Q}_j \lesssim |B| \inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{|B| \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, |B|)} \right),$$

which, together with (3.4.9) and (3.4.4), yields the condition (3.4.3). That is, T is bounded from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L(\omega)$.

In particular, the operators g_L and $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ were shown in [46, Theorem 3.4] to satisfy the conditions (3.4.1) and (3.4.2). Therefore, g_L and $\nabla L^{-1/2}$ are bounded from $H_{\omega,L}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L(\omega)$, which completes the proof of Theorem 3.4.1.

Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to operators satisfying Davies–Gaffney estimates and bounded holomorphic functional calculus

4.1 Assumptions on the operator L

Let X be a metric space, with a distance d and μ is a nonnegative, Borel, doubling measure on X. Let L be a linear operator of type θ on $L^2(X)$ with $\theta < \pi/2$, hence L generates a holomorphic semigroup e^{zL} , $|\arg(z)| < \pi/2 - \theta$. Throughout this chapter, we always suppose that the space X is of homogeneous type, and that the operator L satisfies the following assumptions.

(i) The operator L has a bounded H_{∞} -calculus on $L^2(X)$.

(ii) The operator L generates an analytic semigroup $\{e^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ which satisfies the Davies–Gaffney estimates; that is, there exist positive constants C_1 and C_2 such that for all closed sets E and F in $X, t \in (0, \infty)$ and $f \in L^2(X)$ supported in E,

$$||e^{-tL}f||_{L^{2}(F)} \leq C_{1} \exp\left\{-\frac{d(E,F)^{2}}{C_{2}t}\right\}||f||_{L^{2}(E)},$$
(4.1.1)

where d(E, F) is the distance between E and F in X.

Remark 4.1.1 We now give a list of examples of differential operators which satisfy assumptions (i) and (ii):

(α) Second-order elliptic divergence form operators defined by (1.0.2), acting on the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n . Note that these operators in general are neither self-adjoint nor having Gaussian heat kernel bounds. See [10] and Section 2 of [6].

(β) The operators $L = b(x)\Delta$ as described in Chapter 1 of this thesis.

 (γ) Schrödinger operators with nonnegative potentials and magnetic Schrödinger operators. These operators are self-adjoint and possess Gaussian upper bounds on heat kernels. See, for example, Section 1 and 3 of [34].

(δ) Laplace–Beltrami operators on all complete Riemannian manifolds. These operators are self-adjoint and satisfy the Davies–Gaffney estimates (but not Gaussian heat kernel bounds) in general setting. See [4], Section 3.1.

Lemma 4.1.2 ([47]) Assume that the families of operators $\{S_t\}_{t>0}$ and $\{T_t\}_{t>0}$ satisfy Davies–Gaffney estimates (4.1.1). Then there exist two constants $C \ge 0$ and c > 0such that, for every t > 0, every closed subsets E and F of X and every function fsupported in E, one has

$$||S_s T_t f||_{L^2(F)} \le C \exp\left\{-\frac{d(E,F)^2}{c \max\{s,t\}}\right\} ||f||_{L^2(E)}.$$

Lemma 4.1.3 Let L satisfy assumptions (i) and (ii). Then for any fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the following family of operators $\{(tL)^k e^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ satisfies Davies–Gaffney estimates (4.1.1).

Proof. The proof of this lemma is similar to one in [45] and hence we omit the details here.

4.2 Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to operators

4.2.1 Tent spaces on spaces of homogeneous type

Given $x \in X$ and $\alpha > 0$, the cone of aperture α and vertex x is the set

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}(x) := \{ (y,t) \in X \times (0,\infty) : d(y,x) < \alpha t \}.$$

For any closed subset $F \subset X$, define a saw-tooth region $R^{\alpha}(F) = \bigcup_{x \in F} \Gamma^{\alpha}(x)$. For simplicity, we will often write R(F) instead of $R^1(F)$. If O is an open subset of X, and we denote by E^c the complement of a set E, then the tent over O, denoted by \widehat{O} , is defined as

$$\widehat{O} := [R(O^c)]^c := \{(x,t) \in X \times (0,\infty) : d(x,O^c) \ge t\}$$

For each measurable function g on $X \times (0, \infty)$ and $x \in X$, define

$$\mathcal{A}(g)(x) := \left(\int_{\Gamma(x)} |g(y,t)|^2 \frac{d\mu(y)}{V(x,t)} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/2}.$$

When $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ Coifman, Meyer and Stein [24] introduced the tent spaces $T_2^p(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ for $p \in (0, \infty)$. The tent spaces $T_2^p(X)$ on spaces of homogeneous type were studied by Russ [69]. The function g is said to belong to the space $T_2^p(X)$ with $p \in (0, \infty)$ if $||g||_{T_2^p(X)} = ||\mathcal{A}(g)||_{L^p} < \infty$. Then, Harbourne, Salinas and Viviani [43] introduced the tent spaces $T_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ associated to ω . Now let ω satisfy Assumption (A) (see page 27). Then we define $T_{\omega}(X)$ as the space of all measurable functions g on $X \times (0, \infty)$ such that $\mathcal{A}(g) \in L^1(\omega)$, and for any $g \in T_{\omega}(X)$, one defines

$$||g||_{T_{\omega}(X)} = ||\mathcal{A}(g)||_{L^{1}(\omega)}$$

Definition 4.2.1 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C) (see page 27 and 28), and let ρ be the function defined by (2.5.3) in Definition 2.5.2. A function a on $X \times (0, \infty)$ is called a $T_{\omega}(X)$ -atom if

- (i) there exists a ball $B \subset X$ such that supp $a \subset \widehat{B}$;
- (*ii*) $||a||_{T_2^2(X)} \leq [V(B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(B))]^{-1}.$

Remark 4.2.2 (i) It is not difficult to verify that for a function ω satisfying Assumption (C), there exist positive constants K_1 , K_2 such that for any $x \in X$, $K_1 \leq \omega^{-1}(x,1) \leq K_2$ and hence $\inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(B))]^{-1}$ is strictly positive. (ii) In addition, for all $T_{\omega}(X)$ -atoms a, we have $||a||_{T_{\omega}(X)} \leq 1$.

For the functions in the space $T_{\omega}(X)$, we have the following atomic decomposition.

Proposition 4.2.3 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C). Then for any $f \in T_{\omega}(X)$, there exist $T_{\omega}(X)$ -atoms $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that for almost every $(x, t) \in X \times (0, \infty)$

$$f(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j(x,t).$$
(4.2.1)

Moreover, there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in T_{\omega}(X)$,

$$\Lambda(\{\lambda_j\}) = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} V(B_j) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{\lambda V(B_j) \sup_{y \in B_j} \rho(y, V(B_j))} \le 1\right)\right\} \le C||f||_{T_{\omega}(X)},$$

$$(4.2.2)$$

where $\widehat{B_j}$ appears as the support of a_j .

Proof. The proof of Proposition 4.2.3 is similar to those of [24, Theorem 1], [69, Theorem 1.1], [49, Theorem 3.1] and [50, Theorem 3.1] with minor modifications, thus we omit the details.

The following proposition on the convergence of (4.2.1) plays a significant role in the remaining part of this chapter. The proof of it is analogous to that of [49, Proposition 3.1] and we omit the details.

Proposition 4.2.4 Let ω satisfy Assumption (C). If $f \in T_{\omega}(X) \cap T_2^2(X)$, then the decomposition (4.2.1) holds in both $T_{\omega}(X)$ and $T_2^2(X)$.

4.2.2 Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to L

For all functions $f \in L^2(X)$, the Lusin-area function $S_L(f)$ is defined by setting,

$$S_L f(x) := \left(\int_{\Gamma(x)} \int_{\Gamma(x)} |t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f(y)|^2 \frac{d\mu(y)}{V(x,t)} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/2}, x \in X.$$

The Musielak–Orlicz Hardy space $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ is defined as the completion of

$${f \in L^2(X) : ||S_L f||_{L^1(\omega)} < \infty}$$

with the norm

$$||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)} = ||S_L f||_{L^1(\omega)}.$$

Noting that if $\omega(t) = t, t \in (0, \infty)$ then the space $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ turns out to be the space $H_L^1(X)$ in [45]. Furthermore, if $\omega(t) = t^p, t \in (0, \infty)$ and $p \in (0, 1]$, the space $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ is just the space $H_L^p(X)$ considered in [30]. We now introduce the notions of (ω, M, ϵ) -molecule as follows.

Let us denote by D(T) the domain of an unbounded operator T and by $T^k = T \dots T$ the k-fold composition of T with itself.

Definition 4.2.5 A function $m \in L^2(X)$ is called an (ω, M, ϵ) -molecule associated to the operator L if there exist a function $b \in D(L^M)$ and a ball B such that

(i) $m = L^M b;$

(ii) for every $k = 0, 1, \ldots, M$. and $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$

$$||(r_B^2 L)^k b||_{L^2(S_j(B))} \lesssim r_B^{2M} 2^{-j\epsilon} [V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1}.$$

Theorem 4.2.6 Let L satisfy assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Asumption (C), $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}}-\frac{1}{2})$ and $0 < \epsilon < 2M - n(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}}-\frac{1}{2})$. Then for all $f \in H_{L,\omega}(X) \cap L^2(X)$, there exist (ω, ϵ, M) -molecules $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j$$

in both $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ and $L^2(X)$. Moreover, there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in H_{L,\omega}(X) \cap L^2(X)$,

$$\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} V(B_j) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda_j|}{\lambda V(B_j) \sup_{y \in B_j} \rho(y, V(B_j))} \le 1\right)\right\} \le C||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)}$$

$$(4.2.3)$$

where B_j is the ball associated with (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule a_j .

Before giving a proof of Theorem 4.2.6, we consider the following operator

$$\pi_{L,M}(F)(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} (t^{2}Le^{-t^{2}L})^{M}(F(\cdot,t))(x)\frac{dt}{t},$$

for all $F \in L^2(X \times (0, \infty))$ with bounded support. The bound

$$||\pi_{L,M}(F)||_{L^2(X)} \le C||F||_{T^2_2(X)}, \forall M \ge 1$$
(4.2.4)

follows readily by duality and the L^2 quadratic estimate (2.4.1). Moreover, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 4.2.7 Let a be a $T_{\omega}(X)$ -atom associated to a ball $B \subset X$ and $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}}-\frac{1}{2})$. Then, $\pi_{L,M}a$ is an (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule (up to a harmless constant); moreover, $\pi_{L,M}a \in H_{L,\omega}(X)$.

Proof. Setting

$$b = \int_0^\infty t^{2M} (e^{-t^2 L})^M a(\cdot, t) \frac{dt}{t}.$$

Since *a* is a $T_{\omega}(X)$ -atom associated to a ball $B \subset X$, supp $a \subset \widehat{B} = \{(x,t) \in X \times (0,\infty) : d(x,B^c) \ge t\} \subset B \times [0,r_B]$. Thus, the integral $b = \int_0^\infty t^{2M} (e^{-t^2L})^M a(\cdot,t) \frac{dt}{t}$ is well defined and $\pi_{L,M}a = L^M b$.

For any $h \in L^2(S_j(B))$ with norm 1 and $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, M\}$, one has

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{X} (r_{B}^{2}L)^{k} b(x) \overline{h(x)} d\mu(x) \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{X} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{2M} (r_{B}^{2}L)^{k} (e^{-t^{2}L})^{M} a(x,t) \overline{h(x)} \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{\widehat{B}} \int_{\widehat{B}} t^{2(M-k)} (r_{B}^{2})^{k} a(x,t) (e^{-t^{2}L^{*}})^{M-k} \overline{(t^{2}L^{*}e^{-t^{2}L^{*}})^{k} h(x)} \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x) \right| \\ &\leq r_{B}^{2M} ||a||_{T_{2}^{2}(X)} \left(\int_{\widehat{B}} |(e^{-t^{2}L^{*}})^{M-k} \overline{(t^{2}L^{*}e^{-t^{2}L^{*}})^{k} h(x)}|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x) \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq r_{B}^{2M} [V(B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(B))]^{-1} \left(\int_{\widehat{B}} |(e^{-t^{2}L^{*}})^{M-k} \overline{(t^{2}L^{*}e^{-t^{2}L^{*}})^{k} h(x)}|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x) \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

If $j \ge 3$ then we have

$$\begin{split} & \left(\int \int_{\widehat{B}} |(e^{-t^2 L^*})^{M-k} \overline{(t^2 L^* e^{-t^2 L^*})^k h(x)}|^2 \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x)\right)^{1/2} \\ & \leq C \Big(\int_0^{r_B} e^{\frac{-d(B,S_j(B))^2}{ct^2}} \frac{dt}{t}\Big)^{1/2} \\ & \leq C \Big(\int_0^{r_B} \Big(\frac{t}{2^j r_B}\Big)^{4M} \frac{dt}{t}\Big)^{1/2} \\ & \leq C 2^{-2Mj}. \end{split}$$

If j = 0, 1, 2, it is simple to see that

$$\left(\int \int_{\widehat{B}} |(e^{-t^2L^*})^{M-k} \overline{(t^2L^*e^{-t^2L^*})^k h(x)}|^2 \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x)\right)^{1/2} \le C2^{-2Mj}.$$

All in all, one has

$$\left| \int_{X} (r_B^2 L)^k b(x) \overline{h(x)} d\mu(x) \right| \le C r_B^{2M} 2^{-2Mj} [V(B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(B))]^{-1/2} \int_{X} (r_B^2 L)^k b(x) \overline{h(x)} d\mu(x) d\mu$$

which implies

$$||(r_B^2 L)^k b||_{L^2(S_j(B))} \le C r_B^{2M} 2^{-2Mj} [V(B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(B))]^{-1}.$$

Since ω is of uniformly lower type p_{ω} , ρ is of uniformly upper type $\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - 1$ by Lemma 2.5.3. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} ||(r_B^2 L)^k b||_{L^2(S_j(B))} &\leq Cr_B^{2M} 2^{-2Mj} [V(B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(B))]^{-1} \\ &\leq Cr_B^{2M} 2^{-2Mj} 2^{\frac{n}{2}j} \Big(\frac{V(2^j B)}{V(B)} \Big)^{1/p_\omega - 1} [V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1} \\ &\leq Cr_B^{2M} 2^{(-2M + \frac{n}{2} + \frac{n}{p_\omega} - n + \epsilon)j} 2^{-j\epsilon} [V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1} \\ &\leq Cr_B^{2M} 2^{(-2M - \frac{n}{2} + \frac{n}{p_\omega} + \epsilon)j} 2^{-j\epsilon} [V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1} \end{aligned}$$

Due to $\left(-2M - \frac{n}{2} + \frac{n}{p_{\omega}} + \epsilon\right) < 0$, we obtain that

$$||(r_B^2 L)^k b||_{L^2(S_j(B))} \le C r_B^{2M} 2^{-j\epsilon} [V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1}.$$

Therefore, $\pi_{L,M}a$ is an (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule. It remains to show that $\alpha = \pi_{L,M}a \in H_{L,\omega}(X)$. Write

$$\int_{X} \omega(x, S_L(\lambda \alpha)(x)) d\mu(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{X} \omega(x, S_L(\lambda \alpha \chi_{S_j(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} A_j$$

for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

By Assumption (C) and the Hölder inequality, for each $j \in \mathbb{N}$, one obtains

$$\begin{aligned} A_{j} &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} \omega(x, S_{L}(\lambda \alpha \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda| \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} |S_{L}(\alpha \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(y)| d\mu(y)}{V(2^{k+j}B)}\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda| ||S_{L}(\alpha \chi_{S_{j}(B)})||_{L^{2}(S_{k}(2^{j}B))}}{V(2^{k+j}B)^{1/2}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

For k = 0, 1, 2, one has

$$||S_L(\alpha\chi_{S_j(B)})||_{L^2(S_k(2^jB))} \le C||\alpha||_{L^2(S_j(B))} \le C2^{-j\epsilon}[V(2^jB)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x\in B}[\rho(x, V(2^jB))]^{-1}.$$

For $k \geq 3$, write

$$\begin{aligned} ||S_L(\alpha\chi_{S_j(B)})||^2_{L^2(S_k(2^jB))} &= \int\limits_{S_k(2^jB)} \Big(\int\limits_{0}^{\frac{d(x,x_B)}{4}} + \int\limits_{\frac{d(x,x_B)}{4}}^{\infty} \Big) \int\limits_{d(x,y) < t} |t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} \alpha|^2 \frac{d\mu(y)}{V(x,t)} \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x) \\ &= I_j + II_j. \end{aligned}$$

To estimate I_j , we set $U_{kj}(B) := \{y \in X : d(x, y) \leq \frac{d(x, x_B)}{4} \text{ for certain } x \in S_k(2^j B)\}$. Then, for each $z \in S_j(B)$ and $y \in U_{kj}(B)$, we have $d(y, z) \geq 2^{k+j-2}r_B$. It follows from the fact that

$$\int_{d(x,y) < t} V(x,t)^{-1} d\mu(x) \le C$$

and $\alpha = L^M b$ that

$$\begin{split} I_{j} &\leq C \int_{0}^{2^{k+j+1}r_{B}} \int_{S_{j}(B)} |(t^{2}L)^{M+1}e^{-t^{2}L}b\chi_{S_{j}(B)}(y)|^{2}d\mu(y)\frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}} \\ &\leq C||b||_{L^{2}(S_{j}(B))}^{2} \int_{0}^{2^{k+j+1}r_{B}} \exp\Big(-\frac{d(U_{kj}(B),S_{j}(B))^{2}}{ct^{2}}\Big)\frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}} \\ &\leq C||b||_{L^{2}(S_{j}(B))}^{2} \int_{0}^{2^{k+j+1}r_{B}} \exp\Big(-\frac{(2^{k+j-2}r_{B})^{2}}{ct^{2}}\Big)\frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}} \\ &\leq C||b||_{L^{2}(S_{j}(B))}^{2} \int_{0}^{2^{k+j+1}r_{B}} \Big(\frac{t}{2^{k+j}r_{B}}\Big)^{4M+4}\frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}} \\ &\leq C||b||_{L^{2}(S_{j}(B))}^{2} \frac{2^{-4(k+j)M}}{(r_{B})^{4M}} \leq C2^{-4(k+j)M}2^{-2\epsilon j}[V(2^{j}B)]^{-1}\inf_{x\in B}[\rho(x,V(2^{j}B))]^{-2}. \end{split}$$

Finally, for the term II_j we obtain

$$II_{j} \leq C \int_{2^{k+j-1}r_{B}}^{\infty} \int_{S_{j}(B)} |(t^{2}L)^{M+1}e^{-t^{2}L}b\chi_{S_{j}(B)}(y)|^{2}d\mu(y)\frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}}$$
$$\leq C||b||_{L^{2}(S_{j}(B))}^{2} \int_{2^{k+j-1}r_{B}}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}}$$
$$\leq C2^{-4(k+j)M}2^{-2\epsilon j}[V(2^{j}B)]^{-1}\inf_{x\in B}[\rho(x,V(2^{j}B))]^{-2}.$$

It therefore, from the estimates for I_j , II_j above, the uniformly lower type p_{ω} of ω together with the fact that $-2Mp_{\omega} + n(1 - p_{\omega}/2) < 0$, implies that

$$\int_{S_{j}(B)} \omega(x, S_{L}(\alpha)(x)) d\mu(x) \\ \leq C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{(-2(k+j)M-j\epsilon)p_{\omega}} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{[V(2^{k+j}B)]^{1/2} [V(2^{j}B)]^{1/2} \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(2^{j}B))}\right) \\ \leq C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{(-2(k+j)M-j\epsilon)} 2^{kn(1-p_{\omega}/2)p_{\omega}} V(2^{j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{[V(2^{j}B)] \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(2^{j}B))}\right).$$

Note that we can choose \tilde{p}_{ω} as in Convention (B) such that $n\left(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{\omega}}\right) < \epsilon$. It therefore, together with the uniformly lower type $1/\tilde{p}_{\omega} - 1$ of ρ by Lemma 2.5.3, yields

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{j}(B)} \omega(x, S_{L}(\lambda \alpha)(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\epsilon p_{\omega} j} (V(2^{j}B) \left(\frac{V(B)}{V(2^{j}B)}\right)^{p_{\omega}/\tilde{p}_{\omega}} \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right) \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\epsilon p_{\omega} j} 2^{(1-p_{\omega}/\tilde{p}_{\omega})nj} V(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B)) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right) \\ &\leq C V(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B)) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right), \end{split}$$

which completes the proof of Proposition 4.2.7.

Proof of Theorem 4.2.6. Since $f \in L^2(X)$ and T has a bounded holomorphic functional calculus on $L^2(X)$, there exists a constant $C_{M,L}$ such that

$$f = C_{M,L} \int_{0}^{\infty} (t^2 L e^{-t^2 L})^{M+1} f \frac{dt}{t}.$$

By definition of $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ and the quadratic estimate (2.4.1), $t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f \in T_{\omega}(X) \cap T_2^2(X)$. Thanks to Proposition 4.2.4 and Proposition 4.2.7, we easily deduce

$$f = C_{M,L} \pi_{L,M}(t^2 L e^{-t^2 L} f) = C_{M,L} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \lambda_j \pi_{L,M}(a_j)$$

in both $L^2(X)$ and $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ and $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \leq C||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)}$, which completes the proof of Theorem 4.2.6.

By the density of $H_{L,\omega}(X) \cap L^2(X)$ in $H_{L,\omega}(X)$, we conclude the following corollaries.

Corollary 4.2.8 Let the operator L satisfy Assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Assumption (C) and $M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$. Then for all $f \in H_{L,\omega}(X)$, there exist a sequence of (ω, ϵ, M) -molecules $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j$ in $H_{L,\omega}(X)$. Moreover, there exists a positive constant C independent of f such that

$$\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \le C ||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)},$$

where $\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j)$ was defined by (4.2.3).

Corollary 4.2.9 Let the operator L satisfy Assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Assumption (C) and $M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$. Then for all $0 < \epsilon < 2M - n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$, the spaces $H_{\omega,fin}^{mol,\epsilon,M}$ are dense in $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ where $H_{\omega,fin}^{mol,\epsilon,M}$ denote the spaces of finite linear combinations of (ω, ϵ, M) .

4.2.3 Dual spaces of Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces

In this subsection, we study the dual space of the Musielak–Orlicz Hardy spaces $H_{L,\omega}(X)$. Let $\phi = L^M v$ be a function in $L^2(X)$, where $v \in D(L^M)$. Following [45, 46] for $\epsilon > 0, M \in \mathbb{N}$ and fixed $x_0 \in X$ we introduce the norm

$$||\phi||_{\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)} = \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}} \{ 2^{j\epsilon} [V(x_0, 2^j)]^{1/2} \sup_{x \in B(x_0, 2^j)} \rho(x, V(x_0, 2^j)) \sum_{k=0}^{M} ||L^k v||_{L^2(S_j(B(x_0, 1)))} \}$$

where

$$\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L) := \{ \phi = L^M v \in L^2(X) : ||\phi||_{\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)} < \infty \}.$$

Let $(\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L))^*$ be the dual of $\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)$ and denote either $(I + t^2L)^{-1}$ or e^{-t^2L} by A_t . Then for any $f \in (\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L))^*$, $(I - A_t^*)^M f$ belongs to $L^2_{loc}(X)$ in the sense of distributions, see [45, 46].

For any $M \in \mathbb{N}$, one defines

$$\mathcal{M}^{M}_{\omega,L^{*}}(X) := \bigcap_{\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^{+})} (\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L))^{*}.$$

Definition 4.2.10 Let the operator L satisfy Assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Assumption (C) and $M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$. A functional $f \in \mathcal{M}^{M}_{\omega,L^{*}}(X)$ is said to be in $BMO^{M}_{\rho,L}(X)$ if

$$||f||_{BMO^{M}_{\rho,L}(X)} = \sup_{B \subset X} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, V(B))} \Big[\frac{1}{V(B)} \int_{B} |(I - e^{-r_{B}^{2}L})^{M} f(x)|^{2} d\mu(x) \Big]^{1/2} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B in X.

We have the following characterizations of the spaces $BMO_{o,L}^M(X)$.

Proposition 4.2.11 Let the operator L satisfy Assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Assumption (C) and $M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$. Then $f \in BMO_{\rho,L}^{M}(X)$ if and only if $f \in \mathcal{M}_{\omega,L^*}^{M}(X)$ and

$$\sup_{B \subset X} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, V(B))} \left[\frac{1}{V(B)} \int_{B} |(I - (I + r_B^2 L)^{-1})^M f(x)|^2 d\mu(x) \right]^{1/2} < \infty$$

Moreover,

$$||f||_{BMO^{M}_{\rho,L}(X)} \approx \sup_{B \subset X} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, V(B))} \Big[\frac{1}{V(B)} \int_{B} |(I - (I + r_{B}^{2}L)^{-1})^{M} f(x)|^{2} d\mu(x) \Big]^{1/2}.$$

Proposition 4.2.12 Let the operator L satisfy Assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Assumption (C) and $\epsilon > n(1/p_{\omega} - 1/p_{\omega}^{+})$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in BMO_{\rho,L}^{M}(X)$,

$$\sup_{B \subset X} \frac{1}{\sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, V(B))} \left[\frac{1}{V(B)} \int_{\widehat{B}} |(t^2 L)^M e^{-t^2 L} f(x)|^2 \frac{d\mu(x)dt}{t} \right]^{1/2} \le C ||f||_{BMO^M_{\rho,L}(X)}.$$

The proofs of two above propositions are similar to Lemmas 8.1 and 8.3 in [46] and hence we omit the details.

We are now in position to obtain the main result in this subsection.

Theorem 4.2.13 Let the operator L satisfy Assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Assumption (C). Then $(H_{L,\omega}(X))^*$, the dual space of $H_{L,\omega}(X)$, coincides with $BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(X)$ in the following sense:

(i) For any functional $f \in BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(X)$ and $M > \max\left\{\frac{n}{2}(1/p_\omega - 1) + 1, \frac{n}{4}\right\}$, the linear functional given by

$$\ell(g) := < f, g >,$$

which is initially defined on $H_{\omega,fin}^{mol,\epsilon,2\widetilde{M}}$ with $\widetilde{M} > M + \frac{N}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$ and $\widetilde{M} - \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1) > \epsilon > \frac{N}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$ (N is a constant appearing in (2.1.3)), has a unique extension to $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ with

$$||\ell||_{(H_{L,\omega}(X))^*} \le C||f||_{BMO^M_{o,L^*}(X)}$$

where C is a positive constant independent of f.

(ii) Conversely, for any $\ell \in (H_{L,\omega}(X))^*$ and $M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$ there exists a function $f \in BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(X)$ such that

$$\ell(g) = \langle f, g \rangle$$

for all $g \in H^{mol,M,\epsilon}_{\omega,fin}$ and $||f||_{BMO^M_{\rho,L^*(X)}} \leq C||\ell||_{(H_{L,\omega}(X))^*}$, where C is a positive constant independent of ℓ .

Before coming to the proof of Theorem 4.2.13, we need the following results.

Lemma 4.2.14 There exists a collection of open sets $\{Q_{\alpha}^k \subset X : k \in \mathbb{Z}, \alpha \in I_k\}$, where I_k denotes certain (possibly finite) index set depending on k, and constants $\delta \in (0,1), a_0 \in (0,1)$ and $C_1 \in (0,\infty)$ such that

- (i) $\mu(X \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha} Q_{\alpha}^{k}) = 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$;
- (ii) if $i \geq k$, then either $Q^i_{\alpha} \subset Q^k_{\beta}$ or $Q^i_{\alpha} \cap Q^k_{\beta} = \emptyset$;
- (iii) for (k, α) and each i < k, there exists a unique β such $Q^k_{\alpha} \subset Q^i_{\beta}$;
- (iv) the diameter of $Q_{\alpha}^{k} \leq C_{1}\delta^{k}$;
- (v) each Q^k_{α} contains certain ball $B(z^k_{\alpha}, a_0 \delta^k)$.

Proof. The proof of this lemma can be found in [20].

Theorem 4.2.15 Let $M > \max\left\{\frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega}-1/2)+1,\frac{n}{4}\right\}$ and $0 < \epsilon < 2M - n(1/p_{\omega}-1/2)$. Suppose that $f = \sum_{i=1}^{l} \lambda_{i}a_{i}$ where $\{a_{i}\}_{i=1}^{l}$ is a family of $(\omega, \epsilon, 2M)$ -molecules and $\sum_{i=1}^{l} |\lambda_{i}| < \infty$. Then there exists a representation $f = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \mu_{i}m_{i}$, where the m_{i} 's are (ω, ϵ, M) -molecules and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K} |\mu_i| \le C ||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)},$$

with $C = C(\epsilon, M)$.

Proof. Indeed, we can adapt the ideas in the proof of Theorem 5.3 in [45] with minor modifications to obtain the proof of Theorem 4.2.15. Instead of dealing with atoms as in [45], we work on molecules by decomposing the underline space X into annuli according to the balls associated with the molecules. We therefore omit the details.

Proof of Theorem 4.2.13. Let m be an (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule associated with a ball $B \subset X$. Then there exists a function b such that the conditions (i) and (ii) in Definition 4.2.5 hold. Then we have,

$$r_B^{2\widetilde{M}}m = (r_B^2 L)^{\widetilde{M}}b = (I - (I + r_B^2 L)^{-1})^M (I + r_B^2 L)^M (r_B^2 L)^{\widetilde{M} - M}b$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^M C_M^k (I - (I + r_B^2 L)^{-1})^M (r_B^2 L)^{\widetilde{M} - k}b.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle f,m\rangle| &= r_B^{-2\widetilde{M}} |\langle f,(r_B^2 L)^{\widetilde{M}}b\rangle| \\ &\leq Cr_B^{-2\widetilde{M}} \sum_{k=0}^{M} \left| \int_X (I - (I + r_B^2 L^*)^{-1})^M f(x) \overline{(r_B^2 L)^{\widetilde{M} - k} b(x)} d\mu(x) \right| \\ &\leq Cr_B^{-2\widetilde{M}} \sum_{k=0}^{M} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\int_{S_j(B)} \left| (I - (I + r_B^2 L^*)^{-1})^M f(x) \right|^2 d\mu(x) \right)^{1/2} \times ||(r_B^2 L)^{\widetilde{M} - k} b||_{L^2(S_j(B))} \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\epsilon j} [V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \sup_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1} \left(\int_{S_j(B)} \left| (I - (I + r_B^2 L^*)^{-1})^M f(x) \right|^2 d\mu(x) \right|^{1/2} . \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2.5)$$

With notations as in Lemma 4.2.14 we choose an integer k_j , for each $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, such that $C_1 \delta^{k_j} \leq 2^j r_B < C_1 \delta^{k_j-1}$. Set

$$M_j = \{ \beta \in I_{k_0} : Q_{\beta}^{k_0} \cap B(x_B, C_1 \delta^{k_j - 1}) \neq \emptyset \}.$$

Then, for each $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$S_j(B) \subset B(x_B, C_1\delta^{k_j-1}) \subset \bigcup_{\beta \in M_j} Q_{\beta}^{k_0} \subset B(x_B, 2C_1\delta^{k_j-1}).$$

From (*ii*) in Lemma 4.2.14 we can assume that the sets $Q_{\beta}^{k_0}$ for all $\beta \in M_j$ are pairwise disjoint. Furthermore, it follows from (iv) and (v) that there exists $z_{\beta}^{k_0} \in Q_{\beta}^{k_0}$ such that

$$B(z_{\beta}^{k_0}, a_0 \delta^{k_0}) \subset Q_{\beta}^{k_0} \subset B(z_{\beta}^{k_0}, C_1 \delta^{k_0}) \subset B(z_{\beta}^{k_0}, r_B) \subset B(z_{\beta}^{k_0}, C_1 \delta^{k_0 - 1}).$$
(4.2.6)

Therefore, from (2.1.3), Proposition 4.2.11 together with the fact that ρ is of type $(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}^+} - 1, \frac{1}{p_{\omega}^-} - 1)$ and $p_{\omega} \leq p_{\omega}^- \leq p_{\omega}^+$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left(\int_{S_{j}(B)} \left| (I - (I + r_{B}^{2}L^{*})^{-1})^{M}f(x) \right|^{2} d\mu(x) \right)^{1/2} \\ & \leq \left(\sum_{\beta \in M_{j}} \int_{B(z_{\beta}^{k_{0}}, r_{B})} \left| (I - (I + r_{B}^{2}L^{*})^{-1})^{M}f(x) \right|^{2} d\mu(x) \right)^{1/2} \\ & \leq C ||f||_{BMO_{\rho,L^{*}}^{M}(X)} \left(\sum_{\beta \in M_{j}} V(B(z_{\beta}^{k_{0}}, r_{B})) \sup_{x \in B(z_{\beta}^{k_{0}}, r_{B})} \rho(x, V(B(z_{\beta}^{k_{0}}, r_{B})))^{2} \right)^{1/2} \\ & \leq C 2^{jN(1/p_{\omega}-1)} ||f||_{BMO_{\rho,L^{*}}^{M}(X)} V(B(x_{B}, 2C_{1}\delta^{k_{j}-1}))^{1/2} \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, V(B(x_{B}, r_{B}))) \\ & \leq C 2^{jN(1/p_{\omega}-1)} ||f||_{BMO_{\rho,L^{*}}^{M}(X)} V(2^{j}B)^{1/2} \sup_{x \in B} \rho(x, V(B)). \end{split}$$

$$(4.2.7)$$

Combination of two estimates (4.2.5) and (4.2.7) gives

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle f, m \rangle| &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\epsilon j} 2^{jN(1/p_{\omega}-1)} \left(\frac{V(B)}{V(2^{j}B)} \right)^{1/p_{\omega}-1} ||f||_{BMO_{\rho,L^{*}}^{M}(X)} \\ &\leq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{j(-\epsilon+N(1/p_{\omega}-1))} ||f||_{BMO_{\rho,L^{*}}^{M}(X)} \\ &\leq C ||f||_{BMO_{\rho,L^{*}}^{M}(X)}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2.8)$$

Now for any $g \in H^{mol,\epsilon,2\widetilde{M}}_{\omega,fin}$ then by Theorem 4.2.15, there exists a representation $g = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \mu_i m_i$, where the $m'_i s$ are $(\omega, \epsilon, \widetilde{M})$ -molecules and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K} |\mu_i| \le C ||g||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)}.$$
(4.2.9)

As a result, it follows from (4.2.8) and (4.2.9) that

$$\langle f, g \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{K} |\mu_i| \langle f, m_i \rangle$$

$$\leq C \sum_{i=1}^{K} |\mu_i| ||f||_{BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(X)}$$

$$\leq C ||g||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)} ||f||_{BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(X)}$$

The proof of part (i) of Theorem 4.2.13 is complete.

Conversely, we will adapt the ideas in [46] to give the proof of part (ii) of Theorem 4.2.13. Observe that for each (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule m,

$$|\ell(m)| \le C ||\ell||_{(H_{L,\omega}(X))^*}.$$

Since each element in $\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)$ is also an (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule associated to the ball $B(x_0, 1)$ which implies that ℓ defines a linear function on $\mathcal{M}^{M,\epsilon}_{\omega}(L)$ for every $\epsilon > 0, M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$. Therefore, $(I - (I + t^2L^*))^M \ell$ is well defined and belongs to L^2_{loc} for all t > 0. Fix a ball B and let $\phi \in L^2(B)$ such that $||\phi||_{L^2(B)} \leq 1$. Then one can check that

$$\widetilde{m} = (I - (I + r_B^2 L)^{-1})^M \phi$$

is an (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule for every $\epsilon > 0$ and hence $||\widetilde{m}||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)} \leq C$. Consequently, we have

$$| < (I - (I + r_B^2 L^*)^{-1})^M \ell, \phi > | = | < \ell, (I - (I + r_B^2 L)^{-1})^M \phi >$$

= | < \ell, \tilde{m} > | \le C ||\ell||_{(H_{L,\omega}(X))^*},

which further implies that

$$\frac{1}{\sup_{x\in B}\rho(x,V(B))} \left(\frac{1}{V(B)} \int_{B} |(I - (I + r_B^2 L^*)^{-1})^M \ell(x)|^2 d\mu(x)\right)^{1/2} \le C ||\ell||_{(H_{L,\omega}(X))^*}.$$

for all balls *B*. Thus, $\ell \in BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(X)$ and $\|\ell\|_{BMO^M_{\rho,L^*}(X)} \leq C \|\ell\|_{(H_{L,\omega}(X))^*}$, which completes the proof of part (ii).

4.3 Riesz transform and holomorphic functional calculus

4.3.1 Holomorphic functional calculus

Lemma 4.3.1 Let the operator L satisfy Assumptions (i) and (ii), ω satisfy Assumption (C) and $M > \frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2})$. Suppose that T is linear (resp. nonnegative sublinear) operator which maps $L^{2}(X)$ continuous into weak- $L^{2}(X)$. If there exists a positive constant C such that for any (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule a,

$$\int_{X} \omega(x, T(\lambda a)(x)) d\mu(x) \le CV(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right), \tag{4.3.1}$$

then T extends to a bounded linear (resp. sublinear) operator from $H_{L,\omega(X)}$ to $L^1(\omega)$; moreover, there exists a positive constant C' such that

$$||Tf||_{L^1(\omega)} \le C' ||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)},$$

for all $f \in H_{L,\omega}(X)$.

Proof. It follows from Theorem 4.2.6 that for every $f \in H_{L,\omega}(X) \cap L^2(X)$, there exist a sequence of (ω, ϵ, M) -molecules $\{a_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_j a_j$ in both $H_{L,\omega}(X)$ and $L^2(X)$. Moreover, there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\Lambda(\{\lambda_j a_j\}_j) \le C||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)}.$$

Thus, if T is linear, then it follows from the fact that T is of week type (2,2) that $T(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j a_j)$ almost everywhere. If T is a non-negative sublinear operator, then

$$\sup_{t>0} t^{1/2} \mu \left\{ x \in X : \left| T(f)(x) - T\left(\sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_j a_j\right)(x) \right| > t \right\} \le C \left\| f - \sum_{j=1}^N \lambda_j a_j \right\|_{L^2(X)}.$$

Note that $\left\| f - \sum_{j=1}^{N} \lambda_j a_j \right\|_{L^2(X)} \to 0$ as $N \to \infty$. Thus, there exists a subsequence $\{N_k\}_k \subset \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j a_j\right) \to T(f)$$

almost everywhere, as $k \to \infty$. Observe that

$$T(f) - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j a_j) = T(f) - T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j a_j\right) + T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j a_j\right) - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j a_j).$$

Hence, it follows from the non-negativity and the sublinearity of T that

$$T(f) - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j a_j) \le T(f) - T\left(\sum_{j=1}^{N_k} \lambda_j a_j\right).$$

By letting $k \to \infty$, we see that $T(f) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} T(\lambda_j a_j)$ almost everywhere. Thus, by the subadditivity and the continuity of ω , we deduce that

$$\int_{X} \omega(x, T(f)(x)) d\mu(x) \le C \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{X} \omega(x, T(\lambda_j a_j)(x)) d\mu(x).$$
(4.3.2)

Finally, it follows from (4.3.1) and (4.3.2) that

$$\|T(f)\|_{L^{1}(\omega)} \leq C\Lambda\left(\{\lambda_{j}a_{j}\}_{j}\right) \leq C\|f\|_{H_{L,\omega}(X)},$$

which, combined with the density of $H_{L,\omega}(X) \cap L^2(X)$ in $H_{L,\omega}(X)$, completes the proof of the above lemma.

Theorem 4.3.2 Let L be of type θ on $L^2(X)$ with $0 \leq \theta < \pi/2$ and satisfy (i) and (ii), ω satisfy (C) and $\theta < \nu < \pi$. Then, for any $f \in H_{\infty}(S^0_{\nu}), f(L)$ is bounded on $H_{L,\omega}(X)$, that is, for any $g \in H_{L,\omega}(X)$

$$||f(L)g||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)} \le C||f||_{\infty}||g||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)}.$$
(4.3.3)

Proof. Choose $M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega} - 1/2)$ and $\tilde{p}_{\omega} > p_{\omega}$ close enough to p_{ω} (as in Convention (B)) so that there exists ϵ satisfying

$$n\Big(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{\widetilde{p}_{\omega}}\Big) < \epsilon < 2M + \frac{n}{2} - \frac{n}{p_{\omega}}.$$

With any (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule m associated to a ball $B \subset X$, we will claim that

$$\int_{X} \omega(x, S_L(\lambda f(L)m)(x)) d\mu(x) \le C ||f||_{\infty} V(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right).$$
(4.3.4)

Once (4.3.4) is proved, (4.3.3) follows by Lemma 4.3.1. Let us prove (4.3.4). Write

$$\int_{X} \omega(x, S_L(\lambda f(L)m)(x)) d\mu(x) \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{X} \omega(x, S_L(\lambda f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_j(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} A_j$$

for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

Since ω satisfies Assumption (C), by the Hölder inequality, for each $j \in \mathbb{N}$, one obtains

$$\begin{split} A_{j} &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} \omega(x, S_{L}(\lambda f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda| \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} |S_{L}(f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(y)| d\mu(y)}{V(2^{k+j}B)}\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda| ||S_{L}(f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})||_{L^{2}(S_{k}(2^{j}B))}}{V(2^{k+j}B)^{1/2}}\right). \end{split}$$

For k = 0, 1, 2,

$$\begin{aligned} ||S_L(f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_j(B)})||_{L^2(S_k(2^jB))} &\leq C ||f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_j(B)}||_{L^2(X)} \\ &\leq C ||f||_{\infty} ||m||_{S_j(B)} 2^{-j\epsilon} [V(2^jB)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^jB))]^{-1}. \end{aligned}$$

For $k \geq 3$, write

$$\begin{split} ||S_{L}(f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})||_{L^{2}(S_{k}(2^{j}B))}^{2} \\ &= \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} \left(\int_{0}^{\frac{d(x,x_{B})}{4}} + \int_{\frac{d(x,x_{B})}{4}}^{\infty} \right) \int_{d(x,y) < t} |t^{2}Le^{-t^{2}L}f(L)m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)}|^{2} \frac{d\mu(y)}{V(x,t)} \frac{dt}{t} d\mu(x) \\ &= I_{j} + II_{j}. \end{split}$$

Let us estimate I_j . It can be verified that there exists a positive constant C such that for all closed sets E and F in $X, t \in (0, \infty)$ and $g \in L^2(X)$ supported in E,

$$||(tL)^{M+1}e^{-tL}f(L)g||_{L^{2}(F)} \leq C\left(\frac{t}{d(E,F)^{2}}\right)^{M+1}||g||_{L^{2}(E)}.$$
(4.3.5)

Setting $U_{kj}(B) := \{y \in X : d(x, y) \leq \frac{d(x, x_B)}{4} \text{ for certain } x \in S_k(2^j B)\}$, then for each $z \in S_j(B)$ and $y \in U_{kj}(B)$, we have $d(y, z) \geq 2^{k+j-2}r_B$. Combining $\int_{d(x,y) < t} V(x, t)^{-1} d\mu(x) < c$, $m = L^M b$ and (4.3.5), one gets

$$\begin{split} I_{j} &\leq C \int_{0}^{2^{k+j+1}r_{B}} \int_{S_{j}(B)} |(t^{2}L)^{M+1}e^{-t^{2}L}f(L)b \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)}(y)|^{2}d\mu(y)\frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}} \\ &\leq C ||f||_{\infty}^{2} ||b||_{L^{2}(S_{j}(B))}^{2} \int_{0}^{2^{k+j+1}r_{B}} \left(\frac{ct^{2}}{d(U_{kj}(B),S_{j}(B))^{2}}\right)^{2M+2} \frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}} \\ &\leq C ||f||_{\infty}^{2} 2^{-4(j+k)M} 2^{-2\epsilon j} [V(2^{j}B)]^{-1} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x,V(2^{j}B))]^{-2}. \end{split}$$

For the term II_j , we have

$$II_{j} \leq C \int_{2^{k+j-1}r_{B}}^{\infty} \int_{S_{j}(B)} |(t^{2}L)^{M+1}e^{-t^{2}L}f(L)b \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)}(y)|^{2}d\mu(y)\frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}}$$
$$\leq C||f||_{\infty}^{2}||b||_{L^{2}(S_{j}(B))}^{2} \int_{2^{k+j-1}r_{B}}^{\infty} \frac{dt}{t^{4M+1}}$$
$$\leq C||f||_{\infty}^{2}2^{-4(k+j)M}2^{-2\epsilon j}[V(2^{j}B)]^{-1}\inf_{x\in B}[\rho(x,V(2^{j}B))]^{-2}.$$

Further going, from the estimates for I_j , II_j , the strictly lower type p_{ω} of ω together with the fact that $-2Mp_{\omega} + n(1 - p_{\omega}/2) < 0$, we obtain

$$\int_{S_{j}(B)} \omega(x, S_{L}(f(L)m)(x))d\mu(x) \\
\leq C||f||_{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{(-2(k+j)M-j\epsilon)p_{\omega}} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x\in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{[V(2^{k+j}B)]^{1/2}[V(2^{j}B)]^{1/2}\sup_{y\in B}\rho(y, V(2^{j}B))]}\right) \\
\leq C||f||_{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{(-2(k+j)M-j\epsilon)} 2^{kn(1-p_{\omega}/2)p_{\omega}} V(2^{j}B) \inf_{x\in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{[V(2^{j}B)]\sup_{y\in B}\rho(y, V(2^{j}B))]}\right)$$

Since ρ is of uniformly lower type $1/\tilde{p}_{\omega} - 1$, we further have

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{j}(B)} \omega(x, S_{L}(\lambda f(L)m)(x)) d\mu(x)$$

$$\leq C||f||_{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\epsilon p_{\omega} j} (V(2^{j}B) \left(\frac{V(B)}{V(2^{j}B)}\right)^{p_{\omega}/\tilde{p}_{\omega}} \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right)$$

$$\leq C||f||_{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\epsilon p_{\omega} j} 2^{1-p_{\omega}/\tilde{p}_{\omega})nj} V(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right).$$

Noting that since $n\left(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{\omega}}\right) < \epsilon$ and $M > \frac{n}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p_{\omega}} - \frac{1}{2}\right)$, we learn that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_j(B)} \omega(x, S_L(\lambda f(L)m)(x)) d\mu(x) \le C ||f||_{\infty} V(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right).$$

4.3.2 Riesz transforms

Assume that D is a densely defined linear operator on $L^2(X)$ which possesses the following properties:

- (i) $DL^{-1/2}$ is bounded on $L^2(X)$.
- (ii) The family of operators $\{\sqrt{t}De^{-tL}\}_{t>0}$ satisfies the Davies–Gaffney estimate (4.1.1).

Examples in which conditions (i) and (ii) are satisfied include the case $X = \mathbb{R}^n$, D being the gradient operator, and L the second-order divergence form operator; also, X any non-compact complete Riemannian manifold, D the Riemannian gradient, and L the Laplace–Beltrami operator. See, for example, [3, 4, 26].

Theorem 4.3.3 For any $f \in H_{L,\omega}(X)$,

$$||DL^{-1/2}f||_{L^{1}(\omega)} \leq C||f||_{H_{L,\omega}(X)}.$$

Before giving the proof of Theorem 4.3.3, we state the following lemma.

Lemma 4.3.4 For every $M \in \mathbb{N}$, all closed sets E, F in X with d(E, F) > 0 and every $f \in L^2(X)$ supported in E, one has

$$||DL^{-1/2}(I - e^{-tL})^M f||_{L^2(F)} \le C \left(\frac{t}{d(E, F)^2}\right)^M ||f||_{L^2(E)}, \ \forall t > 0, \tag{4.3.6}$$

and

$$||DL^{-1/2}(tLe^{-tL})^M f||_{L^2(F)} \le C \left(\frac{t}{d(E,F)^2}\right)^M ||f||_{L^2(E)}, \ \forall t > 0.$$
(4.3.7)

Proof. The proof of Lemma 4.3.4 is completely analogous to one of Lemma 2.2 in [47] and we omit it here.

Proof of Theorem 4.3.3. Choose $M > \frac{n}{2}(1/p_{\omega}-1/2)$. Let m is an (ω, ϵ, M) -molecule associated to a ball B, $\epsilon < 2M + \frac{n}{2} - \frac{n}{p_{\omega}}$. Then there exists a function b such that $m = L^{M}b$. Setting $T = DL^{-1/2}$ and write

$$\begin{split} &\int_{X} \omega(x, T(\lambda m)(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \int_{X} \omega(x, |\lambda| T((I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M} m(x)) d\mu(x) + \int_{X} \omega(x, |\lambda| T([I - (I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M}] m(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{X} \omega(x, |\lambda| T((I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M} (m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\quad + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \int_{X} \omega(x, |\lambda| T([I - (I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M}] (m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} I_{j} + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} II_{j}. \end{split}$$

We estimate the term I_j first. By the Hölder inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} I_{j} &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} \omega(x, |\lambda| T((I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M})(m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\Big(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(2^{k+j}B)} \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} T((I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M})(m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(y)) d\mu(y)\Big) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\Big(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{[V(2^{k+j}B)]^{1/2}} ||T((I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M})(m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})||_{L^{2}(S_{k}(2^{j}B))}\Big). \end{split}$$

For k = 0, 1, 2, it follows from Lemma 4.3.4 that

$$||T((I - e^{r_B^2 L})^M)(m \cdot \chi_{S_j(B)})||_{L^2(S_k(2^j B))} \le C||m||_{L^2(S_j(B))} \le C2^{-\epsilon j}[V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B}[\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1}$$

and for $k \geq 3$ that

$$||T((I - e^{r_B^2 L})^M)(m \cdot \chi_{S_j(B)})||_{L^2(S_k(2^j B))} \leq C2^{-2M(k+j)} ||m||_{L^2(S_j(B))} \leq C2^{-2M(k+j)} 2^{-\epsilon_j} [V(2^j B)]^{-1/2} \inf_{x \in B} [\rho(x, V(2^j B))]^{-1}$$

At this stage, by the same argument used in the proof of Theorem 4.3.2, we obtain

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} I_j \le CV(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))} \right).$$

We now proceed with terms $II_j, j = 0, 1, ...$ Also, by the Hölder inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} II_{j} &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} \omega(x, |\lambda| T (I - (I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M}) (m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(x)) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(2^{k+j}B)} \int_{S_{k}(2^{j}B)} T (I - (I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M}) (m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})(y) d\mu(y) \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V(2^{k+j}B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega \left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{[V(2^{k+j}B)]^{1/2}} ||T(I - (I - e^{r_{B}^{2}L})^{M}) (m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)})||_{L^{2}(S_{k}(2^{j}B))} \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} II_{j}^{k}. \end{split}$$

Next we have

$$I - (I - e^{r_B^2 L})^M = \sum_{k=1}^M c_k e^{-kr_B^2 L},$$

where $c_k := (-1)^{k+1} \frac{M!}{(M-k)!k!}$. Therefore,

$$II_{j}^{k} \leq C \sup_{1 \leq k \leq M} ||Te^{-kr_{B}^{2}L}m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)}||_{L^{2}(S_{k}(2^{j}B))}$$
$$\leq C \sup_{1 \leq k \leq M} \left| \left|T\left(\frac{k}{M}r_{B}^{2}Le^{-\frac{k}{M}r_{B}^{2}L}\right)^{M}(r_{B}^{-2}L^{-1})^{M}m \cdot \chi_{S_{j}(B)}\right| \right|_{L^{2}(S_{k}(2^{j}B))}.$$

At this point, repeating the argument used to estimate I_j , we also obtain that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} II_j \le CV(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\left(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \sup_{y \in B} \rho(y, V(B))}\right).$$

Combining obtained estimates gives

$$\int\limits_X \omega(x, T(\lambda m(x))) d\mu(x) \le CV(B) \inf_{x \in X} \omega\Big(x, \frac{|\lambda|}{V(B) \underset{y \in B}{\sup} \rho(y, V(B))}\Big).$$

This, together with Lemma 4.3.1, therefore completes our proof.

5 Generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operators and their commutators on weighted Morrey spaces

5.1 Basic notation

Let ω be a weight function, namely ω is a measurable function on \mathbb{R}^n and $\omega(x) > 0$ a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. We denote by $BMO(\omega)$ the space of all functions f, which are of bounded mean oscillation with weight ω , that is

$$||f||_{BMO(\omega)} = \sup_{B} \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(x) - f_{B,\omega}|\omega(x)dx < \infty, \qquad (5.1.1)$$

where the supremum is taken over all *n*-dimensional balls *B*. Here, $\omega(B) = \int_B \omega(x) dx$, and $f_{B,\omega}$ is the mean value of f on B with weight ω :

$$f_{Q,\omega} = \frac{1}{\omega(Q)} \int_Q f(x)\omega(x)dx.$$

The case $\omega \equiv 1$ of (5.1.1) corresponds to the class of functions of bounded mean oscillation of F. John and L. Nirenberg [53]. It is easy to see that $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset BMO(\omega)$. In the sequel, we need the following well-known result (see [73]).

Lemma 5.1.1 Assume that ω is a weight function with the doubling property, that is for some positive constant C, we have

$$\omega\left(B(x,2r)\right) \le C\omega\left(B(x,r)\right),$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0. Then, for any $1 , there exists some positive contant <math>C_p$ such that

$$||f||_{BMO^{p}(\omega)} := \sup_{B} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(x) - f_{B,\omega}|^{p} \omega(x) dx \right)^{1/p} \le C_{p} ||f||_{BMO(\omega)}$$

On the other hand, the classical Morrey spaces, which are natural generalizations of $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, were introduced by Morrey in [63] to investigate the local behavior of solutions to second-order elliptic partial differential equations. After that, K. Yasuo and S. Satoru in [86] defined weighted Morrey spaces to study the boundedness of classical operators in harmonic analysis such as the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator, Calderón-Zygmund operators and fractional integral operators.

Definition 5.1.2 Let ω be a weight function and B(a, R) be a ball centered at a with radius R. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $-1/p \leq \lambda \leq 0$. The weighted Morrey space $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ is defined by

$$L^{p,\lambda}(\omega) := \left\{ f \in L^p_{loc}(\omega) : \|f\|_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} < \infty \right\}, \qquad (5.1.2)$$

where

$$||f||_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} = \sup_{a \in \mathbb{R}^n, R>0} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B(a,R))^{1+p\lambda}} \int_{B(a,R)} |f(x)|^p \omega(x) dx \right)^{1/p}.$$
 (5.1.3)

Remark 5.1.3 If ω has the doubling property then in (5.1.3) one can replace balls B(a, R) by balls B(0, R) centered at the origin.

Remark 5.1.4 (1) If $\omega \equiv 1$, then $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega) = L^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the classical Morrey spaces.

(2) Assume that ω has the doubling property. If $\lambda = -1/p$, $L^{p,-1/p}(\omega) = L^p(\omega)$. If $\lambda = 0$, $L^{p,0}(\omega) = L^{\infty}(\omega)$ by the Lebesgue differentiation theorem with respect to ω .

In what follows, we will use the following useful variant of the maximal theorem for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M_{ω} with respect to the measure $\omega(x)dx$, that is

$$M_{\omega}f(x) = \sup_{B} \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(y)|\omega(y)dy,$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B containing x. See [86, Theorem 3.1].

Lemma 5.1.5 Assume that ω has the doubling property, $1 and <math>-1/p < \lambda < 0$. Then the operator M_{ω} is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$.

5.2 Bounds of generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operators on weighted Morrey spaces $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$

In this section, we will show the boundedness of the generalized Hardy-Cesàro operator $U_{\psi,s}$ on spaces $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for the class of weights ω below and compute the corresponding operator norm.

Definition 5.2.1 Let α be a real number. Then \mathcal{W}_{α} denotes the set of all weight functions ω on \mathbb{R}^n , which are absolutely homogeneous of degree α , that is $\omega(tx) = |t|^{\alpha}\omega(x)$, for all $t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $0 < \int_{S_n} \omega(y) d\sigma(y) < \infty$, where $S_n = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x| = 1\}$.

Recall that if we define the measure ρ on $(0, \infty)$ by $\rho(E) = \int_E r^{n-1} dr$, and the map $\Phi(x) = \left(|x|, \frac{x}{|x|}\right)$, then there exists a unique Borel measure σ on S_n such that $\rho \times \sigma$ is the Borel measure induced by Φ from Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^n (n > 1) (see [40, page 78], [54, page 142] for more details).

Let us describe some typical examples and properties of \mathcal{W}_{α} . Note that a weight $\omega \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$ may not belong to $L^{1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. In fact, we observe that if $\omega \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$, then $\omega \in L^{1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ if and only if $\alpha > -n$. If n = 1, then $\omega(x) = c|x|^{\alpha}$, for some positive constant c. For $n \geq 1$, $\omega(x) = |x|^{\alpha}$ is in \mathcal{W}_{α} and has the doubling property when $\alpha > -n$. If ω_{1}, ω_{2} are in \mathcal{W}_{α} , so are $\theta\omega_{1} + \lambda\omega_{2}$ for all $\theta, \lambda > 0$.

Lemma 5.2.2 For any real number $\alpha > -n$, if $\omega \in W_{\alpha}$ then there exists a positive constant C such that for all R > 0,

$$\omega(B(0,R)) = \int_{B(0,R)} \omega(x) dx = CR^{n+\alpha}.$$

Proof. It comes from the standard integral calculation that

$$\int_{B(0,R)} \omega(x) dx = \int_0^R dr \int_{S(0,r)} \omega(y) d\sigma(y) = \int_0^R r^{n+\alpha-1} dr \int_{S_n} \omega(y) d\sigma(y).$$

So one can choose $C = \frac{1}{n+\alpha} \int_{S_n} \omega(y) d\sigma(y)$ to complete the proof of Lemma 5.2.2.

The next lemma plays an important role in our proofs of theorems in the sequel.

Lemma 5.2.3 Assume that $\omega \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ and has the doubling property, $1 < q < \infty$ and $-1/q < \lambda < 0$. Then $h(x) = |x|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \in L^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ and $\|h\|_{L^{q,\lambda}(\omega)} > 0$.

Proof. By Remark 5.1.3, one can replace balls B(a, R) by balls B(0, R) in the definition of weighted Morrey spaces. Then we have

$$\frac{1}{\omega(B(0,R))^{1+q\lambda}} \int_{B(0,R)} |x|^{(n+\alpha)q\lambda} \omega(x) dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{\omega(B(0,R))^{1+q\lambda}} \int_0^R dr \int_{S(0,r)} r^{(n+\alpha)q\lambda} \omega(y) d\sigma(y)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\omega(B(0,R))^{1+q\lambda}} \int_0^R r^{(n+\alpha)q\lambda+n+\alpha-1} dr \int_{S_n} \omega(y) d\sigma(y)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\omega(B(0,R))^{1+q\lambda}} \frac{R^{(n+\alpha)(q\lambda+1)}}{(n+\alpha)(q\lambda+1)} \int_{S_n} \omega(y) d\sigma(y),$$

which, together with Lemma 5.2.2, completes the proof of Lemma 5.2.3.

In [42], Z. Fu and S. LU proved that for $1 and <math>-1/p < \lambda < 0$, U_{ψ} is bounded on Morrey spaces $L^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if

$$\mathcal{A} = \int_0^1 t^{n\lambda} \psi(t) dt < \infty.$$

They also showed that \mathcal{A} is the $L^{p,\lambda}$ -operator norm of U_{ψ} . Our main result in this section is formulated as follows.

Theorem 5.2.4 Assume that $\omega \in W_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ and has the doubling property, $1 and <math>-1/p < \lambda < 0$. Let $s : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable function such that |s(t)| > 0 a.e. $t \in [0,1]$. Then $U_{\psi,s}$ is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ if and only if

$$\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt < \infty.$$
(5.2.1)

Moreover, when (5.2.1) holds, the operator norm of $U_{\psi,s}$ on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ is given by

$$\|U_{\psi,s}\|_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)\to L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} = \int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt.$$
(5.2.2)

Proof. Suppose that (5.2.1) holds. For each $f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$, since $s(t) \neq 0$ almost everywhere, ω is homogeneous of degree α and applying Minkowski's inequality (see [44, page 14]) we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\left(\frac{1}{\omega(B(a,R))^{1+p\lambda}}\int_{B(a,R)}|U_{\psi,s}f(x)|^{p}\omega(x)dx\right)^{1/p}\\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1}\left(\frac{1}{\omega(B(a,R))^{1+p\lambda}}\int_{B(a,R)}|f(s(t)x)|^{p}\omega(x)dx\right)^{1/p}\psi(t)dt\\ &= \int_{0}^{1}\left(\frac{1}{\omega\left(s(t)B(a,R)\right)^{1+p\lambda}}\int_{s(t)B(a,R)}|f(x)|^{p}\omega(x)dx\right)^{1/p}|s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda}\psi(t)dt\\ &\leq \|f\|_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)}\cdot\int_{0}^{1}|s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda}\psi(t)dt < \infty. \end{split}$$

Thus, $U_{\psi,s}$ is defined as a bounded operator on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ and

$$\|U_{\psi,s}\|_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)\to L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} \le \int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt.$$
(5.2.3)

Conversely, assume that $U_{\psi,s}$ is defined as a bounded operator on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$. Due to Lemma 5.2.3, we take $h(x) = |x|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \in L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$. It is easy to see that

$$U_{\psi,s}h = h \int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt.$$
 (5.2.4)

Combining (5.2.3) and (5.2.4), we get the desired result immediately.

Analogous to the proof of Theorem 5.2.4, we could find a sufficient condition on ψ such that the integral operator $\mathcal{U}_{\psi,s}$, which is defined by

$$\mathcal{U}_{\psi,s}f(x) = \int_0^\infty f(s(t)x)\,\psi(t)dt,$$

is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$.

Theorem 5.2.5 Assume that $\omega \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ and has the doubling property, $1 and <math>-1/p < \lambda < 0$. Let $s : [0;1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable function such that |s(t)| > 0 a.e. $t \in [0,1]$. Then $\mathcal{U}_{\psi,s}$ is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ if

$$\int_0^\infty |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt < \infty.$$
(5.2.5)

Moreover, when (5.2.5) holds, we have

$$\|\mathcal{U}_{\psi,s}\|_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)\to L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} \le \int_0^\infty |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt.$$
(5.2.6)

Corollary 5.2.6 Assume that $\omega \in W_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ and has the doubling property, $1 and <math>-1/p < \lambda < 0$. Let $s : [0;1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a measurable function such that |s(t)| > 0 a.e. $t \in [0,1]$. Then $V_{\psi,s}$ is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ if and only if

$$\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda+n} \psi(t)dt < \infty.$$
(5.2.7)

Moreover, when (5.2.7) holds, the operator norm of $V_{\psi,s}$ on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ is given by

$$\|V_{\psi,s}\|_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)\to L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} = \int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda+n} \psi(t) dt.$$
 (5.2.8)

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of Theorem 5.2.4 with the relation $V_{\psi,s}f(x) = U_{|s(\cdot)|^n\psi,s}f(x)$.

5.3 Commutators of generalized Hardy-Cesàro operators

Recently, the authors in [41] established a necessary and sufficient condition on the weight function $\psi(t)$, which ensures the boundedness of the commutators (with symbols in $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$) of weighted Hardy operators U_{ψ} and weighted Cesàro operators V_{ψ} on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then in [42] these results have been extended to classical Morrey spaces. The purpose of this section is to extend the results mentioned above to generalized Hardy-Cesàro operators $U_{\psi,s}$ on weighted central Morrey spaces. Let us first recall here the definition of the weighted central Morrey spaces.

Definition 5.3.1 Let ω be a weight function. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $-1/p \leq \lambda \leq 0$. The weighted central Morrey space $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ is defined by

$$\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega) := \left\{ f \in L^p_{loc}(\omega) : \|f\|_{\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} < \infty \right\},\tag{5.3.1}$$

where

$$\|f\|_{\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)} = \sup_{R>0} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B(0,R))^{1+p\lambda}} \int_{B(0,R)} |f(x)|^p \omega(x) dx \right)^{1/p}.$$
 (5.3.2)

The first result we obtain in this section is the following.

Theorem 5.3.2 Let $\omega \in W_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ hold the doubling property, 1 $and <math>-1/q < \lambda < 0$. Assume that $s : [0;1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function such that $0 < |s(t)| \le 1$ a.e. $t \in [0,1]$. Then (i) and (ii) are equivalent:

- (i) $U^{b}_{\psi,s}$ is bounded from $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ to $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $b \in BMO(\omega)$;
- (ii) $\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \left| \log \frac{2}{|s(t)|} \right| \psi(t) dt < \infty.$

Before coming to the proof of Theorem 5.3.2, we need the following two lemmas (see [22]). For convenience of the reader, the proofs to these lemmas are presented along with them.

Lemma 5.3.3 If $\omega \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$ and has the doubling property, then $\log |x| \in BMO(\omega)$.

Proof. To prove $\log |x| \in BMO(\omega)$, for any $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0, we need to find a constant $c_{x_0,r}$, such that $\frac{1}{\omega(B(x_0,r))} \int_{|x-x_0| \le r} |\log |x| - c_{x_0,r}| \omega(x) dx$ is uniformly bounded. Since

$$\frac{1}{\omega (B(x_0, r))} \int_{|x-x_0| \le r} |\log |x| - c_{x_0, r}| \,\omega(x) dx$$
$$= \frac{r^{\alpha+n}}{\omega (B(x_0, r))} \int_{|z-r^{-1}x_0| \le 1} |\log |z| - \log r - c_{x_0, r}| \,\omega(z) dz$$
$$= \frac{1}{\omega (B(r^{-1}x_0, 1))} \int_{|z-r^{-1}x_0| \le 1} |\log |z| - \log r - c_{x_0, r}| \,\omega(z) dz,$$

we may take $c_{x_0,r} = c_{r^{-1}x_0,1} + \log r$, and so things reduce to the case that r = 1 and x_0 is arbitrary. Let

$$A_{x_0} = \frac{1}{\omega \left(B(x_0, 1) \right)} \int_{|z - x_0| \le 1} |\log |z| - c_{x_0, 1} |\omega(z) dz.$$

If $|x_0| \leq 2$, we take $c_{x_0,1} = 0$, and observe that

$$A_{x_0} \leq \frac{1}{\omega \left(B(x_0, 1)\right)} \int_{|z| \leq 3} \log 3 \cdot \omega(z) dz = \log 3 \cdot \frac{\omega \left(B(0, 3)\right)}{\omega \left(B(x_0, 1)\right)}$$
$$\leq \log 3 \cdot \frac{\omega \left(B(x_0, 6)\right)}{\omega \left(B(x_0, 1)\right)} \leq C < \infty,$$

where the last inequality comes from the assumption that ω has the doubling property.

If $|x_0| \ge 2$, take $c_{x_0,1} = \log |x_0|$. In this case, notice that

$$A_{x_0} = \frac{1}{\omega (B(x_0, 1))} \int_{B(x_0, 1)} \left| \log \frac{|z|}{|x_0|} \right| \omega(z) dz$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\omega (B(x_0, 1))} \int_{B(x_0, 1)} \max \left\{ \log \frac{|x_0| + 1}{|x_0|}, \log \frac{|x_0|}{|x_0| - 1} \right\} \cdot \omega(z) dz$$

$$\leq \max \left\{ \log \frac{|x_0| + 1}{|x_0|}, \log \frac{|x_0|}{|x_0| - 1} \right\} \leq \log 2.$$

Thus $\log |x|$ is in $BMO(\omega)$.

Lemma 5.3.4 Let ω be a doubling weight function. Then, there exists a positive constant C such that for any balls $B_1 = B(x_1, r_1)$, $B_2 = B(x_2, r_2)$, whose intersection is not empty, and $\frac{1}{2}r_2 \leq r_1 \leq 2r_2$, then $\omega(B) \leq C\omega(B_i)$, i = 1, 2. Here, B is the smallest ball which contains both B_1 and B_2 . Moreover, for each function $b \in BMO(\omega)$, we have

$$|b_{B_{1},\omega} - b_{B_{2},\omega}| \le 2C ||b||_{BMO(\omega)}$$

Proof. Since ω has the doubling property, there exists a constant C_1 such that $\omega(B(x,2r)) \leq C_1 \omega(B(x,r))$, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0. Without loss of generality, we assume $r_2 \leq r_1 \leq 2r_2$. Let $B_1 = B(x_1,r_1)$, $B_2 = B(x_2,r_2)$ be two balls, whose intersection is not empty and $r_2 \leq r_1 \leq 2r_2$. Take $x \in B_1 \cap B_2$. Then,

$$\omega(B) \le \omega \left(B(x, 2r_1) \le C_1 \omega \left(B(x, r_1) \right) \le C_1 \omega \left(B(x_1, 2r_1) \right) \le C_1^2 \omega \left(B_1 \right),$$

and

$$\omega(B) \le \omega \left(B(x, 4r_2) \le C_1^2 \omega \left(B(x, r_2) \right) \le C_1^3 \omega \left(B(x_2, r_2) \right).$$

Thus we can choose the constant $C = \max\{C_1^2, C_1^3\}$.

It is clear that

$$|b_{B_1,\omega} - b_{B_2,\omega}| \le |b_{B_1,\omega} - b_{B,\omega}| + |b_{B,\omega} - b_{B_2,\omega}|.$$

Now

$$|b_{B,\omega} - b_{B_1,\omega}| = \left| b_{B,\omega} - \frac{1}{\omega(B_1)} \int_{B_1} b(y)\omega(y)dy \right|$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\omega(B_1)} \int_{B_1} |b(y) - b_{B,\omega}| \,\omega(y)dy \leq \frac{C}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |b(y) - b_{B,\omega}| \,\omega(y)dy \leq C ||b||_{BMO(\omega)}.$$

The left term is estimated in a similar way.

Proof of Theorem 5.3.2. Assume that (ii) holds. Let *B* be any ball centered at the origin, let *f* be any function in $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$, and let *b* be any function in BMO(ω). Then it follows from the Minkowski inequality that

$$\begin{split} K &= \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+\lambda p}} \int_{B} \left|U_{\psi,s}^{b} f(y)\right|^{p} \omega(y) dy\right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+\lambda p}} \int_{B} \left|(b(y) - b\left(s(t)y\right)\right) f\left(s(t)y\right)|^{p} \omega(y) dy\right)^{1/p} \psi(t) dt. \end{split}$$

Applying the following elementary inequality

$$3^{p-1}\left(|x|^{p}+|y|^{p}+|z|^{p}\right) \ge |x+y+z|^{p}, x, y, z \in \mathbb{C}$$

to the right-hand side of the above estimate gives

$$\begin{split} K &\leq C \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+\lambda p}} \int_{B} \left| (b(y) - b_{B,\omega}) f(s(t)y) \right|^{p} \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/p} \psi(t) dt \\ &+ C \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+\lambda p}} \int_{B} \left| \left(b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right) f(s(t)y) \right|^{p} \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/p} \psi(t) dt \\ &+ C \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+\lambda p}} \int_{B} \left| \left(b(s(t)y) - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right) f(s(t)y) \right|^{p} \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/p} \psi(t) dt \\ &:= K_{1} + K_{2} + K_{3}, \end{split}$$

where the constant C depends only on p.

Set $r = \frac{pq}{q-p}$. Let us now estimate the term K_1 . It is clear to see that applying the Hölder inequality with the pair $\left(l = \frac{q}{q-p}, l' = \frac{q}{p}\right)$ and applying Lemma 5.1.1 yield

$$\begin{split} K_{1} &\leq \frac{C}{\omega(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(s(t)y)|^{q} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/q} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |b(y) - b_{B,\omega}|^{r} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r} \psi(t) dt \\ &\leq \frac{C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)}}{\omega(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(s(t)y)|^{q} \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/q} \psi(t) dt \\ &\leq C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+\lambda q}} \int_{B} |f(s(t)y)|^{q} \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/q} \psi(t) dt \\ &\leq C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \|f\|_{\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt. \end{split}$$

Similarly, one can use the same argument above to obtain

$$K_3 \le C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \|f\|_{\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)} \int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt.$$

For the last term K_2 , let us express this term as

$$K_2 = \frac{C}{\omega(B)^{\lambda}} \int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_B \left| f\left(s(t)y\right) \right|^p \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/p} \left| b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \psi(t) dt.$$

Then the Hölder inequality with the pair (q/p, (q/p)') implies that

$$K_{2} \leq \frac{C}{\omega(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} \left| f\left(s(t)y\right) \right|^{q} \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/q} \left| b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \psi(t) dt$$
$$\leq C \left\| f \right\|_{\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} \left| b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \left| s(t) \right|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt$$
$$\leq C \left\| f \right\|_{\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{-(k+1)} \leq |s(t)| \leq 2^{-k}} \left| b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \left| s(t) \right|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt.$$

Observe that for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$|b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega}| \le \sum_{i=0}^{k} |b_{2^{-(i+1)}B,\omega} - b_{2^{-i}B,\omega}| + |b_{2^{-(k+1)}B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega}|.$$

Then it follows from Lemma 5.3.4 that

$$K_{2} \leq C \|f\|_{\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)} \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{-(k+1)} \leq |s(t)| \leq 2^{-k}} (k+2) |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt.$$

So, we obtain

$$K_{2} \leq C \|f\|_{\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)} \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) \left(2 + \log \frac{1}{|s(t)|}\right) dt,$$

which, if combined with the last estimates of K_1 and K_3 above, implies (i).

Conversely, assume that (i) holds. Taking $h(x) = |x|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \in L^{s,\lambda}(\omega)$ for any s > 1, and $b_0 = \log |x| \in BMO(\omega)$ (see Lemma 5.3.3). Then it is easy to see that

$$U_{\psi,s}^{b_0}h = h \int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) \log \frac{1}{|s(t)|} dt.$$

It thus follows from (i) that

$$\int_{0}^{1} |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) \log \frac{1}{|s(t)|} dt < \infty.$$
(5.3.3)

On the other hand, we take $g(x) = |x|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} 1\chi_{B(0,1)}(x)$ and consider the family of functions $b \in BMO(\omega)$ given by $b(x) = 1\chi_{B(0,1)}(x)\operatorname{sgn}(\sin \pi d|x|), d \in \mathbb{N}$. Then one has

$$U_{\psi,s}^{b}g(x) = b(x)|x|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \int_{0}^{1} |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda}\psi(t)dt - |x|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \int_{0}^{1} |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda}\psi(t)\mathrm{sgn}(\sin\pi d|s(t)||x|)dt, |x| < 1.$$

By Riemann-Lebesgue Lemma, one can take d, depending on ψ , so large that

$$|U_{\psi,s}^b g(x)| \ge \frac{1}{2} |x|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt, \frac{1}{2} < |x| < 1.$$

It follows from the above inequality and the boundedness of the operator $U_{\psi,s}^b$ from $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ to $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ that

$$\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \psi(t) dt \le C \|U^b_{\psi,s}\|_{\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega) \to \dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)},\tag{5.3.4}$$

where the constant C depends only on p, q and λ . Finally, combining (5.3.3) and (5.3.4) implies (ii).

Corollary 5.3.5 Let $\omega \in W_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ hold the doubling property, 1 $and <math>-1/q < \lambda < 0$. Assume that $s : [0;1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function such that $0 < |s(t)| \le 1$ a.e. $t \in [0,1]$. Then (iii) and (iv) are equivalent:

(iii) $V_{\psi,s}^b$ is bounded from $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ to $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $b \in BMO(\omega)$;

(iv)
$$\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda+n} \left|\log \frac{2}{|s(t)|}\right| \psi(t) dt < \infty.$$

Remark 5.3.6 One can observe from the proof of Theorem 5.3.2 that the condition (ii) is also necessary for the commutator $U_{\psi,s}^b$ to be bounded on $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ (the case p = q) for all $b \in BMO(\omega)$. However, whether the condition (ii) is sufficient for the boundedness of $U_{\psi,s}^b$ on $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $b \in BMO(\omega)$ is still an interesting open question. Up to now, what we can prove is the following result.

Theorem 5.3.7 Let $\omega \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ hold the doubling property, $1 and <math>-1/p < \lambda < 0$. Assume that $s : [0;1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function such that $0 < |s(t)| \leq 1$ a.e. $t \in [0,1]$. Then (ii) is sufficient for (i') to be true:

(i') $M_{\omega,c}\left(U^b_{\psi,s}(\bullet)\right)$ is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ and on $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $b \in BMO(\omega)$, where $M_{\omega,c}$ is the Hardy-Littlewood central maximal operator with respect to the measure $\omega(x)dx$, that is

$$M_{\omega,c}f(x) = \sup_{B} \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(y)|\omega(y)dy,$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls B centered at the origin and containing x.

(ii)
$$\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \left| \log \frac{2}{|s(t)|} \right| \psi(t) dt < \infty.$$

Proof of Theorem 5.3.7. Assume that (ii) holds. Let *b* be any function in $BMO(\omega)$ and let *f* be any function in $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$. Then for any ball *B* centered at the origin of \mathbb{R}^n , $x \in B$, one has

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} \left| U_{\psi,s}^{b} f(y) \right| \omega(y) dy \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} \int_{0}^{1} \left| (b(y) - b\left(s(t)y\right) \right| f\left(s(t)y\right) \right| \psi(t)\omega(y) dt dy \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{B} \left| (b(y) - b\left(s(t)y\right) \right| f\left(s(t)y\right) \right| \omega(y) dy \psi(t) dt \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{B} \left| (b(y) - b_{B,\omega}) f\left(s(t)y\right) \right| \omega(y) dy \psi(t) dt \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{B} \left| \left(b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right) f\left(s(t)y\right) \right| \omega(y) dy \psi(t) dt \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{B} \left| \left(b(s(t)y) - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right) f\left(s(t)y\right) \right| \omega(y) dy \psi(t) dt \\ &=: J_{1} + J_{2} + J_{3}. \end{split}$$

Choose a fixed number $r \in (1, p)$ and denote r' the conjugate of r (that is, 1/r + 1/r' = 1). Then we will estimate J_1 , J_3 and J_2 as follows.

It follows from the Hölder inequality and Lemma 5.1.1 that

$$J_{1} \leq \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(s(t)y)|^{r} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |b(y) - b_{B,\omega}|^{r'} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r'} \psi(t) dt$$
$$\leq C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(s(t)B)} \int_{s(t)B} |f(y)|^{r} \omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r} \psi(t) dt$$
$$\leq C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} (M_{\omega} f^{r} \,(s(t)x))^{1/r} \,\psi(t) dt,$$

where C is a constant, which depends only on ω and p.

Similarly, applying the Hölder inequality and Lemma 5.1.1 again gives

$$\begin{aligned} J_{3} &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} |f(s(t)y)|^{r} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} \left| b(s(t)y) - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right|^{r'} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r'} \psi(t) dt. \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(s(t)B)} \int_{s(t)B} |f(y)|^{r} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(s(t)B)} \int_{s(t)B} \left| b(y) - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right|^{r'} \,\omega(y) dy \right)^{1/r'} \psi(t) dt \\ &\leq C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} \left(M_{\omega} f^{r} \,(s(t)x) \right)^{1/r} \,\psi(t) dt. \end{aligned}$$

For the remaining term J_2 , we will estimate J_2 as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} J_{2} &= \frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{B} \left| \left(b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right) f\left(s(t)y\right) \right| \omega(y) dy \psi(t) dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} \left| f\left(s(t)y\right) \right| \omega(y) dy \right) \left| b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \psi(t) dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left(M_{\omega} f^{r}(s(t)x) \right)^{1/r} \left| b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \psi(t) dt \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{-(k+1)} \leq s(t) \leq 2^{-k}} \left(M_{\omega} f^{r}(s(t)x) \right)^{1/r} \left| b_{B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \psi(t) dt \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{-(k+1)} \leq s(t) \leq 2^{-k}} \left(M_{\omega} f^{r}(s(t)x) \right)^{1/r} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{k} \left| b_{2^{-(i+1)}B,\omega} - b_{2^{-i}B,\omega} \right| + \left| b_{2^{-(k+1)}B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega} \right| \right) \psi(t) dt. \end{aligned}$$

At this stage, in the light of Lemma 5.3.4, we can observe that $|b_{2^{-(i+1)}B,\omega} - b_{2^{-i}B,\omega}| \leq C ||b||_{BMO(\omega)}$, and $|b_{2^{-(k+1)}B,\omega} - b_{s(t)B,\omega}| \leq C ||b||_{BMO(\omega)}$ as $2^{-(k+1)} \leq s(t) \leq 2^{-k}$. So we obtain

$$J_2 \le C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{-(k+1)} \le s(t) \le 2^{-k}} (M_\omega f^r(s(t)x))^{1/r} (k+2) \psi(t) dt.$$

Then it follows from the inequality above that

$$J_2 \le C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_0^1 \left(M_\omega f^r(s(t)x) \right)^{1/r} \left(2 + \left| \log \frac{1}{|s(t)|} \right| \right) \psi(t) dt.$$

Combining the estimates of J_1, J_2 and J_3 gives the following estimate:

$$\frac{1}{\omega(B)} \int_{B} \left| U_{\psi,s}^{b} f(y) \right| \omega(y) dy \le C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} \left(M_{\omega} f^{r}(s(t)x) \right)^{1/r} \left(2 + \left| \log \frac{1}{|s(t)|} \right| \right) \psi(t) dt.$$

Taking the supremum from this inequality over such all balls B containing x, we gain

$$M_{\omega,c}\left(U_{\psi,s}^{b}f\right)(x) \le C \|b\|_{BMO(\omega)} \int_{0}^{1} \left(M_{\omega}f^{r}(s(t)x)\right)^{1/r} \left(2 + \left|\log\frac{1}{|s(t)|}\right|\right) \psi(t)dt.$$

Therefore, for any balls B, by Minkowski's inequality and the inequality above, it is clear to see that

$$\begin{split} &\left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+p\lambda}}\int_{B}\left(M_{\omega,c}\left(U_{\psi,s}^{b}f\right)(x)\right)^{p}\omega(x)dx\right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq C\|b\|_{BMO(\omega)}\left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+p\lambda}}\int_{B}\left(\int_{0}^{1}\left(M_{\omega}f^{r}(s(t)x)\right)^{1/r}\left(2+\left|\log\frac{1}{|s(t)|}\right|\right)\psi(t)dt\right)^{p}\omega(x)dx\right)^{1/p} \\ &\leq C\|b\|_{BMO(\omega)}\int_{0}^{1}\left(\frac{1}{\omega(B)^{1+p\lambda}}\int_{B}\left(M_{\omega}f^{r}\left(s(t)x\right)\right)^{p/r}\omega(x)dx\right)^{1/p}\psi(t)\left(2+\left|\log\frac{1}{|s(t)|}\right|\right)dt \\ &\leq C\|b\|_{BMO(\omega)}\|f\|_{L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)}\int_{0}^{1}|s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda}\psi(t)\left(2+\left|\log\frac{1}{|s(t)|}\right|\right)dt, \end{split}$$

where the last inequality is deduced from applying Lemma 5.1.5 and the fact that $f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ if and only if $f^r \in L^{p/r,\lambda r}(\omega)$. Thus $M_{\omega,c}\left(U^b_{\psi,s}(\cdot)\right)$ is bounded on $L^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$.

To prove the boundedness of $M_{\omega,c}\left(U_{\psi,s}^{b}(\cdot)\right)$ on $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$, we use the same arguments above and taking the following into account: instead of using the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M_{ω} and Lemma 5.1.5, we employ the Hardy-Littlewood central maximal operator $M_{\omega,c}$ and the following lemma whose proof is similar to that of [86, Theorem 3.1] with slight modifications.

Lemma 5.3.8 Assume that ω has the doubling property, $1 and <math>-1/p < \lambda < 0$. 0. Then the operator $M_{\omega,c}$ is bounded on $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$.

5.4 Higher order commutators on weighted central Morrey spaces

Given a vector $\mathbf{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_k)$, the higher order commutator of the generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operator is defined by

$$U_{\psi,s}^{b}f(x) = \int_{0}^{1} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} \left(b_{j}(x) - b_{j}(s(t)x) \right) \right) f(s(t)x)\psi(t)dt.$$

When k = 0, we understand that $U_{\psi,s}^{\mathbf{b}} = U_{\psi,s}$. When k = 1, $U_{\psi,s}^{\mathbf{b}} = U_{\psi,s}^{\mathbf{b}}$. Similarly, the higher order commutator of the generalized weighted Cesàro operator is defined by

$$V_{\psi,s}^{\mathbf{b}}f(x) = \int_0^1 \left(\prod_{j=1}^k \left(b_j(x) - b_j(s(t)x)\right)\right) f(s(t)x) |s(t)|^n \psi(t) dt.$$

The notation $\mathbf{b} \in BMO(\omega)$ below will mean that all $b_i \in BMO(\omega)$ for $1 \le i \le k$.

Using the same method in the proof of Theorem 5.3.2 as well as induction, we can obtain a similar result for the higher order commutator of the generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operator.

Theorem 5.4.1 Let $\omega \in \mathcal{W}_{\alpha}(\alpha > -n)$ hold the doubling property, 1 $and <math>-1/q < \lambda < 0$. Assume that $s : [0;1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a measurable function such that $0 < |s(t)| \leq 1$ a.e. $t \in [0,1]$. Then (1) and (2) are equivalent:

(1) $U_{\psi,s}^{\boldsymbol{b}}$ is bounded from $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ to $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $\boldsymbol{b} \in BMO(\omega)$;

(2)
$$\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda} \left| \log \frac{2}{|s(t)|} \right|^k \psi(t) dt < \infty$$

Also, (3) and (4) are equivalent:

- (3) $V_{\psi,s}^{\boldsymbol{b}}$ is bounded from $\dot{L}^{q,\lambda}(\omega)$ to $\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\omega)$ for all $\boldsymbol{b} \in BMO(\omega)$;
- (4) $\int_0^1 |s(t)|^{(n+\alpha)\lambda+n} \left|\log \frac{2}{|s(t)|}\right|^k \psi(t) dt < \infty.$

References

- K. F. Andersen, B. Muckenhoupt, Weighted weak type Hardy inequalities with applications to Hilbert transforms and maximal functions, Studia Math., 72 No.1 (1982), 9-26.
- [2] B. T. Anh and J. Li, Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated to operators satisfying bounded H_∞ functional calculus and Davies-Gaffney estimates, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 373 (2011), 485-501. 5, 8, 82, 83
- [3] P. Auscher, On necessary and sufficient conditions for L^p-estimates of Riesz transforms associated to elliptic operators on ℝⁿ and related estimates, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 186 (2007), 1-75. 31, 32, 76
- [4] P. Auscher, T. Coulhon, X. T. Duong and S. Hofmann, *Riesz transform on manifolds and heat kernel regularity*, Ann. Sci. ecole Norm. Sup. 37 (2004), 911-957. 60, 76
- P. Auscher, X. T. Duong and A. McIntosh, Boundedness of Banach space valued singular integral operators and Hardy spaces, Unpublished manuscript, 2005. 2, 31
- [6] P. Auscher, S. Hofmann, M. Lacey, A. McIntosh and Ph. Tchamitchian, The solution of the Kato square root problem for second order elliptic operators on Rⁿ, Ann. of Math. (2) 156 (2002), 633-654. 32, 59
- [7] P. Auscher, J.M. Martell, Weighted norm inequalities, off-diagonal estimates and elliptic operators. Part I: General operator theory and weights, Adv. in Math., 212 (2007), 225-276. 13
- [8] P. Auscher, A. McIntosh and E. Russ, Hardy spaces of differential forms on Riemannian manifolds, J. Geom. Anal. 18 (2008), 192-248. 2
- [9] P. Auscher and E. Russ, Hardy spaces and divergence operators on strongly Lipschitz domains of \mathbb{R}^n , J. Funct. Anal. 201 (2003), 148-184. 2
- [10] P. Auscher and P. Tchamitchian, Square root problem for Divergence operators and related topics, Asterisque 249 (1998), Soc. Math. France. 5, 31, 59
- [11] N. Badr, A. Jiménez-del-Toro and J.M. Martell, Self-improvement of generalized Poincaré inequalities in spaces of homogeneous type, J. Funct. Anal. 260 (2011), no. 11, 3147-3188. 55
- [12] F. Bernicot, Use of Hardy spaces and interpolation, C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris. 346 (2008), 745-748. 2
- [13] F. Bernicot and J.M. Martell, Self-improving properties for abstract Poincaré type inequalities. Available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1107.2260. 55

- [14] F. Bernicot and J. Zhao, Abstract framework for John-Nirenberg inequalities and applications to Hardy spaces, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 11 (2012), no. 3, 475-501. 55
- [15] F. Bernicot and J. Zhao, New abstract Hardy spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 255 (2008), no. 7, 1761-1796. 2
- [16] J.S. Bradley, Hardy inequalites with mixed norms, Canad. Math. Bull. 21 (1978), 405-408.
- [17] T. A. Bui, J. Cao, L. Ky, D. Yang and S. Yang, Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces associated with operators satisfying reinforced off-diagonal estimates, Analysis and Geometry in Metric Spaces, 1 (2012), 69-129. 4
- [18] T. A. Bui and X. T. Duong, Hardy, Regularized BMO spaces and the boundedness of Calderón-Zygmund operators on non-homogeneous spaces, to appear in Journal of Geometric Analysis. 11
- [19] C. Carton-Lebrun and M. Fosset, Moyennes et quotients de Taylor dans BMO, Bull. Soc. Roy. Sci. Liége 53, No. 2 (1984), 85-87. 6
- [20] M. Christ, A T(b) theorem with remarks on analytic capacity and the Cauchy integral, Colloq. Math. LX/LXI(1990), 601-628. 69
- [21] M. Christ and L. Grafakos, Best constants for two non-convolution inequalities, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 123 (1995), 1687-1693. 6, 7
- [22] N. M. Chuong and H. D. Hung, A generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operator, and its commutator on weighted L^p and BMO spaces, arXiv: 1208.5242v1 [math.CA] 26 August 2012. 7, 8, 84
- [23] R. R. Coifman, A real variable characterization of H^p, Studia Mathematica. 51 (1974), 269-274. 16
- [24] R. R. Coifman, Y. Meyer and E. M. Stein, Some new functions and their applications to harmonic analysis, J. Funct. Anal. 62 (1985), 304-335. 1, 33, 34, 60, 61
- [25] R. Coifman and G. Weiss, Extensions of Hardy spaces and their use in analysis, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. Volume 83 (1977), 569-645. 9, 10, 19
- [26] T. Coulhon and X. T. Duong, Riesz transforms for $1 \le p \le 2$, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 351 (1999), 1151-1169. 76
- [27] M. Cowling, I. Doust, A. Mcintosh and A. Yagi, Banach space operators with a bounded H_{∞} functional calculus, J. Austral. Math. Soc. (Series A) **60** (1996), 51-89. 25
- [28] L. Diening, Maximal function on Musielak-Orlicz spaces and generalized Lebesgue spaces, Bull. Sci. Math. 129 (2005), 657-700. 2
- [29] J. Duoandikoetxea, Fourier Analysis, Grad. Stud. math, 29, American Math. Soc., Providence, 2000. 13, 19
- [30] X. T. Duong and J. Li, Hardy spaces associated to operators satisfying bounded H_{∞} functional calculus and Davies-Gaffney estimates, Journal of Functional Analysis, Vol 264 (2013), 1409-1437. 5, 62

- [31] X. T. Duong and E. M. Ouhabaz, Gaussian upper bounds for heat kernels of a class of nondivergence operators, International Conference on Harmonic Analysis and Related Topics (Sydney, 2002), 35–45, Proc. Centre Math. Appl. Austral. Nat. Univ., 41, Austral. Nat. Univ., Canberra, 2003. 5
- [32] X. T. Duong and T. D. Tran, Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces associated to operators satisfying Davies-Gaffney estimates and bounded holomorphic functional calculus, J. Math. Soc. Japan (to appear).
- [33] X. T. Duong, J. Xiao and L. Yan, Old and new Morrey spaces with heat kernel bounds, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 13 (2007), 87-111. 2
- [34] X. T. Duong and L. Yan, Commutators of Riesz transforms of magnetic Schrödinger operators, Manuscripta Math. 127 (2008), no. 2, 219-234. 60
- [35] X. T. Duong and L. Yan, New function spaces of BMO type, the John-Nirenberg inequality, interpolation, and applications, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 58 (2005), 1375-1420. 2
- [36] X. T. Duong and L. Yan, Duality of Hardy and BMO spaces associated with operators with heat kernel bounds, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 18 (2005), 943-973. 2, 3, 39
- [37] D. E. Edmunds, W. D. Evans, Hardy operators, function spaces and embeddings, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. 6
- [38] W. G. Faris, Weak Lebesgue spaces and quantum mechanical binding, Duke Math. J. 43 (1976), 365-373. MR 0425598 (54:13552).
- [39] C. Fefferman and E. M. Stein, H^p spaces of several variables, Acta Math. 129 (1972), 137-193. 1, 14, 15, 23
- [40] G. B. Folland, Real Analysis: Modern Techniques and their applications, Second Edition, John Wiley and Sons (1999). 81
- [41] Z. W. Fu, Z. G. Liu, and S. Z. Lu, Commutators of weighted Hardy operators on \mathbb{R}^n , Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **137**, No.10 (2009), 3319-3328. 7, 8, 83
- [42] Z. W. Fu and S. Z. Lu, Weighted Hardy operators and commutators on Morrey spaces, Front. Math. China 5 (2010), no. 3, 531539. 5, 8, 82, 83
- [43] E. Harboure, O. Salinas and B. Viviani, A look at $BMO_{\varphi}(\omega)$ through Carleson measures, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 13 (2007), 267-284. 2, 34, 60
- [44] G. H. Hardy, J. E. Littlewood, G. Pólya, *Inequalities* (2nd ed.), London/New York: Cambridge University Press, 1952. MR0046395 (13:727e). 6, 82
- [45] S. Hofmann, G. Lu, D. Mitrea, M. Mitrea and L. Yan, Hardy spaces associated to non-negative self-adjoint operators satisfying Davies-Gaffney estimates, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 214 (2011), no. 1007. 2, 5, 60, 62, 67, 69
- [46] S. Hofmann and S. Mayboroda, Hardy and BMO spaces associated to divergence form elliptic operators, Math. Ann. 344 (2009), 37-116. 1, 2, 4, 31, 32, 39, 42, 46, 49, 50, 55, 58, 67, 68, 71
- [47] S. Hofmann and J. M. Martell, L^p bounds for Riesz transforms and square roots associated to second order elliptic operators, Publ. Mat. 47 (2003), 497-515. 32, 60, 76
- [48] S. Janson, Generalizations of Lipschitz spaces and an application to Hardy spaces and bounded mean oscillation, Duke Math. J. 47 (1980), 959-982.

- [49] R. Jiang and D. Yang, New Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated with divergence form elliptic operators, J. Funct. Anal. 258 (2010), 1167-1224. 2, 4, 5, 34, 35, 37, 39, 40, 41, 42, 44, 47, 50, 54, 55, 56, 61
- [50] R. Jiang and D. Yang, Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated with operators satisfying Davies-Gaffney estimates, Commun. Contemp. Math. 13 (2011), 331-373. 2, 5, 61
- [51] R. Jiang, D. Yang and Y. Zhou, Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated with operators, Sci. China Ser. A 52 (2009), 1042-1080. 2
- [52] A. Jiménez-del-Toro and J.M. Martell, Self-improvement of Poincaré type inequalities associated with approximations of the identity and semigroups, Potential Anal. 38 (2013), no. 3, 805-841. 55
- [53] F. John and L. Nirenberg, On functions of bounded mean oscillation, Comm. Pure and Appl. Math. 14 (1961), 415-426. 79
- [54] S. G. Krantz and H. R. Parks, *Geometric Integration Theory*, Birkhäuser (2008). 81
- [55] J. Kuang, Weighted Morrey-Herz Spaces and applications, Applied Mathematics E-Notes, 10 (2010), 159-166.
- [56] L. D. Ky, New Hardy spaces of Musielak-Orlicz type and boundedness of sublinear operators, arXiv: 1103.3757. 27
- [57] R. H. Latter, A characterization of $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in terms of atoms, Studia Mathematica. **62** (1978), 93-101. 17
- [58] Y. Liang, D. Yang and S. Yang, Applications of Orlicz-Hardy spaces associated with operators satisfying Poisson estimates, Sci. China Math. 54 (2011), 2395-2426.
- [59] S. Z. Lu, Four lectures on real H^p spaces, World Scientific, 1995. 15, 18
- [60] F.J. Martín Reyes and P. Ortega, On weighted weak type inequalities for modified Hardy operators, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 126, No.6, 1998.
- [61] A. McIntosh, Operators which have an H_{∞} -calculus, Miniconference on operator theory and partial differential equations, Proc. Centre Math. Analysis, ANU, Canberra, 14(1986), 210-231. 23, 24, 25
- [62] A. McIntosh and A. Nahmod, Heat kernel estimates and functional calculi of -bΔ, Math. Scand. 87 (2000), 287-319. 5
- [63] C. B. Morrey, On the solutions of quasi-linear elliptic partial differential equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 43 (1938), 126-166.
- [64] B. Muckenhoupt, *Hardy inequalities with weights*, Studia Math., 44 (1972), 31-38.
 MR0311856 (47:418).
- [65] B. Muckenhoupt, Weighted norm inequalities for the Hardy maximal function, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 165 (1972), 207-226. 12
- [66] J. Musielak, Orlicz spaces and modular spaces, Lect. Notes Mat., Vol. 1034, Springer Verlag, New York/ Berlin, 1983. 2
- [67] F. Nazarov, S. Treil and A. Volberg, Weak type estimates and Cotlar inequalities for Calderón-Zygmund operators on nonhomogeneous spaces, Int. Math. Res. Let. 9 (1998), 463-487. 11
- [68] L. Qinsheng and L. Pick, The Hardy operator, L_{∞} and BMO, J. London Math. Soc. 48 (1993), 167-177. 6

- [69] E. Russ, The atomic decomposition for tent spaces on spaces of homogeneous type, Asymptotic Geometric Analysis, Harmonic Analysis, and Related Topics, 125-135, Proceedings of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Australian National University, 42, Australian National University, Canberra, 2007. 60, 61
- [70] E. Sawyer, Weighted Lebesgue and Lorentz norm inequalities for the Hardy operator, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 281, No.1 (1984). 6
- [71] A. Sikora, Riesz transform, Gaussian bounds and the method of wave equation, Math. Z., 247 (2004), 643-662. 5
- [72] E. M. Stein, Singular integrals and the differentiability properties of functions, Princeton University Press, Priceton 1970. 6
- [73] E. M. Stein, Harmonic Analysis: Real-Variable Methods, Orthogonality, and Oscillatory Integrals, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N. J., 1993. 1, 6, 79
- [74] E. M. Stein and G. Weiss, On the theory of harmonic functions of several variables.
 I. The theory of H^p-spaces, Acta Math. 103 (1960), 25-62.
- [75] V. D. Stepanov, Weighted norm inequalities of Hardy type for a class of integral operators, J. London Math. Soc. 50, No.2 (1994), 105-120.
- [76] J.-O. Strömberg, Bounded mean oscillation with Orlicz norms and duality of Hardy spaces, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 28 (1979), 511-544.
- [77] J.-O. Strömberg and A. Torchinsky, Weighted Hardy spaces, Lecture notes in mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin/New York, 1989. 12, 13
- [78] C. Tang, Z. Zhai, Generalized Poincaré embeddings and weighted Hardy operator on Q_p^{α,q} spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **371** (2010), 665-676. 7
- [79] C. Tang, R. Zhou, Boundedness of weighted Hardy operator and its applications on Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, Journal of Function Spaces and Applications, Vol. 2012 (2012).
- [80] T. D. Tran, Generalized weighted Hardy-Cesàro operators and their commutators on weighted Morrey spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 412 (2014), no. 2, 1025-1035 8
- [81] T. D. Tran, Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces associated with divergence form elliptic operators without weight assumptions, Nagoya Math. J. (to appear). 4
- [82] B. E. Viviani, An atomic decomposition of the predual of BMO(ρ), Rev. Mat. Iber. 3 (1987), 401-425. 2
- [83] J. Xiao, L^p and BMO bounds of weighted Hardy-Littlewood Averages, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 262 (2001), 660-666. MR1859331 (2003a:47103). 6, 8
- [84] L. Yan, Classes of Hardy spaces associated with operators, duality theorem and applications, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 360 (2008), 4383-4408. 2
- [85] D. Yang and S. Yang, Musielak-Orlicz Hardy spaces associated with operators and their applications, J. Geom. Anal. (2012), DOI: 10.1007/s12220012-9344-y. 4
- [86] Komori Yasuo and Shirai Satoru, Weighted Morrey spaces and a singular integral operator, Math. Nachr. 282 (2009), no. 2, 219231. 80, 91
- [87] K. Yosida, Functional Analysis, Sixth Edition, Spring-Verlag, Berlin, 1978. 25, 40
- [88] F. Zhao, Z. Fu, S. Lu, Sharp bounds for generalized Hardy operators, arXiv: 1106.0455v1 [math.FA], June 2011. 7